
S CH OOL  DI STR I CT OF  C OLB Y   

EDUCATION CENTE R 

DR. STEVEN KOLDEN, SUPERINTENDENT 

505 WEST SPENCE ST. • P.O. BOX 139 • COLBY, WI 54421-0139  

PHONE 715.223.2301 • FAX 715.223.4539 

SKOLDEN@COLBY.K12.WI.US 

 
 
 
 
 
 

FINANCIAL AFFAIRS COMMITTEE MEETING 

 

 
MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 17, 2012 

7:00 PM 

COLBY DISTRICT EDUCATION CENTER 

 
 

OPEN MEETING 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA 

 

1) Review Invoices & Receipts 

 

 

 

 

 

Committee Members Include:   Todd Schmidt, Chair 

                 Eric Elmhorst  

        Seth Pinter  
 



S C H O O L  D I S T R I C T  O F  C O L B Y   

E D U C A T I O N  C E N T E R 

STEVEN KOLDEN, SUPERINTENDENT 

505 West Spence St. • P.O. Box 139 • Colby, WI 54421-0139  

Phone 715.223.2301 • FAX 715.223.4539 

skolden@colby.k12.wi.us 

 

REGULAR SCHOOL BOARD MEETING   

Monday, September 17, 2012 – 7:30 PM   

Colby District Education Center 

MEETING NORMS 

 The Board President will actively monitor our interactions. 

 We will actively listen and not interrupt others. 

A G E N D A: 

1. CALL TO ORDER / ROLL CALL  

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

3. NOTICE OF POSTING 

4. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

5. BOARD COMMENDATIONS 

5.01 –Laurie Hesgard, National School Lunch Week 

6. INFORMATION ITEMS: 

6.01 Correspondence 

6.02 Student Representative’s Report – Nathaniel Underwood 

6.03 Superintendent’s Report – Steve Kolden [Verizon; Ruder Ware 09/12/12; WIAA Officials 

Commendation; Elementary Principal Duties; Race To The Top Federal Grant; Ice Machine in 

Weight Room; HS Study Hall Supervision; Spice Work] 

7. CONSENT AGENDA 

7.01 Minutes from the August 20, 2012 Regular Meeting 

7.02 Requests for Out-of-State Travel (If Any) 

7.03 Approve Board Member Attendance at Meetings Other Than Regular, Special or  

Committee Meetings 

 7.03-1 Ruder Ware – September 26, 2012 

 7.03-2 WASB Fall Regional Meeting – September 27, 2012 

7.04 Approve Board Member Expenses for Travel Outside the District 

 7.04-1 Ruder Ware – Wausau, WI 

 7.04-2 WASB Fall Regional Meeting – Rothschild, WI 

7.05 Staff Resignations/Retirements/Leave Requests 

 7.05-1 Elissa Trautlein, Colby Elementary Special Education Teacher (Effective when a 

suitable replacement is found.) 

7.06 Personnel – Transfers / New Hires 

7.06-1 Barb Soback, Colby Elementary Lunch Server 

7.06-2 Lilia Hernandez, .5 FTE Little Stars ELL Paraprofessional 

8. REGULAR BUSINESS – CONSIDERATION OF: 

8.01 Agenda Items Moved From Consent Agenda 

8.02 Recommendation of Finance Committee 

9. DISCUSSION INFORMATION 

9.01 Consideration of Reports of Board Members’ Attendance at Seminars and Workshops 

9.02 2012-13 Preliminary Budget 

9.03 Neillsville Update 

9.04 ACT Scores 

9.05 Annual Meeting – Agenda Revisions 



 

505 West Spence St. • P.O. Box 139 • Colby, WI 54421-0139  

Phone 715.223.2301 • FAX 715.223.4539 

skolden@colby.k12.wi.us 

10. ACTION INFORMATION 

10.01 Sale of Neillsville Property (May be moved to closed session.)  

10.02 Employee Handbook Revisions  

10.03 First Reading Policy #110 – Educational Philosophy 

10.04 Approve Bid for Replacement of Carpet in Neillsville 

10.05 RTTT Memo of Understanding 

11. CONVENE TO CLOSED SESSION PER WISCONSIN STATUTES 19.85 (1) FOR 

THE PURPOSES OF:   

c) Considering employment, promotion, compensation or performance evaluation data of any 

public employee over which the governmental body has jurisdiction or exercises 

responsibility. 

d) Deliberating or negotiating the purchasing of public properties, the investing of public funds, 

or conducting other specified public business, whenever competitive or bargaining reasons 

require a closed session. 

The Board will consider:   

11.01 Agenda Items Moved From Consent Agenda 

11.02 Sale of Property (if moved from open session) 

11.03 Transportation Contracts 

11.04 Individual Staff Performance 

11.05 Superintendent Evaluation 

11.06 Reconvene in Open Session 

12. THE BOARD WILL RECONVENE IN OPEN SESSION IMMEDIATELY UPON COMPLETING 

THE CLOSED SESSION TO TAKE ACTION, IF NECESSARY, ON SELECTED MATTERS 

DISCUSSED IN CLOSED SESSION. 

13. IDENTIFY ITEMS FOR NEXT AGENDA 

13.01 Schedule Meetings: 

13.01-1 Financial Affairs Committee Meeting – October 15, 2012 @ 7 PM 

13.01-2 Regular Board of Education Meeting – October 15, 2012 @ 7:30 PM 

13.01-3 Facilities and Transportation Committee Meeting – ? 

13.01-4 Personnel Committee Meeting – ? 

13.01-5 Policy and Curriculum Committee Meeting – ? 

13.01-6 Annual Meeting – September 24, 2012 @ 8 PM, HS Theater 

14. ADJOURNMENT 

 















 

 

  REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

BOARD OF EDUCATION – SCHOOL DISTRICT OF COLBY 

MONDAY, AUGUST 20, 2012 

COLBY DISTRICT/EDUCATION CENTER 

 
The Regular School Board Meeting on August 20, 2012, was called to order at 7:35 p.m. at the Colby 

District Education Center by Board President, William Tesmer.  Members present were, Eric Elmhorst, 

Todd Schmidt, Seth Pinter, Dennis Engel and William Tesmer.  Also present were Superintendent Steven 

Kolden and Kristen Seifert.  Donna Krueger and Cheryl Ploeckelman were absent. 

 

The meeting notice was posted according to the requirements of the open meeting law. 

 

Mr. Tesmer recognized Chris Thieme with a plaque for her 49.5 years of service to the Colby School 

District.   

 

The District received a thank you from the William Young, Jr. family. 

 

No student report. 

 

Dr. Kolden reviewed a letter from DPI regarding sequestration and how this will impact the Colby School 

District.  Mr. Kolden then gave an update on the PLC conference staff attended in Minneapolis and a 

book available to the board titled “PLC School Board Fieldbook-Leading with Vision”.   There is an 

upcoming PLC conference available to the board in Cadott on Monday, August 27.  The Board received 

information regarding two upcoming seminars being held by Ruder Ware in Wausau.  Mr. Kolden invited 

the Board to the Welcome Back Inservice for all staff on Wednesday, August 29.   Mr. Kolden reviewed a 

letter received from DPI stating that Colby School District meets the requirements of Part B of IDEA.   

The District received a letter that the Summer Food Service Program Corrective Action Summary was 

received and approved.  

 

Motion by Mr. Engel, seconded by Mr. Elmhorst to approve the Consent Agenda as follows: 

 Move agenda item 7.01; 7.05-1; 7.06-4 to regular business. 

 Board member attendance and payment of expenses at the PLC Presentation at Cadott on August 

27 and Ruder Ware Seminars on September 12 and 26. 

 Resignation of Lori Thieme, Elementary Lunchroom Server 

Resignation of Cody Meyers, Freshman Boys Basketball Coach 

Hire of Aime Long, High School Social Studies Teacher 

 Hire of Keith Pugh, .5 FTE Study Hall Supervisor 

 Hire of Tiffany Bruesewitz, .63 FTE Food Service Secretary 

 Hire of Jimmy Flink, Freshman Football Coach 

Voice vote – Motion carried. 

 

Motion by Mr. Engel, seconded by Mr. Schmidt to approve the minutes of the July 16, 2012 Regular 

Meeting.  Roll call vote – Motion carried 4-0-1; Yes-Mr. Elmhorst, Mr. Schmidt, Mr. Pinter, Mr. Engel, 

No-None, Abstain-Mr. Tesmer. 

 

Motion by Mr. Engel, seconded by Mr. Pinter to accept the resignation of Mary Wussow, Middle School 

Guidance Counselor.  Roll call vote – Motion carried 5-0; Yes-Mr. Elmhorst, Mr. Schmidt, Mr. Pinter, 

Mr. Engel, Mr. Tesmer, No-None, Abstain-None. 

 

Motion by Mr. Schmidt, seconded by Mr. Elmhorst to approve the hire of Melissa Wavrunek, Middle 

School Guidance Counselor.  Voice vote – Motion carried. 



 

 

 

Motion by Mr. Schmidt, seconded by Mr. Pinter to approve the receipts and invoices as presented. Voice 

vote – motion carried. 

Financial Report 

 July Receipts #589006-589043 $ 226,493.47 

 Mid Wisconsin Bank Wires #1412-1435 110,950.25 

 Community Bank Regular Checks #29218-29242 19,096.89 

  Direct Deposit #9046746-9046833 44,212.68 

  Direct Deposit #9046834-9046928 67,862.48 

  Direct Deposit #9046929-9047009 45,873.51 

 Advantage Bank Checks #62990-63209 209,418.58 

 

Mr. Schmidt attended and reported the Clark County Board Meeting was beneficial and they are working 

on organizing an Education Summit for February 2013.   

 

Mr. Kolden reviewed the 2012-13 preliminary budget numbers.  The Finance Committee will meet again 

before the September board meeting to review the budget in greater detail. 

 

Mr. Kolden explained the current process for staffing at Little Stars Preschool and the potential need to 

hire an additional teacher. 

 

Mr. Kolden reviewed with the Board the options for covering the additional .5 FTE high school study hall 

supervisor position. 

 

The Board discussed the Listing Contract with Mike Krohn for the Neillsville property and directed Mr. 

Kolden to pursue other realtor options. 

 

Motion by Mr. Elmhorst, seconded by Mr. Schmidt to approve the second reading of policy #751 to 

eliminate the fees for student transportation within the city limits.  Voice vote – Motion carried. 

 

Motion by Mr. Elmhorst, seconded by Mr. Schmidt to approve the bid from JWC building of $6,926.17 

for materials and labor for the repair of the elementary school gym divider.  Voice vote – Motion carried. 

 

Motion by Mr. Elmhorst, seconded by Mr. Pinter to approve the 66:0301 agreement with Loyal for a 

shared Technology Education Instructor.  Voice vote – Motion carried. 

 

Motion by Mr. Engel, seconded by Mr. Elmhorst to approve the utilization of capital projects funds for 

pool cover expenses.  Voice vote – Motion carried. 

 

Motion by Mr. Engel, seconded by Mr. Schmidt to approve the CEA Master Agreement for 2012-13.  

Roll call vote – Motion carried 5-0; Yes-Mr. Elmhorst, Mr. Schmidt, Mr. Pinter, Mr. Engel, Mr. Tesmer, 

No-None, Abstain-None. 

 

Motion by Mr. Elmhorst, seconded by Mr. Schmidt to approve the milk bid for 2012-13 from Morning 

Glory Dairy.  Voice vote – Motion carried. 

 

Motion by Mr. Elmhorst, seconded by Mr. Schmidt, to convene in closed session per Wisconsin Statutes 

19.85 (1) c) to consider employment, promotion, compensation or performance evaluation data of any 

public employee over which the governmental body has jurisdiction or exercises responsibility.   

Superintendent Evaluation.  Roll call vote – Motion carried 5-0.  Yes-Mr. Elmhorst, Mr. Schmidt, Mr. 

Pinter, Mr. Engel, Mr. Tesmer, No-None, Abstain-None. 

 

Motion by Mr. Engel, seconded by Mr. Elmhorst, to move from closed session and to reconvene in open 

session as previously announced.  Voice vote - motion carried. 

   

 



 

 

Scheduled Board of Education Meetings: 

 Financial Affairs Committee Meeting – September 5, 2012, 7:00 PM - CDEC 

 Financial Affairs Committee Meeting – September 17, 2012 – 7:00 PM CDEC 

 Regular Board of Education Meeting – September 17, 2012 – 7:30 PM CDEC 

 Annual Meeting – September 24, 2012 – 8:00 PM @ HS Theater 

 

Motion by Mr. Engel, seconded by Mr. Elmhorst to adjourn the meeting.  Voice vote - motion carried.  

Meeting adjourned at 9:34 PM. 

 

Respectfully Submitted: 

 

 

 

 

Todd Schmidt, Clerk                                                                      Kristen Seifert, Reporting Secretary 

 

 

 

 

 

 



























































































SCHOOL DISTRICT OF COLBY  

BUDGET HEARING AND ANNUAL MEETING 

Monday, September 24, 2012 – 8:00 PM 

Colby High School Theater  

A G E N D A 
 

A. Budget Hearing 
1. Call to Order & Introductions – Mr. William Tesmer, President, Board of Education 

2. Pledge of Allegiance  
3. State of the District -  Steve Kolden, Superintendent 

4. 2011-2012 Treasurer’s Report – Mr. Eric Elmhorst, Treasurer, Board of Education 

5. Presentation of Proposed 2012-2013 Budget– Mr. Eric Elmhorst, Treasurer, Board of Education 

6. Discussion and Questions on Proposed Budget 

7. Motion to adjourn Budget Hearing 

 

B. Annual Meeting 
1. Call to Order  – Mr. William Tesmer, President, Board of Education 

2. Appointment of Recording Secretary 

3. Election of Chairperson 

4. Reading of Minutes of September 26, 2011 Annual Meeting 
Reading of Minutes can be waived upon passage of a motion to that effect.  A motion is needed to waive the 

oral reading of the minutes and accept the Minutes of the September 26, 2011 Annual Meeting as presented 

5. Resolution A -- Adoption of the Tax Levy 
In accordance with Wisconsin Statute 120.12 (3) it is resolved that the Board of Education of the School 

District of Colby adopt a tax levy for the 2012-2013 school year in the amount of $2,677,368.00 which calls 

for an estimated tax levy mill rate of 8.96 mills ($8.96 per $1000 of equalized property value).   

A motion is needed to adopt this projected tax levy, understanding that “On or before, November 1 the 

school board shall determine the amount necessary to be raised to operate and maintain the schools of the 

school district if the annual meeting has not voted a tax sufficient for such purposes for the school year.”  

Wisconsin Statute 120.12(3) (a) 

6. Resolution B – Set Salary of School Board Members:   
It is resolved that the salary for School District of Colby Board of Education members be set at $-- per 

meeting per member and that the President, Vice-President, Clerk and Treasurer will receive an additional $-

-- per year.  Currently Board members earn $50 per meeting and the President, Clerk, and Treasurer receive 

an additional $100 per year.  A motion is needed to establish the salaries of the Board. 

7. Resolution C – Reimburse Board Members’ Expenses:   
It is resolved that the School District of Colby Electors authorize the payment of actual and necessary 

expenses of a school board member, as approved by a majority Board, when traveling outside of the district 

in the performance of duties in accordance with district policies.  A motion is needed to reimburse board 

members’ travel expenses. 

8. Resolution D – Provide Insurance Coverage for Pupils:   
In accordance with Wisconsin Statute 120.13 (2) (a) it is resolved that the Board of Education provide 

accident insurance covering pupils in the school district. A motion is needed to provide for this insurance. 

9. Resolution E – Dispose of Surplus Property:   
It is resolved that the School District of Colby is authorized to sell or lease used and/or surplus real estate, 

property, equipment, furniture or supplies no longer needed for school purposes.  A motion is needed to 

authorize the lease or sale of surplus property, equipment and materials. 

10. Resolution F – Establish the Date and Time for Next Year’s Annual Meeting:   
It is resolved that the School District of Colby authorize the Board of Education to determine its next Annual 

Meeting during July of 2013.  A motion is needed to set the date of next year’s Annual Meeting. 

11. Other Business 

12. Adjournment  

  

























 

Colby School District

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 
Updated 9/17/2012 



Colby School District Employee Handbook  Page 1 

 Employee Acknowledgment 

To be signed and returned to Kristen Seifert at the Colby District Education Center. 

I hereby acknowledge that it is my responsibility to access the Colby School District Employee 

Handbook online.  My signature below indicates that I agree to read the Handbook and abide by the 

standards, policies and procedures defined or referenced in this document.  It is also important to know 

that additional regulations, policies and laws are in the District Board Policies Manual and in the 

District’s Administrative Procedures Handbook. The Employee Handbook and the Board Policies 

Manual can be located throughout the District in school libraries, in various supervisors’ offices, and on 

the District’s website at www.colby.k12.wi.us.  The Employee Handbook, Board Policies Manual, and 

Administrative Procedures can be found under the heading “policies.”  The information in this Handbook 

is subject to change. I understand that changes in District policies may supersede, modify or eliminate the 

information summarized in this Handbook. As the District provides updated policy information, I accept 

responsibility for reading and abiding by the changes. I understand that this Handbook does not 

constitute an employment contract or alter my status as an at-will employee unless specifically addressed 

for those employees covered by Part II(teachers), Part III(support staff) or Part 

IV(administration/executive support staff, supervisory staff, specialists). I understand that nothing in this 

Handbook is intended to confer a property interest in my continued employment with the District beyond 

the term of my current contract (if any).   I understand that I have an obligation to inform my supervisor 

of any changes in my personal information, such as phone number, address, etc.   I also accept 

responsibility for contacting my supervisor if I have any questions, concerns or need further explanation. 

 My signature on this form is acknowledgment that I agree that I am legally responsible for any fines or 

fees charged to the school District incurred by me (an example may be a traffic citation, e.g. a parking 

ticket, received as a result of my operation of a District motor vehicle) or reduction in salary for breach 

of contract.  If any contractual relationship between the District and an employee (or group of 

employees) conflicts with any provision of this Handbook, the contract shall govern with respect to that 

issue. 

 

 

 

            

Printed Name      Signature 

 

 

            

Position     Date  

 

 

 

 

Colby School District will maintain this page in the employee’s personnel file.  After the employee 

ceases employment with the District, the District will maintain this record pursuant to its records 

retention schedule. 

http://www.colby.k12.wi.us/


Colby School District Employee Handbook  Page 2 

Table of Contents 

Contents 

Table of Contents ...........................................................................................................................2 

Mission Statement ........................................................................................................................12 

District Contact Information ......................................................................................................13 

District Emergency Procedures ..................................................................................................14 

District Building Office Numbers ...............................................................................................15 

District Chain of Command ........................................................................................................16 

District Academic Calendar ........................................................................................................17 

PART I – PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO ALL EMPLOYEES ........................................18 

SECTION 1. PREAMBLE AND DEFINITIONS ........................................................19 

1.01 About this Handbook .............................................................................................19 

1.02 Definitions..............................................................................................................19 

1.03 General Personnel Policies ....................................................................................20 

SECTION 2. EMPLOYMENT LAW ...........................................................................20 

2.01 Employment of Minors ..........................................................................................20 

2.02 Equal Opportunity ..................................................................................................20 

2.03 Equal Opportunity Complaints ..............................................................................20 

2.04 Fair Labor Standards Act .......................................................................................21 

2.05 Family and Medical Leave Act ..............................................................................21 

2.06 Immigration Law Compliance ...............................................................................21 

2.07 Harassment and Bullying .......................................................................................21 

SECTION 3. GENERAL EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES AND 

EXPECTATIONS ....................................................................................22 

3.01 District Expectations ..............................................................................................22 

3.02 Accident/Incident Reports ......................................................................................22 

3.03 Attendance .............................................................................................................23 

3.04 Bulletin Boards ......................................................................................................23 

3.05 Child Abuse Reporting ..........................................................................................23 

3.06 Communications ....................................................................................................23 

3.07 Confidentiality .......................................................................................................26 

3.08 Conflict of Interest .................................................................................................26 

3.09 Contracts and Conflict of Interest ..........................................................................26 

3.10 Copyright ...............................................................................................................27 

file://csd-fs/users$/district/kseifert/Employee%20Handbook/2011%20Employee%20Handbook/2011-12%20Employee%20Handbook%20FINAL%20April%202012%20changes.doc%23_Toc335313605


Colby School District Employee Handbook  Page 3 

3.11 Criminal Background Checks ................................................................................27 

3.12 Criminal Background Checks/Charges/Convictions for Active Employees 

- Obligation to Report Criminal Record ................................................................27 

3.13 District Property .....................................................................................................28 

3.14 Drug-, Alcohol-, and Tobacco-Free Workplace ....................................................28 

3.15 Employee Identification Badges ............................................................................29 

3.16 False Reports ..........................................................................................................29 

3.17 Financial Controls and Oversight ..........................................................................29 

3.18 Fraud and Financial Impropriety ............................................................................29 

3.19 Gambling ................................................................................................................30 

3.20 Gifts and Sale of Goods and Services ....................................................................30 

3.21 Honesty ..................................................................................................................31 

3.22 Investigations .........................................................................................................31 

3.23 Licensure/Certification ...........................................................................................31 

3.24 Nepotism ................................................................................................................31 

3.25 Operators of District Vehicles, Mobile Equipment and Persons Who 

Receive Travel Reimbursement .............................................................................32 

3.26 Outside Employment..............................................................................................32 

3.27 Personal Appearance/Staff Dress Code .................................................................32 

3.28 Personal Property ...................................................................................................33 

3.29 Work Spaces, Including Desks, Lockers, etc. ........................................................33 

3.30 Personnel Files .......................................................................................................33 

3.31 Personnel – Student Relations ...............................................................................33 

3.32 Physical Examination .............................................................................................33 

3.33 Political Activity ....................................................................................................34 

3.34 Position Descriptions .............................................................................................34 

3.35 Severance from Employment .................................................................................34 

3.36 Solicitations ...........................................................................................................35 

3.37 Student Code of Conduct and Handbook ...............................................................35 

3.38 Teamwork ..............................................................................................................35 

3.39 Wellness .................................................................................................................35 

3.40 Employee (Whistleblower) Protection ...................................................................35 

3.41 Work Made for Hire ...............................................................................................36 

3.42 Workplace Safety ...................................................................................................36 

3.43 Violence in the Workplace .....................................................................................37 



Colby School District Employee Handbook  Page 4 

3.44 Legal Custodian of Records ...................................................................................38 

3.45 Breastfeeding .........................................................................................................38 

SECTION 4. MANAGEMENT RIGHTS .....................................................................38 

4.01 Delineation of Rights .............................................................................................38 

4.02 Sole Basis ...............................................................................................................39 

SECTION 5. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE .................................................................39 

5.01 Purpose ...................................................................................................................39 

5.02 Definitions..............................................................................................................39 

5.03 Time Limits ............................................................................................................40 

5.04 Grievance Procedure ..............................................................................................40 

5.05 Grievances Filed by the District Administrator .....................................................41 

5.06 Grievant's Right to Representation ........................................................................41 

5.07 Consolidation of Grievances ..................................................................................41 

SECTION 6. PAY PERIODS .........................................................................................41 

6.01 Annualized Payroll Cycle ......................................................................................41 

6.02 Payroll Dates ..........................................................................................................41 

6.03 Direct Deposit Payment Method ............................................................................41 

6.04 Definitions for Payroll Purposes Only ...................................................................42 

6.05 Salary Deferrals –Tax Sheltered Annuities (TSA) .................................................42 

SECTION 7. COMPENSATION AND EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT 

APPLICABLE TO ALL DISTRICT EMPLOYEES ...........................43 

7.01 Mileage Reimbursement ........................................................................................43 

SECTION 8. WORKER’S COMPENSATION ...........................................................43 

8.01 Worker's Compensation Coverage and Reporting Responsibilities ......................43 

8.02 Benefits While on Worker's Compensation ...........................................................43 

8.03 Injuries Not Covered by Worker’s Compensation .................................................44 

SECTION 9. SICK LEAVE ...........................................................................................44 

9.01 Sick Leave Earned .................................................................................................44 

9.02 Sick Leave Use .......................................................................................................44 

9.03 Sick Leave Accumulation ......................................................................................44 

9.04 Pay for Unused Sick Leave ....................................................................................45 

9.05 Sick Leave and Long-term Disability ....................................................................45 

9.06 Reporting Procedure - Doctor's Certificate ............................................................45 

9.07 Holidays during Sick Leave ...................................................................................45 

9.08 Sick Leave Listing..................................................................................................45 



Colby School District Employee Handbook  Page 5 

9.09 Accessing Employee Emergency Sick Leave Pool ................................................45 

SECTION 10. JURY DUTY LEAVES............................................................................46 

10.01 Jury Duty Leave .....................................................................................................46 

10.02 Employee Notice ....................................................................................................46 

10.03 Payment for Time Out on Jury Duty ......................................................................46 

SECTION 11. BEREAVEMENT LEAVE .....................................................................46 

11.01 Bereavement/Funeral Leave for a Death in the Immediate Family .......................46 

11.02 Bereavement/Funeral Leave for a Death of an Individual Outside of the 

Immediate Family ..................................................................................................47 

11.03 Additional Bereavement Leave ..............................................................................47 

11.04 Bereavement Leave Increments .............................................................................47 

SECTION 12. PERSONAL LEAVE ...............................................................................47 

12.01 Personal Days Provided .........................................................................................47 

12.02 Reasons for Personal Leave ...................................................................................47 

12.03 Personal Leave Day Restrictions ...........................................................................47 

12.04 Approval of Personal Leave and the Total Number of Employees on 

Personal Leave .......................................................................................................47 

12.05 Part-time Employees ..............................................................................................47 

12.06 Personal Leave Increments ....................................................................................47 

SECTION 13. UNIFORMED SERVICES LEAVE .......................................................48 

13.01 Uniformed Services Leave of Absence ..................................................................48 

13.02 Seniority/Length of Service during Uniformed Services Leave ............................48 

13.03 Request for Uniformed Services Leave .................................................................48 

SECTION 14. UNPAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE .........................................................48 

14.01 Medical Leave ........................................................................................................48 

14.02 Child Rearing Leave ..............................................................................................49 

14.03 Unpaid Leave of Absence – For Other than Medical and Child Rearing 

Reasons ..................................................................................................................50 

SECTION 15. BENEFITS APPLICABLE TO ALL EMPLOYEES ...........................50 

15.01 Cafeteria Plan/Flexible Spending Account ............................................................50 

15.02 Health/Dental Insurance .........................................................................................51 

15.03 Alternate Benefit Plan [ABP] in Lieu of Health Insurance ....................................51 

15.04 Liability Insurance..................................................................................................51 

15.05 Long-Term Disability .............................................................................................52 

15.06 COBRA Law Continuation of District Health Plan Participation .........................52 

SECTION 16. WORK STOPPAGE ................................................................................53 



Colby School District Employee Handbook  Page 6 

SECTION 17. CONFORMITY TO LAW ......................................................................53 

PART II – PROFESSIONAL/EXEMPT  NON-SUPERVISORY SALARIED 

EMPLOYEES (TEACHERS) .........................................................................................54 

Professional/Exempt Non-Supervisory Employees (Salaried) Letter of Appointment .........55 

Extended Hours / Summer School / Community Education Letter of Appointment ............56 

SECTION 1. DISCIPLINE, TERMINATION AND NONRENEWAL ....................57 

1.01 Standard for Nonrenewal for Teachers ..................................................................57 

1.02 Standard for Discipline and Termination ...............................................................57 

1.03 Representation ........................................................................................................57 

1.04 Disciplinary Materials ............................................................................................57 

1.05 Termination of Employment ..................................................................................57 

SECTION 2. PROFESSIONAL HOURS/WORKDAY ..............................................57 

2.01 Letter of Appointment ............................................................................................57 

2.02 Normal Hours of Work ..........................................................................................58 

2.03 Administratively Called Meetings .........................................................................58 

2.04 Attendance at School Events .................................................................................58 

2.05 Consultation with Parents ......................................................................................58 

2.06 Flexible Scheduling during Workweek..................................................................58 

2.07 Emergency School Closures ..................................................................................59 

2.08 School Calendar .....................................................................................................59 

SECTION 3. PROFESSIONAL GROWTH .................................................................59 

3.01 Requirement to Remain Current ............................................................................59 

3.02 Provisions for Graduate Study ...............................................................................59 

SECTION 4. TEACHER SUPERVISION AND EVALUATION ..............................60 

4.01 General Provisions .................................................................................................60 

4.02 Evaluators ..............................................................................................................60 

4.03 Evaluation Process – Conditions for All Employees .............................................60 

SECTION 5. TEACHER ASSIGNMENTS, VACANCIES AND 

TRANSFERS ............................................................................................61 

5.01 Teacher Assignments, Vacancies and Transfers ....................................................61 

5.02 Employee Resignations ..........................................................................................62 

5.03 Teacher Absence and Substitutes ...........................................................................63 

5.04 Overload Assignments ...........................................................................................63 

5.05 Extended Contracts ................................................................................................63 

5.06 Job Sharing.............................................................................................................63 

file://csd-fs/users$/district/kseifert/Employee%20Handbook/2011%20Employee%20Handbook/2011-12%20Employee%20Handbook%20FINAL%20April%202012%20changes.doc%23_Toc335313730
file://csd-fs/users$/district/kseifert/Employee%20Handbook/2011%20Employee%20Handbook/2011-12%20Employee%20Handbook%20FINAL%20April%202012%20changes.doc%23_Toc335313730


Colby School District Employee Handbook  Page 7 

SECTION 6. REDUCTION IN FORCE, POSITIONS & HOURS ...........................64 

6.01 Reasons for Reduction in Force .............................................................................64 

6.02 Notice of Reduction ...............................................................................................64 

6.03 Selection for Reduction – Steps .............................................................................64 

6.04 Reduction in Hours Resulting in Nonrenewal .......................................................65 

6.05 Reemployment Process ..........................................................................................65 

6.06 Termination of Reemployment Opportunities .......................................................65 

6.07 Insurance Benefits Following Nonrenewal ............................................................65 

6.08 Accrued Benefits during Reemployment Period ....................................................66 

6.09 Furloughs ...............................................................................................................66 

6.10 In-Service and Other Training ...............................................................................66 

SECTION 7. PROFESSIONAL COMPENSATION ..................................................66 

7.01 Curriculum Planning Projects and Other Projects within the Scope of 

Employment ...........................................................................................................66 

7.02 National Board Certification ..................................................................................66 

7.03 Wisconsin Retirement System (WRS) Contributions ............................................66 

SECTION 8. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS .....................................................67 

8.01 Voluntary Early Retirement Benefit Program ........................................................67 

PART III – NON-EXEMPT HOURLY EMPLOYEES (SUPPORT STAFF) .......................69 

Non-Exempt Employees (Hourly) Letter of Appointment .......................................................70 

SECTION 1. DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE .........................................................71 

1.01 Length of Probationary Period ...............................................................................71 

1.02 Standard for Discipline and Termination ...............................................................71 

1.03 Benefits during Probation ......................................................................................71 

1.04 Representation ........................................................................................................71 

1.05 Disciplinary Materials ............................................................................................71 

SECTION 2. HOURS OF WORK AND WORK SCHEDULE ..................................71 

2.01 Letter of Appointment ............................................................................................71 

2.02 Regular Workday and Starting and Ending Times ................................................72 

2.03 Regular Work Week ..............................................................................................72 

2.04 Part-time Employees ..............................................................................................72 

2.05 Additional Hours and Overtime - Approval and Assignment ................................72 

2.06 Lunch Period ..........................................................................................................72 

2.07 Breaks ....................................................................................................................72 

2.08 Time Cards or other Form of Electronic Tracking of Hours Worked ....................73 

file://csd-fs/users$/district/kseifert/Employee%20Handbook/2011%20Employee%20Handbook/2011-12%20Employee%20Handbook%20FINAL%20April%202012%20changes.doc%23_Toc335313779


Colby School District Employee Handbook  Page 8 

2.09 Emergency School Closings ..................................................................................73 

2.10 Emergency School Closing Employee Options if the Day/Time is Not 

Made Up .................................................................................................................73 

2.11 Flexible Schedule ...................................................................................................73 

2.12 Call-In Pay .............................................................................................................73 

2.13 Attendance at Meetings ..........................................................................................74 

SECTION 3. REDUCTION IN FORCE, POSITIONS & HOURS ...........................74 

3.01 Reasons for Reduction in Force Layoff .................................................................74 

3.02 Layoff Notice of Reduction ...................................................................................74 

3.03 Selection for Reduction – Steps .............................................................................74 

3.04 Reduction in Hours ................................................................................................75 

3.05 Reemployment Recall/Rehire Process Period ........................................................75 

3.06 Reemployment Recall Procedure ...........................................................................75 

3.07 Termination of Reemployment Recall Options .....................................................75 

3.08 Insurance Benefits during Layoff ...........................................................................75 

3.09 Accrued Benefits during Layoff .............................................................................76 

3.10 Other Employment during Layoff ..........................................................................76 

3.11 Furloughs ...............................................................................................................76 

SECTION 4. ASSIGNMENTS, VACANCIES AND TRANSFERS ..........................76 

4.01 Determination of Assignment ................................................................................76 

4.02 Job Posting .............................................................................................................76 

4.03 Interviews ...............................................................................................................76 

4.04 Selection Process ...................................................................................................76 

4.05 District Ability to Select the Most Qualified Applicant ........................................76 

4.06 District Ability to Determine Job Description .......................................................76 

4.07 Trial Period ............................................................................................................77 

4.08 Involuntary Transfers .............................................................................................77 

SECTION 5. PAID VACATION ...................................................................................77 

5.01 Notice .....................................................................................................................77 

5.02 Calendar Year (two hundred and sixty (260) scheduled work days) Full-

Time and Part-Time Employees ............................................................................77 

5.03 Scheduling of Vacation ..........................................................................................77 

5.04 Payment upon Termination/Transfer to a Position Not Eligible for 

Vacation .................................................................................................................78 

5.05 Holidays during Vacation ......................................................................................78 

SECTION 6. HOLIDAYS ..............................................................................................78 



Colby School District Employee Handbook  Page 9 

6.01 Holidays Defined ...................................................................................................78 

6.02 Holidays Falling on Weekends ..............................................................................78 

6.03 Holidays Falling on Student Contact Days ............................................................79 

6.04 Holidays during Vacation ......................................................................................79 

6.05 Eligibility for Holiday ............................................................................................79 

SECTION 7. WAGE COMPENSATION AND EXPENSES .....................................79 

7.01 Wage Schedule .......................................................................................................79 

7.02 New Employee Wage Schedule Placement ...........................................................79 

7.03 Support Staff Wage Adjustments ...........................................................................79 

7.04 Food Service Personnel – Extra Duty Pay .............................................................80 

7.05 Out-of-Classification Pay .......................................................................................80 

7.06 Rate of Pay upon Promotion ..................................................................................80 

7.07 Retirement Contributions .......................................................................................80 

7.08 Uniforms, Protective Clothing and Tools ..............................................................80 

7.09 Expenses ................................................................................................................81 

7.10 Substitutes for Teachers .........................................................................................81 

SECTION 8. JOB RELATED TRAINING AND LICENSURE ................................82 

8.01 In-Service Training ................................................................................................82 

8.02 License Renewal Reimbursement for Special Education Assistants .....................82 

SECTION 9. EMPLOYEE EVALUATIONS ..............................................................82 

9.01 Evaluation ..............................................................................................................82 

9.02 Procedures and Instruments ...................................................................................82 

9.03 Frequency ...............................................................................................................82 

9.04 Receipt of Evaluation .............................................................................................82 

9.05 Comments, Disputes ..............................................................................................82 

9.06 Evaluators ..............................................................................................................82 

SECTION 10. RESIGNATION FROM EMPLOYMENT ...........................................82 

10.01 Notice of Termination of Employment ..................................................................82 

PART IV – EXEMPT EXECUTIVE SUPPORT, SPECIALISTS, SUPERVISORY 

AND ADMINISTRATIVE EMPLOYEES ....................................................................83 

Exempt Executive, Specialists, Supervisory Employees (Salaried) Letter of 

Appointment .....................................................................................................................84 

SECTION 1. DISCIPLINE, TERMINATION AND NONRENEWAL ....................85 

1.01 Standard for Discipline and Termination ...............................................................85 

1.02 Disciplinary Materials ............................................................................................85 

file://csd-fs/users$/district/kseifert/Employee%20Handbook/2011%20Employee%20Handbook/2011-12%20Employee%20Handbook%20FINAL%20April%202012%20changes.doc%23_Toc335313857
file://csd-fs/users$/district/kseifert/Employee%20Handbook/2011%20Employee%20Handbook/2011-12%20Employee%20Handbook%20FINAL%20April%202012%20changes.doc%23_Toc335313857


Colby School District Employee Handbook  Page 10 

SECTION 2. JOB RESPONSIBILITIES .....................................................................85 

2.01 Executive Staff License or Certificate ...................................................................85 

2.02 Job Description ......................................................................................................85 

SECTION 3. WORK SCHEDULES .............................................................................85 

3.01 Work Schedules for Executive Staff ......................................................................85 

SECTION 4. PROFESSIONAL GROWTH .................................................................85 

4.01 Requirement to Remain Current ............................................................................85 

SECTION 5. EXECUTIVE STAFF EVALUATION ..................................................85 

5.01 General Provisions .................................................................................................85 

5.02 Evaluation Frequency.............................................................................................85 

5.03 Evaluators ..............................................................................................................86 

SECTION 6. PROFESSIONAL COMPENSATION ..................................................86 

6.01 Professional Compensation ....................................................................................86 

SECTION 7. PAID VACATION ...................................................................................86 

7.01 Notice .....................................................................................................................86 

7.02 Calendar Year (two hundred and sixty (260) scheduled work days) Full-

Time and Part-Time Employees ............................................................................86 

7.03 Vacation Accumulation .........................................................................................86 

7.04 Scheduling of Vacation ..........................................................................................86 

7.05 Payment upon Termination/Transfer to a Position Not Eligible for 

Vacation .................................................................................................................87 

7.06 Holidays during Vacation ......................................................................................87 

SECTION 8. HOLIDAYS ..............................................................................................87 

8.01 Holidays Defined ...................................................................................................87 

8.02 Holidays Falling on Weekends ..............................................................................87 

8.03 Retirement Contributions .......................................................................................87 

SECTION 9. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS .....................................................87 

9.01 Voluntary Early Retirement Benefit Program ........................................................87 

PART V – CO-CURRICULAR EMPLOYEES ........................................................................89 

Personnel Letter of Appointment ...............................................................................................90 

SECTION 1. ATHLETIC AND ACTIVITY ASSIGNMENTS ..................................91 

1.01 Letter of Appointment ............................................................................................91 

1.02 Payments ................................................................................................................91 

1.03 Work Schedule .......................................................................................................91 

1.04 Evaluation of Extra-Curricular Appointments .......................................................91 

file://csd-fs/users$/district/kseifert/Employee%20Handbook/2011%20Employee%20Handbook/2011-12%20Employee%20Handbook%20FINAL%20April%202012%20changes.doc%23_Toc335313888


Colby School District Employee Handbook  Page 11 

1.05 Volunteers ..............................................................................................................91 

1.06 Extra-Curricular Pay Schedule ...............................................................................92 

PART VI – SUBSTITUTE EMPLOYEES ................................................................................93 

SECTION 1. ALL SUBSTITUTE EMPLOYEES .......................................................94 

1.01 Pre-Employment Requirements .............................................................................94 

SECTION 2. SUBSTITUTE TEACHERS ...................................................................94 

2.01 Licensure and/or Permit .........................................................................................94 

2.02 Training and Evaluation .........................................................................................94 

2.03 Assignment and Professional Responsibilities ......................................................94 

2.04 Compensation ........................................................................................................95 

2.05 Dismissal/Removal from Substitute List ...............................................................95 

2.06 Miscellaneous Provisions.......................................................................................95 

SECTION 3. SUPPORT STAFF SUBSTITUTES .......................................................96 

3.01 Licensure and/or Permit .........................................................................................96 

3.02 Training and Evaluation .........................................................................................96 

3.03 Assignment and Professional Responsibilities ......................................................96 

3.04 Compensation ........................................................................................................96 

3.05 Dismissal/Removal from Substitute List ...............................................................96 

3.06 Miscellaneous Provisions.......................................................................................96 

APPENDIX ...................................................................................................................................97 

Seasonal Employee Wage Schedule ............................................................................................97 

Agreement to Accept Compensatory Time Off  in Lieu of Overtime Pay ..............................98 

Employment Posters and Related Information .........................................................................99 

Employee Rights and Responsibilities .....................................................................................101 

2012-13 2011-12 Insurance Contributions & Deductions ......................................................102 

WEA Dental Insurance Summary of Benefits .........................................................................103 

Security Health Plan Health Insurance Summary of Benefits ..............................................105 

Wage Schedule ...........................................................................................................................110 

Support Staff Compensation Plan Adjustment .......................................................................111 

Support Personnel – Additional Training Record ..................................................................113 

Extra-curricular Pay Schedule .................................................................................................115 

Teacher Substitute Pay Schedule .............................................................................................118 

Support Staff Substitute Pay Schedule ....................................................................................119 

 

file://csd-fs/users$/district/kseifert/Employee%20Handbook/2011%20Employee%20Handbook/2011-12%20Employee%20Handbook%20FINAL%20April%202012%20changes.doc%23_Toc335313897


 

  
Colby School District Employee Handbook Page 12 

Mission Statement 
 

 

 

 

Literacy and communication skills for lifelong personal growth. 

Express care for the community as productive local, state, 

national and world citizens. 

Actively collaborate with others toward common goals. 

Realize the joy and power of creative expression. 

Nurture tolerance and appreciation of diversity in being fair-

minded toward other persons and cultures. 

Integrity in all personal and interpersonal decisions. 

New knowledge and data and utilize technologies for effective 

problem-solving. 

Generate personal commitment for service to ideals and other 

people. 

The mission of the School District of Colby is  

L*E*A*R*N*I*N*G  

So that students: 

Develop 

Exhibit 

Synthesize 



 

  
Colby School District Employee Handbook Page 13 

 

District Contact Information 

FOR INFORMATION ON: CONTACT: 

Accident Reports 

 Employee Sue Gosse (Ext. 3) 

 Student Building Secretary 

Accounts Payable & Purchase Orders Edith Raatz (Ext. 5) 

Annuities Sue Gosse (Ext. 3) 

Board of Education – Agenda/Minutes Kristen Seifert (Ext. 2) 

Community Education Kristen Seifert (Ext. 2) 

Course Approval Request (Teachers) Steve Kolden (Ext. 1) 

Curriculum Marcia Diedrich (CHS-Ext. 123) 

District Technology Specialist Jesse Meddaugh (CHS-Ext. 155) 

Employee Handbook Kristen Seifert (Ext. 2) 

Employment/Interviews Kristen Seifert (Ext. 2) 

ERMA/Payroll/Time Off Sue Gosse (Ext. 3) 

Expense Vouchers and Mileage Edith Raatz (Ext. 5) 

Flexible Spending Plan Sue Gosse (Ext. 3) 

Free and Reduced Meal Applications Tiffany Bruesewitz (323) 

Insurance 

 Dental, Health, Disability, AFLAC Sue Gosse (Ext. 3) 

 Student Building Secretary 

Leaves: (Paid) Vacation, Sick, FMLA, Etc. Sue Gosse (Ext. 3) 

Licenses Kristen Seifert (Ext. 2) 

Long-term Disability Claims Sue Gosse (Ext. 3) 

Notary Public Kristen Seifert (Ext. 2) 

Payroll Sue Gosse (Ext. 3) 

Personnel File Kristen Seifert (Ext. 2) 

Policies & Executive Assistant to District Administrator Kristen Seifert (Ext. 2) 

Professional Registration Fees/Expenses Edith Raatz (Ext. 5) 

Psychologist Sam Penry (CE-Ext. 328) 

Salary/Contracts Kristen Seifert (Ext. 2) 

Special Education  Sam Penry (CE -Ext. 328) 

Student Services Sam Penry (CE-Ext. 328) 

Substitutes Sue Gosse (Ext. 3) 

Summer School Jim Hagen (CMS-Ext. 225) 

Superintendent Steve Kolden (Ext. 1) 

Transcripts Kristen Seifert (Ext. 2) 

WRS (Wisconsin Retirement System) Sue Gosse (Ext. 3) 

WI Deferred Compensation / ING Pension Sue Gosse (Ext. 3) 

Worker’s Comp Reporting/Claims Sue Gosse (Ext. 3) 
 



 

 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook  Page 14 

 

District Emergency Procedures 
 

Should inclement weather or other emergency situation(s) require the District to close school(s) the 

following procedures shall be followed: 

 

Local television and radio stations will also be notified as soon as practicable.  Please check the 

following if you do not receive a phone call or an email. 

 

Television: 

 Channel 7 (WSAW) – Wausau 

 Channel 9 (WAOW) – Wausau 

 Channel 13 (WEAU) – Eau Claire 

 Channel 18 (WQOW) – Eau Claire 

 

Radio Stations:   

 95.5 FM (WIFC) – Wausau 

 99.3 (WKEB) – Medford 

 101.9 (WDEZ) – Wausau 

 104.5 (WAXX) – Eau Claire 

 

Information is also posted on the District website. 

 

Employees are encouraged to monitor these TV and radio stations. 

 



 

 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook  Page 15 

District Building Office Numbers 
 

COLBY ELEMENTARY 

202 WEST DOLF STREET, PO BOX 80 

COLBY, WI  54421 

715-223-3939 

715-223-2123 (FAX) 

 

COLBY MIDDLE SCHOOL 

703 N. 2
ND

 STREET, PO BOX 110 

COLBY, WI 54421 

715-223-8869 

715-223-6754 (FAX) 

 

COLBY HIGH SCHOOL 

705 N. 2
ND

 STREET, PO BOX 110 

COLBY, WI  54421 

715-223-2338 

715-223-4388 (FAX) 

 

LITTLE STARS PRESCHOOL 

705 N. 2
ND

 STREET, PO BOX 140 

COLBY, WI 54421 

715-223-2044 

715-223-2340 (FAX) 

 

COLBY DISTRICT EDUCATION CENTER 

505 W. SPENCE STREET, PO BOX 139 

COLBY, WI  54421 

715-223-2301 

715-223-4539 (FAX) 



 

 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook  Page 16 

District Chain of Command 
 

Used for Crisis Management / Emergency School Closing 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Steve Kolden 

Superintendent 

Office (715) 223-2301 

Home (715) 235-6522 

Cell (715) 308-0567 

 

Jim Hagen 

Middle School Principal 

Office (715) 223-8869 

Home (715) 223-6637 

Cell (715) 223-5625 

 

Marcia Diedrich 

High School Principal 

Office (715) 223-2338 

Home (715) 223-4785 

Cell (715) 613-0876 

 

Samantha Penry 

Director of Spec. Education 

Office (715) 223-3939 

Cell (715) 894-0434 

 



 

 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook  Page 17 

District Academic Calendar 
School Calendar:  The school calendar shall be determined by the Board.  The determination of the 

structure of the days, e.g. instructional, in-service, workdays, etc. shall be at the discretion of the Board. 

 The school calendar is available on the District website http://www.colby.k12.wi.us/district-

calendar.cfm.  PA

RT I – PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO ALL STAFF 

http://www.colby.k12.wi.us/district-calendar.cfm
http://www.colby.k12.wi.us/district-calendar.cfm


 

 

 

PART I – PROVISIONS 
APPLICABLE TO ALL 

EMPLOYEES 



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 19 

SECTION 1. PREAMBLE AND DEFINITIONS 

1.01 About this Handbook  
A. Employees Covered:  This Handbook is provided as a reference document for the Colby School District’s 

(hereinafter referred to as “District”) employees.   

B. Disclaimer:   The contents of this Handbook are presented as a matter of information only. The plans, 

policies and procedures described are not conditions of employment.  The  District reserves the right to 

modify, revoke, suspend, terminate, or change any or all such plans, policies, or procedures, in whole or in 

part, at any time with or without notice.  The language which appears in this Handbook is not intended to 

create, nor is it to be construed to constitute, a contract between the District and any one or all of its 

employees or a guarantee of continued employment.  Notwithstanding any provisions of this Handbook, 

employment may be terminated at any time, with or without cause, except as explicitly provided for in any 

other pertinent section of this Handbook or individual contract.  

In case of a direct conflict between this Handbook, rules, regulations or policies of the Board and any 

specific provisions of an individual contract or collective bargaining agreement, the individual contract or 

collective bargaining agreement shall control. 

This Employee Handbook is intended to provide employees with information regarding policies, procedures, 

ethics, expectations and standards of the District; however, this Handbook should not be considered all 

inclusive.  Copies of Board Policies and Administrative Procedures are available in each administrative 

office to all personnel and are on the Colby School District website.  It is important that each employee is 

aware of the policies and procedures related to his/her position. The rights and obligations of all employees 

are governed by all applicable laws and regulations, including, but not limited by enumeration to the 

following:  Federal laws and regulations, the laws of the State of Wisconsin, Wisconsin State Administrative 

Code and the policies of the Colby School Board.  

1.02 Definitions 
A. Administrative Employees:  Administrative Employees are defined as persons who are required to have a 

contract under § 118.24, Wis. Stats. and other supervisory administrative personnel designated by the 

District. 

B. Casual Employees:  Casual Employees are defined as persons who are not scheduled to work on a regular 

basis and/or a student employee whose employment will terminate with the loss of his/her student status. 

C. Discipline:  Specifically excludes oral and written reprimands, performance improvement plans, notice of 

expectations, required counseling, transfers/reassignments, and paid administrative leaves.  Would include 

unpaid suspensions, disciplinary demotion and other disciplinary action impacting pay/wage.  

D. Regular Employees:   Regular Employees are defined as employees whom the District considers continuously 

employed, working either a fiscal or school year, until the District, at its discretion, changes the status of the 

employee.   

1. Regular Full-time Employee:  Regular full-time employees are defined as one who works 35 or more 

hours per week for a school year (180 days) or more per year.   

2. Regular Part-time Employee:  Regular part-time employees are defined as one who works a school year 

or more, but less than 35 hours per week, or less than 180 days.  

3. Exclusions: A regular full-time or regular part-time employee does not include casual, substitute or 

temporary employees as defined in this Section. 

E. Seasonal Employees:  Seasonal employees are those employees who are hired for a specific period of time 

usually related to the seasonal needs of the District. 

1. If seasonal employment is available, the District may offer seasonal employment to the applicable 

qualified regular school year employees.  The District is free to use outside providers to perform such 

work.   



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 20 

2. The terms and conditions of employment for seasonal session shall be established by the District at the 

time of hire.  Unless specifically set forth by the District at the time of hire, work performed by a 

regular employee during a seasonal session shall not be used to determine eligibility or contribution for 

any benefits, length of service or wage/salary levels.  

3. Seasonal employees performing non-exempt duties shall be paid in accordance with the Seasonal 

Employee Wage Schedule [Appendix Part I - 1.02E(3)]. 

F. Substitute Employees:  Substitute Employees are defined as persons hired to replace a regular employee 

during the regular employee's leave of absence. 

G. Supervisor:  The District will identify the individual employee’s supervisor on the employee’s job 

description. 

H. Teacher:   Teachers are defined as persons hired under a contract pursuant to under § 118.22, Wis. Stats. 

I. Temporary:   Temporary Employees are defined as persons hired for a specific project for a specific length of 

time.  A temporary employee has no expectation of continued employment. 

J. Termination:  Termination is defined as an involuntary discharge involving the dismissal of an employee, 

usually for some infraction of the rules or policies of the District, abandonment of the position, incompetence or 

other reason deemed sufficient by the Board and/or its designee. Termination results in involuntary separation 

and with prejudice to the employee.  A termination will result in the loss of length of service and other 

employment benefits.  For the purposes of this document, termination shall not include voluntary retirement, 

voluntary resignation or a nonrenewal of contract under § 118.22, Wis. Stats, § 118.24, Wis. Stats., separation 

from employment as a result of a reduction in force, or a non-reappointment of an extra-curricular assignment. 

 

1.03 General Personnel Policies 
This Employment Handbook is subservient to, and does not supersede the provisions set forth in District policies 

(Chapter 500 - Personnel). 

SECTION 2. EMPLOYMENT LAW 

2.01 Employment of Minors 
No one under eighteen (18) years of age will be employed without providing proper proof of his or her age. Minors will 

be employed only in accordance with state and federal laws and District policies. 

2.02 Equal Opportunity  
It is the policy of the District that no person may be illegally discriminated against in employment by reason of their age, 

race, religion, creed, color, disability, pregnancy, marital status, sex, citizenship, national origin, ancestry, sexual 

orientation, arrest record, conviction record, military service, membership in the National Guard, state defense force or 

any other reserve component of the military forces of Wisconsin or the United States, political or religious affiliation, use 

or nonuse of lawful products off the employer's premises during nonworking hours, declining to attend a meeting or to 

participate in any communication about religious matters or political matters, the authorized use of family or medical 

leave or worker's compensation benefits, genetic information, or any other factor prohibited by state or federal law. 

Reasonable accommodations shall be made for qualified individuals with a disability, unless such accommodations would 

impose an undue hardship on the District. A reasonable accommodation is a change or adjustment to job duties or work 

environment that permits a qualified applicant or employee with a disability to perform the essential functions of a 

position or enjoy the benefits and privileges of employment compared to those enjoyed by employees without disabilities.  

 

Requests for accommodations under the Americans with Disabilities Act or under the Wisconsin Fair Employment Act 

from current employees must be made in writing in accordance with District policy.  

2.03 Equal Opportunity Complaints 
The District encourages informal resolution of complaints under this policy.  A formal complaint resolution procedure is 

available, however, to address allegations of violations of the policy in the District.   

file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/kseifert/Application%20Data/Microsoft/Word/Appendix/Part%20I/Part%20I%20-%201.02E(3)%20Seasonal%20Employee%20Wage%20Schedule.docx
http://www.colby.k12.wi.us/board/chapter500.cfm


 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 21 

2.04 Fair Labor Standards Act 
Certain types of workers are exempt from the minimum wage and overtime pay provisions, including bona fide executive, 

administrative, and professional employees who meet regulatory requirements under the Fair Labor Standards Act 

[FLSA].  For non-exempt employees, issues concerning overtime, compensatory time off and minimum wage are found 

in Appendix Part I - 2.04A.  Notification of rights under the FLSA is set forth in the employment poster section in 

Appendix Part I - 2.04B.   

2.05 Family and Medical Leave Act  
A. Notification of Benefits and Leave Rights:  Since the District has an employee handbook or other written 

policy concerning employee benefits or leave rights, information concerning FMLA entitlements and 

employee obligations under the FMLA is included in the Handbook as required by federal law. The District 

shall post the text of the notice contained in the following link in the appendix and in a conspicuous place 

where notices to employees and applicants are customarily placed: 

http://www.dol.gov/whd/regs/compliance/posters/fmlaen.pdf 

http://www.dol.gov/whd/fmla/finalrule/FMLAPoster.pdf .  See 29 U.S.C. § 2619(a); 29 C.F.R. § 

825.300(a)(1).  The notice is posted at the Colby District Education Center.  

B.  Eligibility Notice.  When an employee requests FMLA leave, or when the employer acquires knowledge that 

an employee's leave may be for an FMLA-qualifying reason, the employer must notify the employee of the 

employee's eligibility to take FMLA leave within five business days, absent extenuating circumstances.  29 

C.F.R. § 825.300(b). 

C.  Rights and Responsibilities Notice.  The District shall provide written notice outlining specific obligations of 

the employee and explaining any consequences of not meeting those requirements.  29 C.F.R. § 825.300(c).  

The District is satisfying this notice requirement by directing the employee to the following website, which 

combines the eligibility notice and the rights & responsibilities notice into a single form: U.S. DEP’T OF 

LABOR, Notice of Eligibility and Rights & Responsibilities (FMLA), available at 

http://www.dol.gov/whd/fmla/finalrule/WH381.pdf.   

E.  Designation Notice. The District shall “inform employees in writing whether leave requested under the 

FMLA has been determined to be covered under the FMLA.”  U.S. DEP’T OF LABOR, Designation Notice 

(Family and Medical Leave Act), available at http://www.dol.gov/whd/forms/WH-382.pdf.  See 29 C.F.R. § 

825.300(d). 

2.06 Immigration Law Compliance 
The District is committed to employing only United States citizens and aliens who are authorized to work in the United 

States.  Therefore, in accordance with the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986, employees must complete an I-9 

form before commencing work and at other times prescribed by applicable law or District policy.  

http://www.uscis.gov/files/form/i-9.pdf  

2.07 Harassment and Bullying 
The District is committed to providing fair and equal employment opportunities and to providing a professional work 

environment free of all forms of harassment and bullying. The District shall not tolerate harassment based on any 

personal characteristic described above in section 2.02. Harassment and other unacceptable activities that could alter 

conditions of employment, or form a basis for personnel decisions, or interfere with an employee's work performance are 

specifically prohibited. Sexual harassment, whether committed by supervisory or non-supervisory personnel, is unlawful 

and also specifically prohibited. In addition, the District shall not tolerate acts of non-employees (volunteers, vendors, 

visitors, etc.) that have the effect of harassing District employees in the workplace. Harassment can occur as a result of a 

single incident or a pattern of behavior where the purpose or effect of such behavior is to create an intimidating, hostile or 

offensive working environment. Harassment encompasses a broad range of physical and verbal behavior that can include, 

but is not limited to, the following: 

A. Unwelcome sexual advances, comments or innuendos; 

B. Physical or verbal abuse; 

C. Jokes, insults or slurs based on any personal characteristic described above in section 2.02 (Such comments 

are unacceptable whether or not the individual within the protected class is present in the workplace to 

overhear them and whether or not a member of a class professes to tolerate such remarks); 

file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/kseifert/Application%20Data/Microsoft/Word/Appendix/2.04A%20Agreement%20to%20Accept%20Compensatory%20Time%20Off%20in%20Lieu%20of%20Overtime%20Pay.docx
file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/kseifert/Application%20Data/Microsoft/Word/Appendix/2.04B%20Employment%20Posters.docx
http://www.dol.gov/whd/regs/compliance/posters/fmlaen.pdf
http://www.dol.gov/whd/fmla/finalrule/FMLAPoster.pdf
http://www.dol.gov/whd/fmla/finalrule/WH381.pdf
http://www.dol.gov/whd/forms/WH-382.pdf
http://www.uscis.gov/files/form/i-9.pdf


 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 22 

D. Taunting based on personal characteristics described above in section 2.02 intended to provoke an employee; 

and/or 

E. Requests for sexual favors used as a condition of employment or affecting any personnel decisions such as 

hiring, promotion, compensation, etc. 

 

“Bullying” includes, but is not limited to, physical intimidation or assault, extortion, oral or written threats, teasing, 

name-calling, put-downs, threatening looks, false rumors, false accusations, retaliation for reporting harassment or 

bullying, and similar activities.   

 

All employees are responsible for ensuring that harassment and bullying do not occur. It is the intent of the District to 

comply with both the letter and spirit of the law in making certain that harassment and bullying do not exist in its 

policies, regulations and operations. Anyone who believes that he or she has been the subject of harassment or bullying or 

has knowledge of violations of this policy shall report the matter in accordance with established complaint procedures 

(Board Policy #512).  All reports regarding employee harassment or bullying shall be taken seriously, treated fairly and 

promptly and thoroughly investigated. Individual privacy shall be protected to the extent possible. There shall be no 

retaliation against any person who files a complaint under this policy. The District shall take appropriate and necessary 

action to eliminate employee harassment and bullying. Actions that are determined to be harassment or bullying shall be 

subject to disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 

 

All employees are responsible for ensuring that discrimination and harassment do not occur. It is the intent of the District 

to comply with both the letter and spirit of the law in making certain illegal discrimination does not exist in its policies, 

regulations and operations. Anyone who believes that he or she has been the subject of discrimination or harassment or 

has knowledge of violations of this policy shall report the matter in accordance with established complaint procedures 

(Board Policy #512). All reports regarding employee harassment shall be taken seriously, treated fairly and promptly and 

thoroughly investigated. Individual privacy shall be protected to the extent possible. There shall be no retaliation against 

any person who files a complaint under this policy. The District shall take appropriate and necessary action to eliminate 

employee harassment. Actions that result in harassment on a basis not related to an employee’s job performance or those 

that are determined to be harassment shall be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 

 

All employees have a duty to report incidents of potential harassment or alleged harassment to their immediate supervisor 

or designated equal employment officer.  Employees who fail to report incidents of potential harassment or alleged 

harassment, as described above, may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal.  In addition, 

supervisory employees who fail to respond to harassment complaints or to act on their knowledge of violation of this 

policy will likewise be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 

 

SECTION 3. GENERAL EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES AND EXPECTATIONS 

3.01 District Expectations 
The District expects its employees to produce quality work, maintain confidentially, work efficiently, and exhibit a 

professional and courteous attitude toward other employees, parents, and students.  The District expects employees to 

comply with all applicable Board policies, work rules, job descriptions, terms of this Handbook and legal obligations.   

The District expects employees to comply with the standards of conduct set out in Board policies, this Handbook, 

administrative regulations, and with any other policies, regulations and guidelines that impose duties, requirements or 

standards attendant to their status as District employees. Violation of any policies, regulations and guidelines may result 

in disciplinary action, including termination of employment.  

The following delineation of employment practices is for informational purposes and is not intended to be an exhaustive 

list of all employment expectations that may be found in other applicable Board policies, work rules, job descriptions, 

terms of this Handbook and legal obligations. 

3.02 Accident/Incident Reports 
All accidents/incidents occurring on District property, school buses or during the course of school-sponsored activities, 

http://www.colby.k12.wi.us/cms_files/resources/512.pdf
http://www.colby.k12.wi.us/cms_files/resources/512.pdf


 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 23 

including field trips and other away events, are to be reported to the building principal/immediate supervisor 

immediately. Reports should cover property damage as well as personal injury. A completed accident report form must be 

submitted to the supervisor within twenty-four (24) hours or the next scheduled District workday, as appropriate. In the 

event of a work-related accident or injury, please see the Worker’s Compensation section of this Handbook on page 43. 

3.03 Attendance 
The District expects employees to make every effort to be present for work.  Employees are expected to adhere to their 

assigned schedule.  In order for the schools to operate effectively, employees are expected to perform all assigned duties 

and work all scheduled hours during each designated workday, unless the employee has received approved leave.  Breaks 

and meal periods may only be taken during times designated by the employee’s supervisor/building administrator and as 

further specified in other parts of this Handbook.  Any deviation from assigned hours must have prior approval from the 

employee’s supervisor/building administrator.  

Employees who are unable to report to work shall follow the applicable procedures for reporting his/her absence.  Any 

time spent not working during an employee’s scheduled day must be accounted for in Employee Access using the 

appropriate designated options.  The District will monitor attendance and absence patterns. Theft of time and/or improper 

modification of time worked records will be investigated and will result in disciplinary action up to and including 

termination.  Failure to notify the District of an absence and failure to report to work on such day could result in 

disciplinary action up to and including termination.  Failure to return to work the day following the expiration of an 

authorized leave of absence may result in termination of employment. 

3.04 Bulletin Boards 
The Employer shall provide a bulletin board as a limited forum for employees to post professional development 

information and other apolitical literature that is directly connected to employment at the District and is consistent with 

District policy and applicable law.  All distributed and posted materials shall always be professional in approach, shall 

not contain any derogatory comments about staff, parents, students or board members and shall not be in contravention of 

any District policy or law.  The District Administrator will be provided a copy of all posted material at the time of the 

posting.  The District Administrator and/or his/her designee shall be allowed to remove material from the bulletin 

board(s) at his/her discretion. 

3.05 Child Abuse Reporting  
A. Any school employee who has Except as provided under Wisconsin Statute § 48.981, sub. (2m), any of the 

following persons who has reasonable cause to suspect that a child, seen by the person in the course of 

professional duties, has been abused or neglected or who has reason to believe that a child, seen by the 

person in the course of professional duties, has been threatened with abuse or neglect, and that abuse or 

neglect of the child will occur, shall report as provided for below in section B.:  school nurse, social worker, 

professional counselor, school teacher, school administrator, school counselor, child care worker in a child 

care center, or residential care center for children and youth a child care provider, an alcohol or other drug 

abuse counselor, a physical therapist, a physical therapist assistant, an occupational therapist, a dietitian, a 

speech-language pathologist, an audiologist, an emergency medical technician, a first responder and a police 

or law enforcement officer, including a police liaison officer.   

B. A person required to report shall immediately inform, by telephone or personally, the applicable District 

administrative personnel and the county department of the facts and circumstances contributing to a 

suspicion of child abuse or neglect or of unborn child abuse or to a belief that abuse or neglect will occur. 

3.06 Communications 
District employees are expected to abide by the following rules when using information technology communication 

resources. 

A. Electronic Communications:   

1. Electronic communications are protected by the same laws and policies and are subject to the same 

limitations as other types of media. When creating, using or storing messages on the network, the user 

should consider both the personal ramifications and the impact on the District should the messages be 

disclosed or released to other parties. Extreme caution should be used when committing confidential 

http://nxt.legis.state.wi.us/nxt/gateway.dll?f=xhitlist$xhitlist_x=Advanced$xhitlist_vpc=first$xhitlist_xsl=querylink.xsl$xhitlist_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title$xhitlist_d=%7bstats%7d$xhitlist_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:'48.981(2m)'%5d$xhitlist_md=target-id=0-0-0-76889


 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 24 

information to the electronic messages, as confidentiality cannot be guaranteed.  

2. The District may review email logs and/or messages at its discretion.  Because all computer hardware, 

digital communication devices and software belong to the Board, users have no reasonable expectation of 

privacy, including the use of email, text-message and other forms of digital communications, e.g. 

voicemail, Twitter™, Facebook™, etc. The use of the District’s technology and electronic resources is a 

privilege which may be revoked at any time. 

3. Electronic mail transmissions and other use of the District’s electronic communications systems or 

devices by employees shall not be considered confidential and may be monitored at any time by 

designated District staff to ensure appropriate use. This monitoring may include, but is not limited by 

enumeration to, activity logging, virus scanning, and content scanning.  Participation in computer-

mediated conversation/discussion forums for instructional purposes must be approved by curriculum or 

and District administration. External electronic storage devices are subject to monitoring if used with 

District resources.  

B. User Responsibilities:  Network/internet users (students and District employees), like traditional library users 

or those participating in field trips, are responsible for their actions in accessing available resources. The 

following standards will apply to all users (students and employees) of the network/internet: 

1. The user in whose name a system account is issued will be responsible at all times for its proper use. 

Users may not access another person's account without written permission from an administrator or 

immediate supervisor. 

2. The system may not be used for illegal purposes, in support of illegal activities, or for any other activity 

prohibited by District policy. 

3. Users may not redistribute copyrighted programs or data without the written permission of the copyright 

holder or designee. Such permission must be specified in the document or must be obtained directly from 

the copyright holder or designee in accordance with applicable copyright laws, District policy, and 

administrative regulations. 

4. A user must not knowingly attempt to access educationally inappropriate material. If a user accidentally 

reaches such material, the user must immediately back out of the area on the Internet containing 

educationally inappropriate material. The user must then notify the building administrator and/or 

immediate supervisor of the site address that should be added to the filtering software, so that it can be 

removed from accessibility. 

5. A user may not disable internet tracking software or implement a private browsing feature on District 

computers or networks.  Browsing history shall only be deleted by authorized staff or in accordance with 

the District’s technology department’s directives. 

6. Employees will annually review the District’s Acceptable Use Policy and have a signed form on file with 

the District. 

C. Electronic Communications with Students:  Employees are prohibited from communicating with students 

who are enrolled in the District through electronic media, except as set forth herein. An employee is not 

subject to this prohibition to the extent the employee has a pre-existing social or family relationship with the 

student.  

 

 For example, an employee may have a pre-existing relationship with a niece or nephew, a student who is the 

child of an adult friend, a student who is a friend of the employee’s child, or a member or participant in the 

same civic, social, recreational, or religious organization. The following definitions apply for purposes of this 

section on Electronic Communication with Students: 

 

 “Authorized Personnel” includes classroom teachers, counselors, principals, assistant principals, directors of 

instruction, coaches, athletic coordinators, athletic trainers, and any other employee designated in writing by 

the District Administrator or a building principal. 

 

 “Communicate” means to convey information and includes a one-way communication as well as a dialogue 

between two or more people. A public communication by an employee that is not targeted at students (e.g., a 

posting on the employee’s personal social network page or a blog) is not a communication; however, the 

employee may be subject to District regulations on personal electronic communications. Unsolicited contact 



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 25 

from a student through electronic means is not a communication. 

 

 “Electronic media” includes all forms of social media, such as, but not limited by enumeration to, the 

following: text messaging, instant messaging, electronic mail (email), Web logs (blogs), electronic forums 

(chat rooms), video sharing Websites (e.g., YouTube™), editorial comments posted on the Internet, and 

social network sites (e.g., Facebook™, MySpace™, Twitter™, LinkedIn™), and all forms of 

telecommunication such as landlines, cell phones, and web-based applications. 

D. Limited Electronic Communication with Students:   Authorized Personnel may communicate through 

electronic media with students who are currently enrolled in the District only within the following guidelines: 

1. The employee shall limit communications to matters within the scope of the employee’s professional 

responsibilities (e.g., for classroom teachers, matters relating to class work, homework, and tests). 

2. If an employee receives an unsolicited electronic contact from a student that is not within the 

employee’s professional responsibilities (e.g., for classroom teachers, matters relating to class work, 

homework, and tests), the employee shall not respond to the student using any electronic media 

except to address a health or safety emergency. 

3. The employee is prohibited from communicating with students through a personal social network 

page; the employee must create a separate social network page 

(“professional page”) for this purpose. The employee must enable administration and parents to 

access the employee’s professional page. 

4. Only a teacher, coach, trainer, or other employee who has an extracurricular duty may communicate 

with students through text messaging. The employee may communicate only with students who 

participate in the extracurricular activity over which the employee has responsibility. 

5. Upon request from administration, an employee will provide the phone number(s), social network 

site(s), or other information regarding the method(s) of electronic media the employee uses to 

communicate with any one or more currently-enrolled students. 

6. The employee continues to be subject to applicable state and federal laws, local policies, 

administrative regulations, including: 

a. prohibitions against soliciting or engaging in sexual conduct or a romantic relationship with a 

student.  

b. confidentiality of student records. 

c. confidentiality of other District records, including staff evaluations, credit card numbers, and 

private email addresses.  

d. Upon written request from a parent, the employee shall discontinue communicating with the 

parent’s minor student through email, text messaging, instant messaging, or any other form of 

one-to-one communication. 

e. An employee may request an exception from one or more of the limitations above by submitting 

a written request to his/her immediate supervisor. 

E. Retention of Electronic Communications and other Electronic Media:  The District archives all non-spam 

emails sent and/or received on the system in accordance with the District’s adopted record retention 

schedule.  After the set time has elapsed, email communications may be discarded unless the records may be 

relevant to any pending litigation, pending public records request, or other good cause exists for retaining 

email records. http://dpi.state.wi.us/lbstat/pdf/wi-rrssd.pdf  

F. Electronic Recording:  Employees shall not electronically record by audio, video, or other means, any 

conversations or meetings unless each and every person present has been notified and consents to being 

electronically recorded. Persons wishing to record a meeting must obtain consent from anyone arriving late to 

any such meeting. Employees shall not electronically record telephone conversations unless all persons 

participating in the telephone conversation have consented to be electronically recorded. These provisions are 

not intended to limit or restrict electronic recording of publicly posted Board meetings, grievance hearings, 

and any other Board sanctioned meeting recorded in accordance with Board policy. These provisions are not 

intended to limit or restrict electronic recordings involving authorized investigations conducted by District 

personnel, or authorized agents of the District, or electronic recordings that are authorized by the District, 

e.g. surveillance videos, extracurricular activities, voicemail recordings. 

G. Compliance with Federal, State and Local Law:  For all electronic media, employees are subject to certain 

http://dpi.state.wi.us/lbstat/pdf/wi-rrssd.pdf


 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 26 

state and federal laws, local policies, and administrative regulations, even when communicating regarding 

personal and private matters, regardless of whether the employee is using private or public equipment, on or 

off District property. These restrictions include: 

1. Confidentiality of student records (Policy #347). 

2. Confidentiality of other District records, including educator staff evaluations, credit card numbers, and 

private email addresses (Board Policy #526). 

3. Confidentiality of health or personnel information concerning colleagues, unless disclosure serves lawful 

professional purposes or is required by law (Board Policy #526).  

4. Prohibition against harming others by knowingly making false statements about a colleague or the 

District. 

5. Prohibitions against soliciting or engaging in sexual conduct or a romantic relationship with a student. 

6. Upon written request from a parent, the employee shall discontinue communicating with the parent’s 

minor student through email, text messaging, instant messaging, or any other form of one-to-one 

communication. 

7. An employee may request an exception from one or more of the limitations above by submitting a written 

request to his/her immediate supervisor. 

H. Personal Web Pages:  Employees may not misrepresent the District by creating, or posting any content to, 

any personal or non-authorized website that purports to be an official/authorized website of the District.  No 

employee may purport to speak on behalf of the District through any personal or other non-authorized 

website.  

I. Disclaimer:  The District's electronic systems are provided on an "as is, as available" basis. The District does 

not make any warranties, whether expressed or implied, including, without limitation, those of 

merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose with respect to any services provided by the system and 

any information or software contained therein. The District does not warrant that the functions or services 

performed by, or that the information or software contained on the system will meet the system user's 

requirements, or that the system will be uninterrupted or error-free, or that defects will be corrected. 

Opinions, advice, services, and all other information expressed by system users, information providers, 

service providers, or other third-party individuals in the systems are those of the individual or entity and not 

the District. The District will cooperate fully with local, state, or federal officials in any investigation 

concerning or relating to misuse of the District's electronic communications system. 

3.07 Confidentiality 
Pupil information employees obtain as the result of their employment with the District is confidential and protected by 

law unless such information has been designated as pupil directory data as set forth in Board Policy (Policy #347). The 

law and respect for our students require that student issues are only discussed with employees and parents who need to 

know the information. In addition to student information, confidentiality is expected in other areas, including employee 

or District business information.  Any requests for District records shall be referred to the appropriate administrator. 

3.08 Conflict of Interest 
A conflict of interest is defined as any judgment, action or relationship that may benefit an employee or another party the 

employee is affiliated with because of the employee’s position with the District.  Employees are asked to avoid outside 

activity that may compete or be in conflict with the best interests of the District.  Employees must disclose to their 

immediate supervisor information of any transaction that may be considered a conflict of interest as soon as they know 

the facts.  No employee may use his or her position to obtain financial gain or anything of substantial value for the private 

benefit of himself or herself or his or her immediate family, or for an organization with which he or she is associated.  

3.09 Contracts and Conflict of Interest 
No employee may negotiate or bid for, or enter into a contract in which the employee has a private pecuniary interest, 

direct or indirect, if at the same time the employee is authorized or required by law to participate in the employee's 

capacity as an employee in the making of that contract or to perform in regard to that contract some official function 

requiring the exercise of discretion on the employee's part. No employee may, in the employee's capacity as an employee, 

participate in the making of a contract in which the employee has a private pecuniary interest, direct or indirect, or 

performs in regard to that contract some function requiring the exercise of discretion on the employee's part. See Wis. 

Stats. § 946.13(1)(a) and (b). 

http://www.colby.k12.wi.us/cms_files/resources/526personnel%20records.pdf
http://www.colby.k12.wi.us/cms_files/resources/526personnel%20records.pdf


 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 27 

3.10 Copyright 
A variety of machines and equipment for reproducing materials to assist staff in carrying out their educational 

assignments are available to staff in both the school and home setting.  Infringement on copyrighted material, whether 

prose, poetry, graphic images, music audiotapes, video or computer-programmed materials, is a serious offense against 

federal law, a violation of Board policy and contrary to ethical standards required of staff. All reproduction of 

copyrighted material shall be conducted strictly in accordance with applicable provisions of law. Unless otherwise 

allowed as “fair use” under federal law, permission must be acquired from the copyright owner prior to reproduction of 

material in any form. Employees are further advised that copyright provisions apply to all forms of digital media.  

Questions regarding copyright shall be directed to the LMC Director and referenced in Board Policy #771.1. 

3.11 Criminal Background Checks 
All applying for a position are required to file in writing, in advance of employment on forms provided by the District, a 

statement identifying whether the applicant: 

A. Has been convicted of a misdemeanor or felony in this state or any other state or country; and 

B.  Has been dismissed or non-renewed, or has resigned from employment in-lieu-of a potential dismissal or non-

renewal, for any of the following causes: failure to meet the District’s performance expectations, 

incompetence, inefficiency, neglect of duty, unprofessional conduct or insubordination.  Knowingly 

falsifying information shall be sufficient grounds for termination of employment. 

Additionally, all persons applying for any position may be required to: 

A. Agree to the release of all investigative records to the Board for examination for the purpose of verifying the 

accuracy of criminal violation information; and 

B. Supply a fingerprint sample and submit to criminal history records checks as requested to be conducted by 

the District Administrator or designee. 

 

Employment will be offered pending the return and disposition of such background checks. All offers of employment are 

contingent upon the results of such checks. 

3.12 Criminal Background Checks/Charges/Convictions for Active Employees - Obligation to 

Report Criminal Record 
All District employees shall notify his/her immediate supervisor or administrator as soon as possible, but no more than 

three calendar days after any arrest, indictment, conviction, no contest or guilty plea, or other adjudication of the 

employee for any felony, any offense involving moral turpitude, and any of the other offenses as indicated below: 

A.  crimes involving school property or funds; 

B. crimes involving attempt by fraudulent or unauthorized means to obtain or alter any certificate or permit that 

would entitle any person to hold or obtain a position as an educator; 

C. crimes that occur wholly or in part on school property or at a school-sponsored activity;  

D. a misdemeanor which involves moral turpitude [e.g. an act or behavior that gravely violates moral sentiments 

or accepted moral standards of the community]; or 

E. a misdemeanor which violates the public trust. 
 

The requirement to report a conviction or deferred adjudication shall not apply to minor traffic offenses. However, an 

offense of operating under the influence, revocation or suspension of license, and driving after revocation or suspension 

must be reported if the employee drives or operates a District vehicle or piece of mobile equipment or transports students 

or staff in any vehicle.   Failure to report under this section may result in disciplinary action, up to and including 

termination. Such report shall be made as soon as possible, but in no circumstance more than three calendar days after the 

event giving rise to the duty to report. The District may conduct criminal history and background checks on its 

employees.   

 

An arrest or indictment shall not be an automatic basis for an adverse employment action. However, if the offense giving 

rise to the arrest or indictment is substantially related to the circumstances of the employee’s job, and if the arrest or 

indictment relates to a pending criminal charge, the District may suspend the employee.  Arrests or indictments for which 

criminal charges were dismissed shall not be the basis for adverse employment actions. 

 

http://www.colby.k12.wi.us/cms_files/resources/7711copyright.pdf


 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 28 

Conviction of a crime shall not be an automatic basis for an adverse employment action.  The District shall consider the 

following factors in determining what action, if any, should be taken against an employee who is convicted of a crime 

during employment with the District: 

 

A. the nature and gravity of the offense or conduct; 

B. the time that has passed since the offense, conduct and/or completion of the sentence; 

C. the nature of the position to which the employee is assigned; and 

D. (for-non-felonious crimes only) the relationship between the offense and the position to which the employee 

is assigned. 

 

Nothing herein shall prohibit the District from placing an employee on administrative leave based upon an arrest, 

indictment or conviction. 

 

An arrest, indictment or conviction of a crime shall not be an automatic basis for an adverse employment action.  The 

District shall consider the following factors in determining what action, if any, should be taken against an employee who 

is convicted of a crime during employment with the District: 

E. the nature of the offense; 

F. the date of the offense; 

G. the relationship between the offense and the position to which the employee is assigned. 
 

For any employee who is convicted of a felony and has not been pardoned, the District shall have discretion to terminate 

that individual’s employment or to non-renew his/her contract.  Nothing herein shall prohibit the District from placing an 

employee on administrative leave or from suspending an employee based upon an arrest, indictment or conviction. 
 

3.13 District Property 
The District may supply an employee with equipment or supplies to assist the employee in performing his/her job duties. 

All employees are expected to show reasonable care for any equipment issued and to take precautions against for theft. 

Employees cannot take District property for personal use or gain. Any equipment, unused supplies, or keys issued must 

be returned prior to the employee’s last day of employment, including, but not limited by enumeration: employee 

identification badges and the key fob for building entry. District equipment borrowed for short term use should be 

returned the first work day after project completion. 

3.14 Drug-, Alcohol-, and Tobacco-Free Workplace 
The District seeks to provide a safe drug-free workplace for all of its employees.  

A. Prohibited Acts - Drugs and Alcohol:  Therefore, the manufacture, distribution, dispensation, possession, use 

of or presence under the influence of alcohol, inhalants, controlled substances or substances represented to be 

such, or unauthorized prescription medication, is prohibited on school premises or at school activities. In 

addition, the District will not condone the involvement of any employee with illicit drugs, even where the 

employee is not on District premises.  Employees of the school system shall not possess, use, or distribute 

any illicit drug or alcoholic beverage as defined in Wisconsin Statutes while on school premises or while 

responsible for chaperoning students on school-sponsored trips.  Any employee who possesses, uses, or 

distributes any illicit drug or alcoholic beverage on school premises, or while responsible for chaperoning 

students on a school-sponsored trip may be disciplined, up to and including discharge. All school employees 

shall cooperate with law enforcement agencies in investigations concerning any violation of this provision.    

B. Tobacco Products:  Employees shall not use tobacco products on District premises, in District vehicles, nor 

in the presence of students at school or school-related activities (Board Policy #522.1).  Employees who 

violate this policy will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination from employment.  § 

120.12(20), Wis. Stats. 

C. Drug-Free Awareness Program:  The District shall distribute drug-free awareness information to employees 

regarding the dangers of drug abuse in the workplace, the District’s policy of maintaining a drug-free 

workplace, any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, employee assistance abuse programs, and the 

penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse violations.  (Board Policy #522.1) and 41 

U.S.C. § 702(a) (1). 

http://www.colby.k12.wi.us/cms_files/resources/5221drugfree.pdf
http://www.colby.k12.wi.us/cms_files/resources/5221drugfree.pdf


 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 29 

H. Reasonable Suspicion Testing:  All employees shall be required to undergo alcohol and drug testing at any 

time the District has reasonable suspicion to believe that the employee has violated the District's policy 

concerning alcohol and/or drugs. Reasonable suspicion alcohol or drug testing may be conducted when there 

is reasonable suspicion to believe that the employee has used or is using drugs or alcohol prior to reporting 

for duty, or while on duty, or prior to or while attending any District function on or off District property.  The 

District's determination that reasonable cause exists must be based on specific, contemporaneous, accurate 

observations concerning the appearance, behavior, speech or body odors of the employee.  A trained 

supervisor must make the observations.  Refusal to consent to testing will result in disciplinary action, up to 

and including termination of employment. 

E. Consequence for Violation:  Employees who violate the District’s policies and rules regarding alcohol or 

drug use shall be subject to disciplinary sanctions.  Such sanctions may include referral to drug and alcohol 

counseling or rehabilitation programs or employee assistance programs, discipline or discharge from 

employment with the District, and referral to appropriate law enforcement officials for prosecution.  

Compliance with the District’s policies and rules is mandatory and is a condition of employment.  

F. Notification of Conviction:  As a further condition of employment, an employee who is engaged in the 

performance of a federal grant shall notify the District Administrator of any criminal drug statute conviction 

for a violation occurring in the workplace no later than three days after such conviction. Within ten days of 

receiving such notice – from the employee or any other source – the District shall notify the federal granting 

agency of the conviction.  41 U.S.C. 702(a) (1) (D).  After receiving notice from an employee of a conviction 

for any drug statute violation occurring in the workplace, the District shall either (1) take appropriate 

personnel action against the employee, up to and including termination of employment, or (2) require the 

employee to participate satisfactorily in a drug abuse assistance or rehabilitation program approved for such 

purposes by a federal, state, or local health agency, law enforcement agency, or other appropriate agency.  41 

U.S.C. 703 [This notice complies with notice requirements imposed by the federal Drug-Free Workplace Act 

(41 U.S.C. 702)]. 

3.15 Employee Identification Badges 
The District shall provide employees with an employee identification badge.  Employee identification badges are an 

important part of employee work attire.  They allow students, parents, coworkers, vendors and the public to know who 

employees are.  They are an important part of providing a secure environment for our students.  Employees must wear 

their employee identification badges in a visible spot during their contracted work time. 

3.16 False Reports 
Employees may be disciplined for filing false reports or statements including but not limited to the following: accident 

reports, attendance reports, insurance reports, physician’s statements, pre-employment statements, sick leave requests, 

student records, tax withholding forms and work reports. 

3.17 Financial Controls and Oversight 
The employee shall adhere to all internal controls that deter and monitor all fraud or financial impropriety in the District. 

Any person who suspects fraud or financial impropriety in the District shall report the suspicions immediately to any 

supervisor, the District Administrator or designee, the Board President, or local law enforcement. Reports of suspected 

fraud or financial impropriety shall be processed in a manner that gives appropriate consideration to the confidentiality of 

these matters. treated as confidential to the extent permitted by law. Limited disclosure may be necessary to complete a 

full investigation or to comply with law. Each employee who supervises or prepares District financial reports or 

transactions shall set an example of honest and ethical behavior and shall actively monitor his or her area of 

responsibility for fraud and financial impropriety.  Neither the Board nor any District employee shall unlawfully retaliate 

against a person who in good faith reports perceived fraud or financial impropriety. See also Part I, Section 3.40. 

3.18 Fraud and Financial Impropriety 
The District prohibits fraud and financial impropriety, as defined below, in the actions of its Board members, employees, 

vendors, contractors, consultants, volunteers, and others seeking or maintaining a business relationship with the District.  

A. Fraud and financial impropriety shall include but is not limited to the following: 

1. forgery or unauthorized alteration of any document or account belonging to the District; 



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 30 

2. forgery or unauthorized alteration of a check, bank draft, or any other financial 

document; 

3. misappropriation of funds, securities, supplies, or other District assets, including employee time; 

4. impropriety in the handling of money or reporting of District financial transactions; 

5. profiteering as a result of insider knowledge of District information or activities; 

6. unauthorized disclosure of confidential or proprietary information to outside parties; 

7. unauthorized disclosure of investment activities engaged in or contemplated by the District; 

8. accepting or seeking anything of material value from contractors, vendors, or other persons providing 

services or materials to the District, except as otherwise permitted by law or District policy;.(See Gifts 

section of the Handbook) 

9. inappropriately destroying, removing, or using records, furniture, fixtures, or 

equipment; 

10. failure to provide financial records required by state or local entities; 

11. failure to disclose conflicts of interest as required by law or District policy;  

12. disposing of District property for personal gain or benefit and, 

13. any other dishonest act regarding the finances of the District. 

B. Fraud Investigations:  If an employee is found to have committed fraud or financial impropriety, the District 

Administrator or designee shall take or recommend appropriate disciplinary action, which may include 

termination of employment. When circumstances warrant, the Board, District Administrator, or designee may 

refer matters to appropriate law enforcement or regulatory authorities. In cases involving monetary loss to the 

District, the District may seek to recover lost or misappropriated funds.  

3.19 Gambling 
Gambling on District-owned or leased premises is prohibited at all times.  Gambling during the workday on or off District 

property is prohibited. 

3.20 Gifts and Sale of Goods and Services   
A. Gifts:  An employee or a member of the employee’s immediate family may not accept, directly or indirectly, 

any gift, money, gratuity, or other consideration or favor of any kind from anyone other than the District that 

a reasonable person would understand was intended to influence official action or judgment of the employee 

in executing decision-making authority affecting the District, its employees or students.  It shall not be 

considered a violation of this policy for an employee to receive incidental entertainment, food, refreshments, 

meals or similar amenities, that are provided in connection with a conference or similar work-related activity 

where the employee’s supervisor has reviewed the agenda for the conference or other activity and concluded 

that such incidentals primarily facilitate the employee’s attendance at and participation in the activity, and, 

therefore, primarily benefit the District rather than serving primarily as a person benefit.  Exceptions to this 

policy are acceptance of minor items, which are generally distributed to all by companies through public 

relations programs. Teachers should accept only gifts of token value from students.  Note:  Immediate family 

shall have the same definition as used in Section 11.01.  See Board Policy #524. 

 

It is the District’s policy for individuals to decline gifts, gratuities or favors from any outside organization or 

individual doing business or seeking to do business with the District.  Gifts that are intended for the benefit 

of the District should be referred to the District Administrator for proper processing under the District’s 

policy on gifts and solicitations and the terms of § 118.27, Wis. Stats.. Gifts of nominal or of insubstantial 

value and services offered for a reason unrelated to the employees’ position and which could not reasonably 

be expected to influence a decision could be accepted.  Larger gifts to employees as an individual and gifts of 

more than a nominal or insignificant value should be graciously declined.  Please refer to Board Policy #524 

for gifts and solicitations and § 19.59, Wis. Stats. 

B. Sale of Goods and Services:  No District employee may receive for his or her personal benefit anything of 

value from any person other than his or her employing District to sell, promote the sale of or act as an agent 

or solicitor for the sale of any goods or services to any public school pupil while on the property of his or her 

employing District or at an activity of his or her employing District.  § 118.12, Wis. Stats. 

http://www.colby.k12.wi.us/cms_files/resources/524STAFFGIFTS.pdf
http://www.colby.k12.wi.us/cms_files/resources/524STAFFGIFTS.pdf


 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 31 

3.21 Honesty 
Honesty is a core value in the District.  Employees shall not create any intentional inaccuracies verbally or on official 

District documents such as time sheets, job applications, student records, etc. 

3.22 Investigations   
A. Expectation of Cooperation:  In the event of a District investigation or inquiry, every District employee has 

an affirmative duty to provide to his/her supervisor(s) or any other District official assigned to investigate all 

relevant and factual information about matters inquired except as provided for below in paragraph “B”. 

Employees failing to volunteer such information shall receive a directive from an administrator to provide a 

statement. The employee’s failure to comply with the directive may constitute “insubordination,” a violation 

that will be grounds for disciplinary action up to and including termination.   

B. Investigation interplay with potential criminal conduct:  If the alleged misconduct may constitute criminal 

conduct by the employee, the employee may be provided a Garrity warning.  Garrity v. New Jersey, 385 U.S. 

493 (1967). 

C. Administrative Leave: The District may place an employee on administrative leave, paid or unpaid, during an 

investigation into alleged misconduct by the employee. 

3.23 Licensure/Certification 
Each employee who is required to be licensed or certified by law must provide the District with a copy of the current 

license or certificate to be maintained in his or her personnel file.  Personnel files can be found in the District Education 

Center.  Employees are expected to know the expiration date of their license/certification and meet the requirements for 

re-licensure or certification in a timely manner.  A teaching contract with any person not legally authorized to teach the 

named subject or at the named school shall be void. All teaching contracts shall terminate if, and when, the authority to 

teach terminates. 

3.24 Nepotism  
A. Applicants for employment in the District shall be selected without regard to a relationship by affinity or 

consanguinity, which they may have with a current employee of the District.  However, to avoid possible 

conflicts of interest, which may result from employment procedures, an employee who is related by affinity 

or consanguinity to another employee or applicant shall not participate in any decision to hire, retain, 

promote, evaluate or determine the salary of that person. 

B. Definition:  For the purposes of this Handbook, a "relationship by affinity" is defined as one that includes, 

but is not limited to, a relationship which an individual has with his or her spouse, designated partner, father-

in-law, mother-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, adoptive sibling, adoptive 

child, adoptive parent, adoptive first cousin, a financial dependent or co-dependent [for example sharing the 

same place of residence]. A "relationship by consanguinity" is defined as a relationship which an individual 

has with a blood relative that extends to first cousin. The phrase "decision to hire" includes every aspect of 

the hiring process. 

C. Employee Reporting Requirements:  Should a District employee be called upon to participate in a decision to 

hire, retain, promote, evaluate, or determine the salary of a person related to him or her by affinity or 

consanguinity, as defined above, the employee shall refrain from participating in such decision and shall 

instead delegate his or her decision making authority regarding that person to the District Administrator or 

his or her designee.  Should the District Administrator be called upon to participate in a decision to hire, 

retain, promote, evaluate or determine the salary of a person related to him or her by affinity or consanguinity 

as defined above, he or she shall refrain from participating in such decision and shall instead delegate his or 

her decision making authority in regard to the employment status of that person (i.e., decision to hire, retain, 

promote, evaluate, etc.) to another employee of the District.  



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 32 

 

3.25 Operators of District Vehicles, Mobile Equipment and Persons Who Receive Travel 

Reimbursement 
A. Allowances or Mileage Reimbursement: All employees who drive a District vehicle, operate mobile 

equipment, or receive a District travel allowance or mileage reimbursement may be requested to undergo an 

annual driver’s license record check.  Mobile equipment includes but is not limited to such equipment as 

street vehicles (cars/trucks), tractors, riding lawnmowers, forklifts, pallet jacks, trenschers, and golf carts. 

B. Notice of Traffic Violations:  All employees who drive a District vehicle, operate mobile equipment, or 

receive a District travel allowance or mileage reimbursement must notify their immediate supervisors 

immediately of any driving citation or conviction of a traffic violation. Supervisors receiving such notice will 

immediately notify the District Administrator.  Payment for any citations received while driving a District 

vehicle is the responsibility of the driver. The reporting provision applies to citations or convictions as a 

result of operating either a District vehicle or personal vehicle. 

C. Drivers: All drivers of motor vehicles owned by the District and used for the transportation of pupils shall be 

under written contract with the Board.  See WIS. STAT. § 121.52(2). 

D. Personal Transportation Utilized for School Use 

*Employee Transportation of Students in Personal Vehicles is Strongly Discouraged* 

1. Car Insurance 

Employees who transport students for school activities in their cars shall carry minimum insurance policy 

limits of $500,000 combined single limit (CSL) liability, $250,000/$500,000 bodily injury and $100,000 

property damage.  A minimum of private car transportation will be utilized.  Employees must notify and 

receive approval from the building principal prior to transporting students in private cars for school 

activities.  Such approval shall be in compliance with all applicable state and federal laws and 

administrative code provisions and shall include, but not be limited by enumeration, a review of the 

employee’s driving record and an examination of the vehicle.  See Wis. Stats. § 121.555. 

2. Personal Vehicle Reimbursement 

Damage to personal vehicles while used as authorized above for transporting students for school 

activities may be reimbursed by the District, in its discretion, provided the District’s maximum 

reimbursement shall not exceed the deductible amount to a maximum deductible amount of five hundred 

dollars ($500.00).  No such reimbursement shall be provided where the employee is found to be liable in 

any degree for the damage to the personal vehicle. 

3. All transportation will be done in accordance with Board policy. 

3.26 Outside Employment 
Outside employment is regarded as employment for compensation that is not within the duties and responsibilities of the 

employee’s regular position with the school system. Personnel shall not be prohibited from holding employment outside 

the District as long as such employment does not interfere with assigned school duties as determined by the District.  The 

School Board expects employees to devote maximum effort to the position in which employed. An employee will not 

perform any duties related to an outside job during regular working hours or for professional employees during the 

additional time that the responsibilities of the District’s position require; nor will an employee use any District facilities, 

equipment or materials in performing outside work. When the periods of work are such that certain evenings, days or 

vacation periods are duty free, the employee may use such off-duty time for the purposes of non-school employment. 

3.27 Personal Appearance/Staff Dress Code 
District employees are judged not only by their service but also by their appearance.  It is the District’s expectation that 

every employee’s appearance is consistent with the high standards we set for ourselves as a District.  Employees are 

expected to present a well-groomed, professional appearance and to practice good personal hygiene.  Remember, to our 

students, parents and the public, employees represent the District. 

 

The District expects that all employees are neat, clean, and wear appropriate dress for work that is in good taste and 

suitable for the job at hand.  The District will not tolerate dress or attire from school employees that the principal or 

supervisor considers disruptive, inappropriate, or which adversely affects the educational atmosphere.   



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 33 

3.28 Personal Property  
A. Liability:  The District does not assume any responsibility for loss, theft or damages to personal property. In 

order to minimize risk, the District advises employees not to carry unnecessary amounts of cash or other 

valuables. If employees bring personal items to work, they are expected to exercise reasonable care to 

safeguard them. The District is not liable for vandalism, theft or any damage to cars parked on school 

property.   

B. Search of Personal Effects [Please see 3.29 of the Handbook for information on the Search of District 

Property] :  Employees should have no expectation of privacy to items contained in plain view, for example, 

but not limited by enumeration to automobiles parked on the District’s property, items left on top of or within 

desks and cabinets, lockers, etc.  Items not in plain view and contained within personal property, e.g. purse, 

satchel, wallet, coat, backpack, etc., may be searched in accordance with applicable state and federal law.  

3.29 Work Spaces, Including Desks, Lockers, etc. 
Employees shall have no expectation of privacy with respect to any item or document stored in or on District-owned 

property, which includes, but is not limited to, desks, filing cabinets, mailboxes, lockers, tables, shelves, and other 

storage spaces in or out of the classroom.  Accordingly, the District may at any time and in its sole discretion conduct a 

search of such property, regardless of whether the searched areas or items of furniture are locked or unlocked except as 

provided for under Section 3.28, Subsection B of this Handbook. 

3.30 Personnel Files 
An employee shall have the right, upon request and consistent with the timelines and content limitations specified in state 

law, to review the contents of his/her personnel file, while in the presence of the administrator or his designee.  The 

employee shall be entitled to have a representative accompany him/her during such review.  This examination must be 

accomplished in the presence of the person officially charged by the District Administrator with custody of those files.  

The removal of this file from the safekeeping place will be done by the official personnel file custodian.  The employee’s 

personnel file or any part thereto may not be removed from the visual presence of the official custodian.  An employee 

shall have the right, upon request, to receive copies of any documents contained in the personnel file except those delineated 

in § 103.13(6), Wisconsin Statutes, upon payment of the actual cost for making such a copy.   

 

If the request to review personnel records is pursuant to an active grievance filed by that employee, the District will provide 

copies of the records to the employee, at the employee’s expense, and the employee and his or her representative may 

examine the copies outside of the presence of the administrator/records custodian. 

After reviewing his or her personnel records, the employee has the right to request that records he or she believes to be 

inaccurate or obsolete be removed from his or her file.  If the District denies the request, the employee has the right to file a 

written rebuttal statement and have that rebuttal attached to the disputed record.  If the District intends to release the disputed 

record to a third party, the District must also release the attached employee rebuttal statement to the third party.  § 103.13(4) 

Wis. Stats. 

3.31 Personnel – Student Relations 
All District personnel will recognize and respect the rights of students, as established by local, state, and federal law. 

Employees shall, at all times, maintain a professional relationship and exhibit a professional demeanor in their 

interactions with students. Further, employees shall refrain from engaging in any actions or conduct of a sexual nature 

(verbal or physical) directed toward a student, including, but not limited to, sexual advances, activities involving sexual 

innuendo, or requests for sexual favors or sexually explicit language or conversation. Employees shall not form 

inappropriate social or romantic relationships with students, regardless of whether or not the student is 18 years old.  

Employees shall not use profane or obscene language or gestures in the workplace. 

3.32 Physical Examination 
A. Examination:  Upon initial employment and thereafter, physical examinations shall be required of District 

employees in accordance with section 118.25 of the Wisconsin statutes.  Upon initial employment, evidence 

that employees are of sound health, sufficient to perform the essential functions of their assignment, is 

necessary to make binding the offer of employment or the initial contract, as applicable, with the District. 

B. Fitness for Duty:  The District may require a physical and/or mental examination at the expense of the 



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 34 

District where reasonable doubt arises in the minds of the District concerning the current health of the 

employee, and consistent the limitations imposed by applicable state and federal law.  Failure to comply with 

this request or failure to provide a doctor’s certification of sufficiently sound health to perform duties 

assigned may result in discipline up to and including discharge/termination.   

3.33 Political Activity 
Employees may exercise the rights and privileges of any citizen in matters of a political nature consistent with the 

following restrictions (Board Policy #522.5): 

A.  No school employee shall: 

1. In the presence of any student, and 

2. During hours for which pay is received or while the employee is otherwise acting within the scope of 

their employment, engage in any activity for the solicitation, promotion, election, or defeat of any 

referendum, candidate for public office, legislation, or political action.  When not engaged in the 

performance of their duties (e.g., during designated break periods) and when no students are present, 

employees who are at a work location may engage in private conversations with non-students or in other 

personal activities that address, for example, political topics.  No school employee shall, during hours for 

which pay is received and during which a student is present, engage in any activity for the solicitation, 

promotion, election, or defeat of any referendum, candidate for public office, legislation, or political 

action. 

B. During established hours of employment or while an employee is engaged in his/her official duties, no 

employee or other person may solicit or receive from any employee any contribution or service for any 

political purpose, where a “political purpose” includes an act done for the purpose of influencing the election 

or nomination for election of a person to office.  Furthermore, no person may enter any District building, 

office or facility in order to request, make or receive a contribution for a political purpose.  No school 

employee shall use in any way the classrooms, buildings, or pupils for the purpose of solicitation, promotion, 

election, or defeat of any referendum, candidate for public office, legislation, or political action. 

C. No school employee shall use in any way the classrooms, buildings, or pupils for the purpose of solicitation, 

promotion, election, or defeat of any referendum, candidate for public office, legislation, or political action.  

This provision does not apply to use of District facilities by employees for events or activities that are not 

within their scope of employment and that are held pursuant to the District’s policies regarding facilities use 

by third parties.  No school employee shall make use of school equipment or materials for the purpose of 

solicitation, promotion, election, or defeat of any referendum, candidate for public office, legislation, or 

political action. 

D. No school employee shall make use of school equipment or materials for the purpose of solicitation, 

promotion, election, or defeat of any referendum, candidate for public office, legislation, or political action. 

E. This section does not apply to the provision of information by school employees in connection with any 

election, referendum, or legislation where authorized by the school board or District Administrator and where 

consistent with legal limitations on the use of public funds and school District resources. 

3.34 Position Descriptions 
Position descriptions are available for inspection for each District employee.  At a minimum, the descriptions will include 

the job title and description, the minimum qualifications, and the essential functions of the position.  Employees must be 

able to perform the essential functions of the job description.  The Job Description Manual is available on the website at 

www.colby.k12.wi.us. 

3.35 Severance from Employment 
An employee's employment relationship shall be broken and terminated by: 

A. Termination pursuant to the terms of this Handbook and the employee’s individual contract [if any]; 

B. voluntary resignation; 

C. retirement; 

D. nonrenewal of the employee’s contract, [only applicable to employees where nonrenewal rights are provided 

under the Wisconsin statutes]; 

E. failure to return to work following an offer of reemployment subsequent to a reduction in force within 

file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/kseifert/Application%20Data/Policy%20Book/Policy%20Book%20ONLINE/Policy%20Book/Section500-PERSONNEL/5225staffpart.DOC
file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/kseifert/Application%20Data/Microsoft/Word/www.colby.k12.wi.us


 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 35 

fourteen (14) calendar days of receipt of a reemployment offer (only applicable to employees where a 

reemployment process is expressly provided for in other sections of this handbook); 

F. the employee having been on reemployment opportunity statues for twelve (12) consecutive months (only 

applicable to employees where a reemployment process is expressly provided for in other sections of this 

handbook);  

G. failure to return to work the day following the expiration of an authorized leave of absence; and 

H. job abandonment. 

3.36 Solicitations 
Individuals, groups and organizations often wish to solicit employees to support a particular activity or organization. This 

solicitation may be charitable, political or for other purposes. All solicitations of employees must be approved in advance 

by the administration and be consistent with Board Policy. 

3.37 Student Code of Conduct and Handbook 
The Student Code of Conduct and Handbook is available online at www.colby.k12.wi.us.  

3.38 Teamwork 
Providing a quality education for students and a quality work experience for employees involves teamwork among all 

employees in the District. Some important actions are: 

A. Getting to know co-workers and their capabilities. 

B. Helping to create a pleasant, caring and enjoyable work atmosphere. 

C. Making use of District technology to effectively communicate with all employees in the District. 

D. Making use of District technology in order to perform all job functions well. 

Teamwork is demonstrated by showing respect, cooperation and leadership at all times.  Serving as an effective team 

member is a key component in accomplishing the District’s mission. 

3.39 Wellness 
A. Educational Environment:  District employees are encouraged to facilitate a healthy learning atmosphere for 

students to promote wellness.  The District encourages staff to use foods of a high nutritional value in 

fundraising activities and to create an educational environment that supports the promotion of healthy food 

and beverage choices for students.  Using food as a learning or behavior incentive should be kept to a 

minimum.  Incentives shall be healthy food choices.  The withholding of a meal as punishment is prohibited.  

B. Employee Wellness:  The District shall encourage healthy behaviors by providing wellness programs, 

educational opportunities and a healthy work environment for employees. 

3.40 Employee (Whistleblower) Protection   
A. Complaint Procedure:  If any employee of the District reasonably believes that some policy, practice, or 

activity of the District is in violation of law, a written complaint must be filed by that employee with the 

District Administrator. If the complaint is about a practice or activity of the District Administrator, the 

complaint must be filed with the Board President.  

B. Purpose:  It is the intent of the District to adhere to all laws and regulations that apply to the District, and the 

underlying purpose of this provision is to support the District’s goal of legal compliance. The support of all 

employees is necessary to achieving compliance with various laws and regulations. 

C. Anti-Retaliation:  An employee is protected from retaliation only if the employee brings the alleged unlawful 

policy, practice, or activity to the attention of the District and provides the District with a reasonable 

opportunity to investigate and correct the alleged unlawful policy, practice, or activity pursuant to the 

District’s chain of command or complaint policies. The protection described below is only available to 

employees who comply with this requirement. The protection against retaliation that is described below does 

not limit the District from taking disciplinary or other employment action, including termination, against an 

employee where that discipline or employment action is not based on the employee’s filing of a good faith 

complaint under this policy. The District will not retaliate against an employee who in good faith has made a 

protest or raised a complaint against some policy, practice, or activity of the District, or of another individual 

or entity with whom the District has a business relationship, on the basis of a reasonable belief that the 

file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/kseifert/Application%20Data/Microsoft/Word/www.colby.k12.wi.us


 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 36 

policy, practice, or activity is in violation of law or a clear mandate of public policy.   The District will not 

retaliate against an employee who discloses or threatens to disclose to a supervisor or a public body any 

policy, practice, or activity of the District that the employee reasonably believes is in violation of law or a 

rule or regulation mandated pursuant to law or is in violation of a clear mandate of public policy concerning 

the health, safety, welfare, or protection of the environment.  Nothing herein shall limit or diminish an 

employee’s protections against retaliation for filing a complaint, or participating in an investigation or legal 

proceeding, if such actions are protected by state and/or federal law. 

3.41 Work Made for Hire 
Occasionally an employee has questions regarding the use of materials to be included in books or other commercial 

materials. Such materials created by the employee may include lesson plans, staff development presentations or tests/test 

items. Any work prepared by an employee within the scope of his/her employment is owned by the District. Under 

federal copyright laws, this is called “work made for hire.” An employee with questions regarding ownership or 

copyrights on materials prepared within the scope of his/her employment should consult with his/her supervisor. 

3.42 Workplace Safety 
A. Adherence to Safety Rules: All employees shall adhere to District safety rules and regulations and shall 

report unsafe conditions or practices to the appropriate supervisor.  Fire safety is an essential element of 

having a safe working environment.  Employees should know the following: 

1. Location of fire alarms; 

2. Location of fire extinguishers; 

3. Evacuation routes;  and 

4. Whom to notify in case of fire 

Employees need to take precautions to prevent fires from occurring. In the event of a fire, the most important 

task is to sound the alarm and clear the building. Employees should not risk their safety in fighting fires. 

B. Protection of Staff:  An employee shall report all cases of assault or injury suffered in connection with 

employment in the performance of duties to the District Administrator or his/her designee, who shall 

acknowledge receipt of such report and keep the staff involved informed of action taken.  

1. “Injury” means physical harm to an employee caused by accident or disease in the performance of duties 

by the employee. 

2. “Performance of duties” means duties performed within the employee’s authorized scope of employment 

and performed in the line of duty. 

C. Notification of Safety and Health Standards:  Section § 101.055 of the Wisconsin statutes requires the 

Wisconsin Department of Safety and Professional Services to adopt and enforce safety and health standards 

that will provide protection to public employees at least equal to that provided to private sector employees 

under standards promulgated by federal Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA).  A District 

employee who believes that a safety or health standard is being violated, or that a situation exists which 

poses a recognized hazard likely to cause death or serious physical harm, may request the District to conduct 

an internal review of the matter.  Furthermore the employee may request the Wisconsin Department of Safety 

and Professional Services to conduct an inspection.  

Discrimination 

The District shall not discriminate against or discharge any employee for exercising any right afforded by 

this section.  An employee may file a grievance under the Part I, section 5 of this Handbook and Board 

Policy #720 to address the workplace safety issues as defined in subsection F, below.  The employee may, in 

his/her discretion also file a complaint with the state Division of Equal Rights within thirty (30) days if the 

employee believes a violation of the first sentence of this paragraph occurred. See WIS. STAT. § 101.055; 

Public Employee Safety and Health, available at http://commerce.wi.gov/sb/docs/SB-

PubSectSafEmployeePoster9301.pdf 

D. Weapons Prohibition:   Except as otherwise permitted by this section, firearms and dangerous weapons are 

prohibited on all property of the District.  The prohibition includes firearms in vehicles on school property.  

Firearms and dangerous weapons have the definitions set forth in the following statutory provisions: WIS. 

STAT. §§ 120.13(1), 948.60, 948.605, 948.61. 

1. This prohibition does not apply where state law prohibits a school district from restricting any 

http://www.colby.k12.wi.us/cms_files/resources/720safety.pdf
http://www.colby.k12.wi.us/cms_files/resources/720safety.pdf
http://commerce.wi.gov/sb/docs/SB-PubSectSafEmployeePoster9301.pdf
http://commerce.wi.gov/sb/docs/SB-PubSectSafEmployeePoster9301.pdf


 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 37 

individual’s right to possess a firearm or other weapon in a location covered by this policy (e.g., law 

enforcement officers possessing a firearm or other weapon on school grounds in the line of duty). 

2. The building principal may allow a weapon on school premises for purposes of demonstration or 

educational presentations.  This approval must be in writing and granted prioir to the weapon being 

brought to the school.  The weapon shall be maintained in the possession of the principal except during 

the actual demonstration or presentation. 

3. Firearms or other weapons used for hunting may be allowed on school property for hunter safety classes, 

but only during non-school hours and after approval, in writing, from the District Administrator.  The 

person(s) conducting the hunter safety class will assume responsibility for the safe handling and care of 

the firearms/weapons and see to it that all firearms/weapons are removed from the premises promptly 

after the class. 

4. Hunting may be allowed in the school forest when school or rental groups are not using the property and 

with written permission from the District Administrator.  Hunting for a wild animal will not be permitted 

in the school forest when there is not an open season for that animal on land adjacent to the school forest. 

 All persons authorized to hunt in the school forest shall abide by state and federal laws while hunting on 

school forest property including, without limitation, laws applicable to firearms and hunting, and shall 

abide by all District rules regarding the use of the school forest. 

E. Disaster Preparedness:  All employees must become familiar with building procedures in the event of 

emergency such as fire, tornado, intruders, etc. When drills are staged, every staff member and student must 

follow proper procedures. 

F. Workplace Safety Definition for Grievance Procedure:   In accordance with relevant state law, the grievance 

procedure established by the District permits employees to file grievances over workplace safety.  For 

purposes of that procedure, the following guidelines shall apply: 

1. A grievance can be filed over workplace safety only if the safety of at least one employee is involved (as 

opposed to the safety of students or visitors). 

2. The issue must concern the safety of a person (e.g., not the “safety” of one’s vehicle or other personal 

possessions). 

3. The grievance must be filed by the affected employee(s) (i.e., one employee may not file on behalf of 

another). 

4. The individual(s) filing the grievance must propose a specific remedy. 

5. The issue and proposed remedy must be under the reasonable control of the District. 

3.43 Violence in the Workplace 
A. Expectations:  Violent behavior of any kind or threats of violence, either direct or implied, are prohibited on 

District property and at District sponsored events. The District will not tolerate such conduct in its 

employees, former employees, contractors, or visitors.  An employee who exhibits violent behavior shall be 

subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination and may also be referred to law enforcement.    

B. Definitions as Used Under this Section: 

1. Workplace Violence: Behavior in which an employee, former employee, contractor or visitor to a 

workplace inflicts or threatens to inflict damage to property, serious harm, injury or death to others at the 

District or under the direct supervision of the District. 

2. Threat:  A communicated intent to inflict physical or other harm on any person or property. 

3. Intimidation: Behavior or communication that comprises coercion, extortion, duress or putting in fear. 

4. Court Order: An order by a Court that specifies and/or restricts the behavior of an individual. Court 

Orders may be issued in matters involving domestic violence, stalking or harassment, among other types 

of protective orders, including temporary restraining orders. 

C. Prohibited Behavior:  Violence in the workplace may include, but is not limited to, the following list of 

prohibited behaviors directed at or by an employee, supervisor or visitor: 

1. Assault or battery. 

2. Blatant or intentional disregard for the safety or well-being of others. 

3. Commission of a violent felony or misdemeanor. 

4. Dangerous or threatening horseplay or roughhousing. 

5. Direct threats or physical intimidation. 



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 38 

6. Loud, disruptive, profane or obscene language or gestures that are clearly not part of the typical school 

district learning environment. 

7. Physical restraint, confinement. 

8.  Possession of weapons of any kind on District property [please see section 3.43]. 

9. Stalking. 

10. Any other act that a reasonable person would perceive as constituting a threat of violence. 

D. Reporting Procedure:  An employee who is the victim of violence, believes he/she has been threatened with 

violence, or witnesses an act or threat of violence towards anyone else shall take the following steps: 

1. If an emergency exists and the situation is one of immediate danger, the employee shall contact the local 

law enforcement by dialing 9-1-1, and may take whatever emergency steps are available and appropriate to 

protect him/herself from immediate harm, such as leaving the area. 

2. If the situation is not one of immediate danger, the employee shall report the incident to the appropriate 

supervisor or his/her designee as soon as possible and complete a written statement. 

An employee who has received a restraining order, temporary or permanent, against an individual, who may 

impact the employee at work [e.g. verbal or physical contact or proximity has been prohibited or restricted], 

shall immediately supply a copy of the signed order to his/her supervisor. The supervisor shall provide copies 

to the other appropriate supervisors and inform other employees on an as-needed basis. 

E. Investigation and Investigation Findings:  The District will investigate all complaints filed and may 

investigate in other situations where no complaint was filed but was brought to the District’s attention. 

Retaliation against a person who makes a good-faith complaint regarding violent behavior or threats of 

violence made to him/her is also prohibited. 

In appropriate circumstances, the District will inform the reporting individual of the results of the 

investigation. To the extent possible, the District will maintain the confidentiality of the reporting employee 

and the investigation, but may need to disclose results in appropriate circumstances; (e.g., in order to protect 

individual safety or to conduct an adequate investigation).  The District will not tolerate retaliation against 

any employee who in good faith reports workplace violence. 

3.44 Legal Custodian of Records 
For purposes of applicable public records law, the District’s legal custodian is the District Administrator, who is vested 

by the Board with full legal power to render decisions and carry out the district’s statutory public records responsibilities.  

3.45 Breastfeeding 
Upon request, the District shall provide a reasonable break time for an employee to express breast milk for her nursing 

child for one year after the child’s birth each time such employee has the need to express the milk.  For members of the 

professional teaching staff, “reasonable break time” generally means periods during the day when they are not engaged in 

instruction with students.  Furthermore, the District shall provide a place, other than a bathroom, that is shielded from 

view and free from intrusion from coworkers and the public, which may be used by an employee to express breast milk.  

Preferably, the space should have an electrical outlet for use by the employee. 

Non-exempt employees(support staff)  under the Fair Labor Standards Act shall not be compensated for any break taken 

for the purpose of expressing milk, unless such break would otherwise be compensable.  Non-exempt employees shall not 

engage in any work-related activities during breaks used to express milk. 

Jokes or harassment based on breastfeeding will not be tolerated.  If an employee is the subject of such jokes or 

harassment on that basis, she shall report the incident(s) up the chain of command. 

 

SECTION 4. MANAGEMENT RIGHTS 

4.01 Delineation of Rights 
Management retains all rights of possession, care, control and management that it has by law, and retains the right to 

exercise these functions. The exercise of such powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities by the Board, the 

adoption of policies, rules, regulations and practices in furtherance thereof, and the use of judgment and discretion in 

connection therewith shall be limited only to the precise extent such functions and rights are explicitly, clearly and 



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 39 

unequivocally restricted by the express terms of this Handbook/individual contracts and then only to the extent such 

specific and express terms hereof are in conformance with the Constitution and laws of the State of Wisconsin and the 

United States. These rights include, but are not limited by enumeration to, the following rights: 

A. To direct all operations of the school system; 

B. To establish and require observance of reasonable work rules and schedules of work; 

C. To hire, promote, transfer, schedule and assign employees in positions within the school system; 

D. To suspend, discharge and take other disciplinary action against employees; 

E. To relieve employees from their duties because of lack of work or any other legitimate reason; 

F. To maintain efficiency of school system operations; 

G. To take whatever action is necessary to comply with state or federal law, or to comply with state or federal 

court or agency decisions or orders; 

H. To introduce new or improved methods or facilities; 

I. To select employees, establish quality standards and evaluate employee performance; 

J. To determine the methods, means and personnel by which school system operations are to be conducted; 

K. To take whatever action is necessary to carry out the functions of the school system in situations of 

emergency; 

L. To determine the educational policies of the District; and 

M. To contract out for goods and services. 

4.02 Sole Basis 
This section does not describe any rights of the employee(s). Accordingly, the employee(s), may not base any charge of a 

Handbook violation under the District’s grievance process or any other forum solely on this section. 

 

SECTION 5. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 

5.01 Purpose 
The purpose of this Section is to provide for the exclusive internal method for resolving grievances concerning discipline, 

termination and workplace safety. A determined effort shall be made to settle any grievance at the lowest possible level in 

the grievance procedure.  

5.02 Definitions 
A grievance is defined as a dispute or misunderstanding regarding the actions of School District officials with regard to 

only the following: 

 Employee Termination – Specifically excludes voluntary termination/quits, layoffs, retirement, non-renewals, job 

abandonment, and end of employment due to temporary employment and job transfers.  (Reference Part I, 1.02J) 

 Employee Discipline – Specifically excludes oral and written reprimands, performance improvement plans, 

notice of expectations, required counseling,  transfers/reassignments, and paid administrative leaves.  Would 

include unpaid suspensions, disciplinary demotion and other disciplinary action impacting pay/wage.  (Reference 

Part I, 1.02C) 

 Workplace safety – In accordance with relevant state law, the grievance procedure established by the District 

permits employees to file grievances over workplace safety (Reference Part I, 3.42).  For purposes of that 

procedure, the following guidelines shall apply: 

1. A grievance can be filed over workplace safety only if the safety of at least one employee is involved (as 

opposed to the safety of students or visitors). 

2. The issue must concern the safety of a person (e.g., not the “safety” of one’s vehicle or other personal 

possessions.) 

3. The grievance must be filed by the affected employee(s) (i.e., one employee may not file on behalf of 

another). 

4. The individual(s) filing the grievance must propose a specific remedy. 

5. The issue and proposed remedy must be under the reasonable control of the District. 

 

The non-renewal of an individual teacher contract issued pursuant to Section 118.21 and Section 118.24, Wis. Stats., are 

not subject to this procedure and are addressed solely under the timelines and procedures mandated by Section 118.22 



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 40 

and Section 118.24 of the Wisconsin Statutes, as applicable. 

5.03 Time Limits 
The time limits set forth in this Section shall be considered as substantive, and failure of the grievant to file and process 

the grievance within the time limits set forth in this Section shall be deemed a waiver and a settlement of the grievance. 

The number of days indicated at each level should be considered a maximum. The time limits specified may, however, be 

extended by the mutual consent of the District and the grievant.  The parties may, through mutual consent, agree to start 

the grievance at a higher step if the grievance involves termination and is initially filed in a timely manner pursuant to the 

timelines set forth below. 

5.04 Grievance Procedure 
Step 1:  Prior to filing a written grievance, employees should discuss any problem or complaint with their Principal to see 

if the grievance can be resolved. 

Step 2:  If the grievance cannot be resolved at Step 1, the employee must file a written grievance with their Principal no 

later than ten (10) calendar days from the date the employee first became aware of the termination, discipline, or 

workplace safety condition causing the grievance. The Principal shall respond to the grievance in writing within seven (7) 

calendar days of receipt of the written grievance.   

Step 3:  If the grievance is not settled at Step 2, the employee must file a written request for a hearing before an impartial 

hearing officer.  This request must be received by the Superintendent no later than fourteen (14) calendar days after the 

employee receives the Principal’s written response.  The hearing on the issue addressed in the grievance shall be held at a 

mutually agreeable time. 

Step 4:  The Superintendent shall transmit the grievance and all responses to the Hearing Officer.  As soon as is 

practicable thereafter, the Superintendent or designee shall schedule dates and secure a room for the hearing.  All 

hearings shall be held in a public building.   The Hearing Officer shall have the authority to administer oaths and issue 

subpoenas at the request of the parties and shall be responsible for the fair and orderly conduct of the hearing and the 

preservation of the record.  Any party requesting a subpoena will be responsible for the fees associated with the 

subpoena.  All testimony shall be taken under oath and shall be recorded by a court reporter under the supervision and 

control of the Hearing Officer.  All cost associated with the court reporter and preparation of a transcript of the hearing 

shall be paid by the School District.  The School District shall have the burden of proof to substantiate and justify the 

action taken against the employee by the preponderance of the evidence.  The Hearing Officer may only overrule 

disciplinary action if the action taken by the School District was arbitrary and capricious.  The Hearing Officer shall 

submit his or her decision affirming or reversing the action with the reasons therefore in writing to the Superintendent 

within thirty (30) calendar days of the close of the hearing or the submission of the parties’ briefs, if any, whichever is 

later.  The Superintendent shall mail a copy of the Hearing Officer’s decision to the last known address of each of the 

parties.  

Step 5:  Within fourteen (14) calendar days of the date the Hearing Officer’s decision is mailed, either party may file with 

the Superintendent a written notice of appeal of the Hearing Officer’s determination to the School Board.  Any such 

appeal shall be on the written record, the preparation of which shall be the responsibility of the party seeking the appeal.  

The appealing party shall supply a copy of the written record to the other party without charge.  The written record shall 

be filed with the Superintendent within twenty (20) calendar days of the notice of appeal.  The School Board shall receive 

no further evidence on the matter but may request additional briefs of the parties on matters which were raised before the 

Hearing Examiner.  The School Board shall have the right to secure outside counsel if necessary during the process. 

Step 6:  Within sixty (60) calendar days of the receipt of the written record, the School Board shall make and file its 

written decision with the Superintendent.  The Superintendent shall within five (5) calendar days mail a copy of 

the decision to the last known address of the grievant.  The Hearing Examiner’s determination shall be affirmed if the 

School Board determines that credible evidence in the record and subsequent briefs support it.  If the determination is not 

supported by a majority of the School Board, the Committee may reverse the determination or modify it to serve the best 

interest of the School District. 

5.041 Hearing Officer 
The School District may contract with a Hearing Officer to hear and determine appeals at Step 4.  Any Hearing 

Officer so engaged shall not be a School District employee or entitled to any compensation or benefit other than 

those described herein:  

A. Hearing Officer List  



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 41 

The Superintendent shall maintain a panel of at least five (5) individuals who have indicated a willingness to 

serve in such capacity and who are experienced in personnel matters or who are attorneys, or retired members of 

the judiciary.   

B. Compensation  

The Hearing Officer shall be compensated at the Hearing Officer’s regular rate for the hearing   and time spent 

composing the decision.  Compensation for an Hearing Officer will be split evenly between the School District 

and the party appealing a disciplinary action. 

5.042 Settlement of Grievance 
A grievance shall be considered waived if not filed or appealed within the grievance timelines.  A grievance shall 

be considered settled at the completion of any step in the procedure if all Parties concerned are mutually 

satisfied.  All settlements shall be in writing and signed by the    grievant and the Superintendent.  Dissatisfaction 

is implied in recourse from one step to the next. 

5.05 Grievances Filed by the District Administrator 
In the event a grievance is filed by the District Administrator, it shall be initially filed with the Board President and Board 

Clerk according to the deadlines established within Step 1 of this grievance procedure, above, and the Board shall have 

the role and responsibilities of the District Administrator in Step 2 and elsewhere in the process. All other notices 

provided by the District Administrator acting as a grievant shall similarly be filed with the Board President and Board 

Clerk. 

5.06 Grievant's Right to Representation 
Any grievant may be represented at all stages of the grievance procedure by a representative(s) of his/her own choosing.   

5.07 Consolidation of Grievances 
Grievances of the same type, and with similar fact situations, may be consolidated at the discretion of the Administration. 

SECTION 6. PAY PERIODS 

6.01 Annualized Payroll Cycle  
A. School Year Employees:    

1. Salaried Payroll:  All school year employees covered under this provision shall have their wages 

annualized based upon the number of hours worked per day, annual number of days worked, current 

wage/salary rate, and number of payrolls in accordance with the District-approved format.   

2. Hourly Payroll:  For employees who are paid at an hourly rate, the payroll cycle shall be on a ten (10)- 

month basis and shall be placed on a twenty (20) payroll cycle.  

B. Calendar Year Employees:  All employees scheduled to work the calendar year will be placed on a bi-weekly 

payroll cycle.   

6.02 Payroll Dates 
The payroll dates shall be bi-weekly on Friday.  If a paid holiday falls on a Friday pay date, payroll deposits shall be 

issued on the preceding day.  The first pay date of the school year for school year employees(salaried payroll) will be the 

last regular pay period in August. 

6.03 Direct Deposit Payment Method 
 All employees shall participate in a direct payroll deposit plan. Direct deposit statements will be emailed to the 

employee’s District email account on each pay day.  Direct deposit changes may be made after giving thirty (30) calendar 

days notice in writing.  Each non-exempt employee shall, with each electronic payroll deposit slip, receive information 

indicating the number of hours for which straight time hourly pay is received and the number of hours for which the 

overtime rate of pay is received.  Each exempt employee shall, with each electronic payroll deposit slip, receive 

information on the employee’s salary received.  In addition to the above, each employee shall have access to electronic 

records indicating the number of accumulated leave days, and the number of vacation days to be taken and the number 

remaining. 



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 42 

6.04 Definitions for Payroll Purposes Only 
A. Day:  A day shall run from 12:00 midnight (12:00 a.m.) to 11:59 p.m. 

B. Week:  A week shall run from 12:00 midnight (12:00 a.m.) Sunday until 11:59 p.m. the following Saturday. 

C. Pay Period:  The pay periods are bi-weekly as defined in 6.04B. 

6.05 Salary Deferrals –Tax Sheltered Annuities (TSA) 
A. The District will maintain a TSA program without regard to the employee’s current or former employee’s 

contribution amounts.  Employees shall have the opportunity to participate in the District’s Internal Revenue 

Service (IRS) Code 403(b) Savings Program and invest their money through salary deferral in annuities and 

other qualifying IRS Code 403(b)(7) investment vehicles (collectively referred to as an “Investment 

Vehicle”).   

B. The purchase of the annuity will be optional for the individual employee. The employee may make 403(b) 

elective salary reductions in one or both of the following ways: 

1. Pre-tax dollars (salary reduction, also known as “regular” TSA contributions) or  

2. After tax dollars (also known as “Roth” TSA contributions). 

C. Employee will be permitted to have their contribution remitted via payroll deduction to an Investment 

Vehicle offered by a vendor listed as a District-approved vendor, as required by the IRS Code and as directed 

by the District’s plan document.   

D. A vendor becomes a District-approved vendor by meeting the requirements set forth by the District which 

include, but are not limited to, the vendor signing a District-approved Hold Harmless Agreement.  The 

District may ask for proof of vendor registration from the teacher to ensure a District-approved vendor has 

been chosen.  If at any time there are no active employees contributing to a particular vendor, that vendor 

may be removed from the District-approved vendor list. 

E. The amount to be deducted is selected and the determination made wholly by the person choosing to 

participate in the Savings Program.   

F. If the vendor accepts electronic payments, the District will electronically transmit to the TSA vendor(s) the 

amount of the salary deferral elected by the employee if the vendor does not accept electronic payments, the 

District will make the payments by paper check.  This new provision for transmitting to vendors will require 

the District to transmit the amount of salary deferral twice a month, if the vendor provides the District with 

an invoice twice per month. The salary deferral will be transmitted on or about the date the money is 

deducted from the employee’s paycheck, provided that the District receives the appropriate invoice from the 

vendor.  In unforeseen circumstances, transmittals will be made no later than fifteen (15) business days 

following the end of the month in which the amount would have been paid to the participant. 

G. Employees may choose to defer either a percent of salary or a specific dollar amount up to the amount 

permitted by law.  The salary reduction limit (402(g)(1)), the age fifty (50) additional deferral 

(414(v)(2)(B)(i)), and the “catch up” provision (402(g)(7)) for employees with fifteen (15) or more years of 

service may change annually.   

H. The salary reduction limits will be adjusted from time to time to conform to statutory limits. 

I. Catch-Up Contributions  

1. Documentation will only be required where the employee’s total (and Age 50+) deferrals for the calendar 

year are in excess of the 402(g) limits.  

2. The employee agrees to provide documentation certifying compliance with applicable IRS rules and 

regulations from the Employee’s TSA vendor within thirty (30) calendar days if requested by the District.  

3. The District agrees to provide the employee, upon written request, with timely information available 

from the District’s records, which is necessary to enable the employee to make catch-up deferrals. 

J. General: 

1. The employee shall be permitted to change the TSA amount or vendor three (3) times per calendar year, 

unless otherwise permitted by the Bookkeeper, provided he/she provides the District with at least ten (10) 

business days notice prior to the second payroll date of the month.  Stopping contributions does not 

constitute a change.  Upon initial enrollment for new employees, the employee shall certify in writing as 

requested by the District but no more than two times per year (e.g., due to a change in full-time 

equivalency, absence, other deferrals, etc.), that the percentage or dollar amount of salary reduction 

withheld from compensation complies with the limits applicable to 403(b) TSA plan deferrals and does 



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 43 

not exceed the amount permitted under Section 403(b), 415 and 402(g) of the IRS Code except as 

provided for below.  

2. In no event shall the employee’s contribution exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the employee’s 

compensation less payroll and other required deductions.  Employee and employer contributions are 

100% vested and non-forfeitable at all times. 

3. New loans from the TSA plan are not permitted.   

4. Hardship withdrawals are permitted and IRS safe harbor standards with respect to estimating an 

immediate and heavy financial need [Treasury Section 401(k)-1(d)(3)(iii)(B) will be used].  Contact the 

vendor or plan administrator for further details if a hardship withdrawal is requested. 

K. Salary Reduction Agreement: 

1. Employees will be required to sign an agreement to authorize TSA deductions from salary.  The current 

agreement is available from the Bookkeeper at the District Office.   The District, without the consent of 

the employee, is authorized to modify the salary reduction agreement to comply with applicable legal 

requirements.  The District will provide the employee with reasonable notice concerning any such 

modification. 

2. The District will provide the employee with a dated and initialed copy of the authorized salary reduction 

agreement once the employer acknowledges receipt of the modified salary reduction agreement. 

3. A change in a beneficiary designation shall take effect when the election is accepted by the Vendor. 

4. By authorizing TSA deductions from his/her salary, the Employee acknowledges the District made no 

representation to the Employee regarding the advisability, appropriateness or tax consequences of any 

salary reduction agreement, participation in a tax sheltered annuity, or the company which issues the 

annuity contract or which invests the Employee’s salary reduction funds.  Furthermore, the Employee 

agrees the District shall have no liability whatsoever for any loss, solvency, operation or benefits 

provided by the TSA vendor.  

L. Deferred Compensation:  Employees may defer salary through the Wisconsin Deferred Compensation Plan 

(457).  The plan limitations and salary deferral rights will be those permitted by the TSA unless the Deferred 

Compensation plan’s rules are in conflict, in which case the Deferred Compensation rules shall apply. 

 

SECTION 7. COMPENSATION AND EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT 

APPLICABLE TO ALL DISTRICT EMPLOYEES 

7.01 Mileage Reimbursement 
The District shall reimburse employees an amount equal to the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) business travel 

rate per mile to each employee required by the District to drive his or her personal vehicle during the course of 

performing duties for the District.  Forms to be used to report mileage shall be available on the district website 

www.colby.k12.wi.us. 

 

SECTION 8. WORKER’S COMPENSATION 

8.01 Worker's Compensation Coverage and Reporting Responsibilities 
 All employees shall be covered by Worker's Compensation Insurance.  Any employee who is injured on the job 

shall report the injury to the District Office prior to seeking medical attention if at all possible.  In the event of an 

emergency, the employee shall notify his/her immediate supervisor within twenty-four (24) hours after the 

occurrence of the injury or as soon as practicable.  The employee shall fill out an accident report form available 

on the district website www.colby.k12.wi.us. 

8.02 Benefits While on Worker's Compensation 
 If any employee is injured while performing duties for the District, the District shall continue to provide worker's 

compensation insurance, and the employee will be compensated in the following manner: 

A. Up to and including the sixtieth (60th) day Up to day sixty (60) of Worker’s Compensation Leave:  The 

employee will be paid income equivalent to the income the employee would have earned had the employee 

file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/kseifert/Application%20Data/Microsoft/Word/www.colby.k12.wi.us
http://www.colby.k12.wi.us/


 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 44 

not been injured. This income will be generated by combining worker's compensation insurance with 

prorated accumulated sick leave as necessary through a deduction of one-third (1/3) of a day of sick leave for 

each work day the employee is absent from work while on worker's compensation.  This provision will apply 

up until the sixtieth (60th) consecutive day of leave or as long as the employee has accumulated sick leave 

available, whichever occurs first. 

B. Day Sixty-One (61) and thereafter of Worker’s Compensation Leave:  The employee will receive his/her 

worker's compensation payment.  No other leaves will be applied to the worker's compensation leave.  The 

employee, subject to the rules and regulations of the carrier, may be eligible for long-term disability leave.    

8.03 Injuries Not Covered by Worker’s Compensation 
Some types of injuries suffered while at work may not be covered by worker’s compensation insurance.  

Examples of non-covered injuries suffered at work include, but are not limited by enumeration to, the following: 

A.  Injuries because of a self-inflicted wound 

B. Injuries sustained because of an employee’s horseplay. 

C. Injuries sustained while an employee does an activity of a strictly private nature. 

 

SECTION 9. SICK LEAVE 

9.01 Sick Leave Earned 
A. Calendar Year Employees (260 Day):  Each employee shall be credited with one (1) day of paid sick leave 

per month of employment to a maximum of twelve (12) days per contract year. 

B. Professional Exempt Employees (teachers): Each employee shall be credited with twelve (12) sick leave days 

per contract year. 

C. School Year Employees:  Each employee shall be credited with one (1) day of paid sick leave per month of 

employment to a maximum of twelve (12) days per contract year.   

1. Employees working at least 200 days are considered 10 month employees. 

2. Employees working less than 200 days are considered 9 month employees. 

D. Crediting of Sick Leave:  Sick leave though credited at the beginning of each fiscal year is vested only upon 

completion of the work year.  Any employee terminated or resigning will be credited only with those days 

earned at the time employment is severed.   

E. Part-time Employees:  Part-time employees will receive sick leave on a pro-rated basis based upon the 

number of hours they are scheduled to work. 

9.02 Sick Leave Use 
A. Sick leave shall be paid for any absence from work due to the: 

1. Personal illness, injury or serious health condition of the employee, member of immediate family, or 

other individual as specifically approved by the District Administrator. 

2. Medical or dental appointments for the employee and/or member of immediate family that cannot be 

scheduled outside of the employee's regularly scheduled work hours. 

B. Definitions:  the following definitions apply under this section: 

1. Immediate Family: 

 a. Child:  means a natural, adopted, foster or treatment foster child, a stepchild or a legal ward. 

 b. Parent:  means a natural parent, foster parent, treatment foster parent, adoptive parent, stepparent or 

legal guardian of an employee or an employee's spouse or domestic partner. 

 c. Spouse:  means an employee's legal husband or wife. 

2. Serious Health Condition:  means a disabling physical or mental illness, injury, impairment or condition 

involving any of the following: 

a. Inpatient care in a hospital, nursing home, or hospice. 

b. Outpatient care that requires continuing treatment or supervision by a health care provider. 

 C. Sick Leave Increments:  Sick leave may be allowed in increments of one-half hour.  

9.03 Sick Leave Accumulation 
Sick leave for employees will accumulate for full-time and part-time employees to a maximum of 100 days.   



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 45 

9.04 Pay for Unused Sick Leave  
A. Retirement: Employees eligible for retirement will be compensated at forty ($40) per day for each whole 

day of unused sick leave.  The maximum number of eligible days shall be one hundred (100).  Employees 

with more than one hundred (100) accumulated days as of July 1, 2007, will be grandfathered for the purpose 

of this retirement pay provision.  No retirement pay will be made to any employee dismissed with discipline.  

B. Severance:  Employees not eligible for retirement will be paid ten ($10) per day for each whole day of 

unused sick leave.  The maximum number of eligible days shall be one-hundred (100).  Employees with more 

than one-hundred (100) accumulated days as of July 1, 2007, will be grandfathered for the purpose of this 

retirement pay provision.  No severance pay will be made to any employee dismissed with discipline. 

C. Buy-Back: At the end of each year, persons with more than one hundred (100) maximum cumulative days of 

sick leave and those with a grandfathered total greater than one hundred (100), will be paid for those days at 

the rate of twenty-five ($25) per day for full days.   

9.05 Sick Leave and Long-term Disability 
In the event an employee becomes eligible for benefits under the District's long term disability insurance program, the 

employee will no longer receive paid sick leave. 

9.06 Reporting Procedure - Doctor's Certificate 
If at all possible, each employee shall be required to inform his/her supervisor prior to or within the hour of his/her 

normal daily starting time of his/her need to be absent for one of the reasons stated in 9.02 above.  Whenever the 

supervisor deems such verification appropriate, the employee may be required to furnish the District with a certificate of 

illness signed by either a licensed physician or a nurse practitioner.  Such certificate should include a statement releasing 

the employee to return to work and a statement as to whether any limitations or restrictions are placed upon the work 

which may be performed.  Nothing in this section shall be interpreted as limiting the District's ability to discipline or 

discharge employees for excessive absenteeism. 

9.07 Holidays during Sick Leave 
In the event that a paid holiday falls within a period when an employee is on accumulated sick leave, it shall be charged 

as a paid holiday and not deducted from the employee's earned sick leave. 

9.08 Sick Leave Listing 
Each employee will be provided access to a current summary listing of his/her sick leave usage during the previous 

employment year. 

9.09 Accessing Employee Emergency Sick Leave Pool 
Annually by October 1 employees of the School District of Colby may designate that a contribution of from one to five 

sick days from any employee’s personal sick leave account may be allocated to the District’s Emergency Sick Leave 

Pool.  By this donation, the employee relinquishes any and all subsequent claims to the sick days being designated to the 

District Emergency Sick Leave Pool and all employees will be eligible to access sick days from the Emergency Sick 

Leave Pool whenever they may qualify as found in Board Policy #532.4. 

All employee contributors will sign a statement stipulating their voluntary contribution of one to five days to the 

Emergency Sick leave Pool for the designated school year, and acknowledging that each day contributed is surrendered 

with full knowledge of the post-retirement benefit value and impact.  

The days contributed to the pool will remain available for employees’ emergency use and the pool of unused sick days 

available for emergency use by employees will be carried to the subsequent year.  If, upon evaluation and 

recommendation of the Emergency Sick Leave Pool Review Committee, the number of sick leave days within the pool is 

deemed adequate for the school year, the Superintendent may declare a moratorium on contributions to the sick leave 

pool until such time as the unused sick days are depleted and a new contribution period is warranted. 

The District’s Administrative Assistant – Payroll maintains all employees’ sick leave records and will also manage 

recordkeeping for the District’s Emergency Sick Leave Pool.  Annually by October 1, the Administrative Assistant-

Payroll will report the number of accumulated days in the Emergency Sick Leave Pool to the District Comptroller. 

http://www.colby.k12.wi.us/cms_files/resources/532.4sick%20leave%20pool.pdf


 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 46 

If during the course of the school year, the Emergency Sick Leave Pool is depleted [no additional sick days are available 

for employees’ emergency use], the Superintendent may declare a two-week period whereby employees who desire to 

contribute to the pool again may certify one additional day as a contribution to the Emergency Sick Leave Pool for the 

current school year. 

When an employee is diagnosed with an illness or undergoes any accident, operation, or emergency circumstance for 

which sick leave would apply (excluding child rearing leave, unless other extenuating medical conditions are present) and 

for which the employee would be necessarily away from job tasks for ten days or more, the employee [or his designee] 

may make application for emergency sick days to the Superintendent who will forward this request to a meeting of the 

Emergency Sick Leave Pool Review Committee. 

The person requesting days from the Emergency Sick Leave Pool must stipulate that all other leaves—personal leave, 

applicable emergency leave, and sick leave—will have been exhausted by the date for which the emergency sick leave 

pool days are requested. 

The committee will consist of three members, including one representative from the Colby Education Association 

appointed by the organization’s president, one support staff member appointed by the superintendent, one principal 

appointed by the superintendent, and the school district comptroller, who will chair the review committee’s deliberations. 

The emergency sick leave pool review committee may allocate days from the emergency sick leave pool as requested by 

the employee until the employee qualifies for the district’s long-term disability insurance.  

The review committee will oversee all allocations of sick days from the emergency sick leave pool.   

 

SECTION 10. JURY DUTY LEAVES 

10.01 Jury Duty Leave 
Subject to the provision on “Payment for Time Out on Jury Duty” (see below), a non-accumulative paid leave for as 

much time as is required will be provided to an employee to serve on a jury for which he or she is summoned by the court 

when such duty occurs during the employee’s work hours.  No paid leave will be provided for jury duty that occurs 

outside of the employee’s regular work hours or work days. 

10.02 Employee Notice 
An employee must notify his or her immediate supervisor as soon as notice of jury duty is received.  Also, the employee 

is expected to contact his or her immediate supervisor immediately upon termination of jury duty or when temporarily 

relieved of jury duty. 

10.03 Payment for Time Out on Jury Duty 
An employee who is unable to report for work because of jury duty will be paid the regular hours he or she is scheduled 

to work.  The employee will send a copy of the check received from serving on the jury to the District Administrator 

and/or his/her designee and will be docked that amount (less any travel expenses received) on the next payroll.  The 

employee will not suffer any loss of benefits that would be accrued during this time (i.e. sick leave, health insurance, 

vacation, etc.) or loss of any salary adjustment to which the employee is entitled.  The time required for any employee to 

serve on jury duty will not be deducted from sick leave or vacation time the employee has earned or will earn in the 

future. 

 

SECTION 11. BEREAVEMENT LEAVE 

11.01 Bereavement/Funeral Leave for a Death in the Immediate Family 
In the event of death in an employee's immediate family, the employee shall be allowed per occurrence up to 3 day(s) off 

work with pay (if the employee has sick leave available).  Such days shall be deducted from the employee’s accumulated 

sick leave or, if no sick leave is available, taken without pay.  Immediate family includes the spouse, parents, domestic 

partner, children, brother, sister, grandchildren, grandparent, step-relatives of the same relationship as provided herein of 

the employee and his or her spouse.   



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 47 

11.02 Bereavement/Funeral Leave for a Death of an Individual Outside of the Immediate Family  
Employees shall be granted up to 1 day with pay (if the employee has sick leave available) per occurrence to attend 

funerals of aunts, uncles, nieces, nephews, first cousins and other individuals residing in the employee’s household.  Such 

days shall be deducted from the employee’s accumulated sick leave or, if no sick leave is available, taken without pay. 

11.03 Additional Bereavement Leave 
In extenuating circumstances, additional days may be granted by the District Administrator or his/her designee.  Such 

additional days, at the option of the employee, shall be deducted from the employee's accumulated sick leave if the 

employee wants paid leave. 

11.04 Bereavement Leave Increments 
Bereavement leave may be allowed in increments of one half-hour. 

 

SECTION 12. PERSONAL LEAVE 

12.01 Personal Days Provided  
A. Calendar Year Employees:  Employees shall be entitled to up to 2 days of personal leave each employment 

year.  Such days shall be deducted from the employee’s accumulated sick leave. 

B. School Year Employees:  Employees shall be entitled to up to 2 days of personal leave each employment 

year.  Such days shall be deducted from the employee’s accumulated sick leave. 

12.02 Reasons for Personal Leave 
Personal leave may be used for compelling personal obligations which cannot reasonably be conducted outside of the 

employee's workday.   

12.03 Personal Leave Day Restrictions 
Personal leave days shall not be used to extend a holiday, or school recess period.  The personal leave day will not be 

granted during the first or last week of a semester, on a parent-teacher conference day or on an in-service day.  Personal 

leave during these periods may be approved for personal business that cannot be rescheduled for a different time at the 

discretion of the District Administrator or his/her designee.   In addition, personal leave shall not be used to attend 

Association membership meetings or legislative rallies, to engage in job actions such as picketing or demonstrating, or to 

participate in activities designed to embarrass or discredit the District.   

12.04 Approval of Personal Leave and the Total Number of Employees on Personal Leave 
A. A request in writing to the Administrator shall be made as far in advance as possible, normally not less than 

five (5) days.  Emergencies may delay the submitting of the written statement until the employee returns to 

work. 

B. The Administrator has the right to approve or disapprove all requests. 

C. No more than three (3) employees covered under Part II of the handbook and no more than two (2) 

employees covered under Part III of the handbook per building may take personal leave on any given day 

when school is in session, unless the District Administrator or his/her designee grants approval to exceed the 

five (5) total employee limit per building.   

12.05 Part-time Employees 
Part-time employees will receive personal leave on a pro-rated basis based upon the number of hours they are scheduled 

to work.  The pro-rated amount shall be based on the assumption that a full-time employee works 2,080 hours per year. 

12.06 Personal Leave Increments 
Personal leave may be allowed in increments of one-half day. 

 

 



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 48 

SECTION 13. UNIFORMED SERVICES LEAVE 

13.01 Uniformed Services Leave of Absence 
Employees performing duty, whether on a voluntary or involuntary basis, in a uniformed service shall be granted a leave 

of absence without pay in accordance with the provisions of federal law, state law, and this Handbook. 

The “uniformed services” consist of the following [20 CFR § 1002.5(o)]: 

A. Army, Navy, Marine Corps, Air Force and Coast Guard  

B. Army Reserve, Naval Reserve, Marine Corps Reserve, Air Force Reserve and Coast Guard Reserve  

C. Army National Guard and Air National Guard  

D. Commissioned Corps of the Public Health Service  

E. Any other category of persons designated by the President in time of war or emergency  

13.02 Seniority/Length of Service during Uniformed Services Leave 
Employees shall continue to accrue length of service for wage/salary increments, if applicable, and all other purposes 

where length of service is a factor.  The employee's absence shall not be construed as a break in service for any purpose.   

 

Reemployment rights extend to persons who have been absent from a position of employment because of “service in the 

uniformed services.” “Service in the uniformed services” means the performance of duty on a voluntary or involuntary 

basis in a uniformed service, including: 

A. Active duty and active duty for training  

B. Initial active duty for training  

C. Inactive duty training  

D. Full-time National Guard duty  

E. Absence from work for an examination to determine a person’s fitness for any of the above types of duty  

F. Funeral honors duty performed by National Guard or Reserve members  

G. Duty performed by intermittent employees of the National Disaster Medical System (NDMS), which is part 

of the Department of Health and Human Services, when activated for a public health emergency, and 

approved training to prepare for such service (added by Pub. L. 107-188, June 2002). See 42 U.S.C. § 300hh-

11(d).  

13.03 Request for Uniformed Services Leave 
When time permits, the request for a reserve military leave should be as far in advance as possible so the employer can 

adequately plan for the absence.  Whenever possible, the request should be accompanied by a copy of the reservist's 

military orders.  The request shall be submitted to the District Administrator or his/her designee.  

 

SECTION 14. UNPAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE 

14.01 Medical Leave 
A. Application Procedures:  All requests for an unpaid medical leave of absence, other than emergencies, must 

be submitted to the District at least thirty (30) days prior to the anticipated beginning of the leave. Such 

application will be reviewed and processed by the District Administrator and shall be granted or denied in 

his/her sole discretion.  The request must be accompanied by a physician’s statement attesting to the 

disability and anticipated duration of the leave. The District reserves the right to request interim statements 

from the physician. The unpaid medical leave of absence shall not exceed one (1) calendar year, unless the 

employee is eligible for long-term disability.  If the employee is eligible for long-term disability benefits, the 

District shall grant an unpaid medical leave due to disability for up to a total leave period of twenty-four (24) 

months. 

B. Benefits During Leave:   

1. Length of service and other benefits shall not accrue during such leave.  

2. The employee may continue health insurance during the leave of absence by remitting the full premium 

amounts to the District.  The continuation of health insurance at the employee’s expense is contingent 

upon the health insurance carrier allowing such a benefit. If the premium is not received by the first of 



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 49 

the month, the employee’s insurance coverage shall be terminated. 

3. During the unpaid leave, the employee shall retain accumulated paid leave, but shall not accrue any 

additional paid leave during the unpaid leave. 

C. Placement upon Return from Leave:  The employee shall notify the District Administrator or his/her designee 

of the employee’s intent to return to work at least forty-five (45) days prior to the expiration of the leave.  If 

the employee does not provide such notice, he/she will be deemed to have resigned from his/her position with 

the District as of the expiration date of the leave.  Upon return from any leave of absence, the employee may 

be returned to his or her former position, if available. If the former position is not available as determined by 

the District, the employee shall be returned to a position equivalent in terms of percentage of contract unless 

the employee’s percentage of contract was reduced or increased due to nonrenewal or reduction in force 

layoff, whichever is applicable.  

The employee shall be eligible to return to duty from an unpaid medical leave of absence when he/she is 

physically able provided: 

1. The employee has previously indicated his/her intent to return to duty following the expiration of the 

medical leave. 

2. The employee provides his/her physician's certification that he/she is able to return to work. The District 

reserves the right to designate another physician to verify or refute the employee’s physician's 

certification. If the two physicians' certifications are in conflict, a third mutually agreed to physician will 

issue a physician's certification. The third physician's certification will be binding on the parties. The 

District will pay all costs associated with the second and third physician’s certification. 

 

D. Failure to Return after Expiration of Leave:  In the event the employee does not return to work following the 

expiration of the leave, and subject to applicable legal restrictions, he/she will be deemed to have resigned 

his/her position with the District and waived any and all rights to further employment by the District. 

E. Interaction with Family and Medical Leave Provisions: Unpaid medical leave, the term of such leave and 

participation in insurance programs under this section as provided for above shall run concurrent with any 

leave(s) provided for under the Wisconsin Family and Medical Leave Act and/or under the federal Family 

and Medical Leave Act. 

14.02 Child Rearing Leave 
A. Application Procedures: The employee shall make written application for an unpaid child rearing leave to the 

District Administrator at least 30 days in advance unless the employee is unable to provide such notice due to 

medical reasons, or in the case of an adoption, the employee is unable to provide such advance notice due to 

the placement requirements of the adoption process.  The application for an unpaid child rearing leave shall 

include acceptable medical or legal (for adoption) verification and the anticipated date of beginning the leave 

and return to work.  Such application will be reviewed and processed by the District Administrator and shall 

be granted or denied in his/her sole discretion. 

B. Duration of the Unpaid Child Rearing Leave: The maximum length of the leave shall be limited as follows: 

1. Child born or adopted during the summer vacation – the following two semesters. 

2. Child born or adopted during the first semester – the balance of that semester plus the second semester. 

3. Child born or adopted during the second semester – the balance of that semester plus the first semester of 

the following school year. 

 Shorter leave and/or an early return from the leave shall only be upon the mutual agreement of the employee 

and the Board. 

C. Benefits during the unpaid child rearing leave: 

1. The child rearing leave is an unpaid leave. 

2. During the unpaid child rearing leave, the employee may continue participation in insurance programs at 

his/her own expense subject to approval of the carrier.  If the premium is not received by the first of the 

month, the employee’s insurance coverage shall be terminated. 

3. During the unpaid child rearing leave, the employee teacher shall retain accumulated paid leave, but shall 

not accrue any additional paid leave during the unpaid child rearing leave. 

D. Return from the Unpaid Child Rearing Leave:  The employee shall notify the District Administrator or 

his/her designee of the employee’s intent to return to work at least forty-five (45) days prior to the expiration 



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 50 

of the leave.  If the employee does not provide such notice he/she will be deemed to have resigned from 

his/her position with the District as of the expiration date of the leave.  Upon return from any leave of 

absence, the employee may be returned to his or her former position, if available. If the former position is not 

available as determined by the District, the employee shall be returned to a position equivalent in terms of 

percentage of contract unless the employee’s percentage of contract was reduced or increased due to 

nonrenewal and/or layoff, whichever is applicable.  

E. Interaction with family and medical leave provisions: Child rearing leave, the term of such leave and 

participation in insurance programs under this section as provided for above shall run concurrent with any 

family leave(s) provided for under the Wisconsin Family and Medical Leave Act and/or under the Federal 

Family and Medical Leave Act. 

14.03 Unpaid Leave of Absence – For Other than Medical and Child Rearing Reasons 
A. Application Procedures:  All requests for other unpaid leave of absence, other than emergencies, must be 

submitted to the District at least 30 days prior to the anticipated beginning of the leave. Such application will 

be reviewed and processed by the District Administrator and shall be granted or denied in his/her sole 

discretion.  Requests for more than 30 days will require Board of Education approval.  The unpaid leave of 

absence shall not exceed one (1) calendar year. 

B. Benefits During Leave:   

1. Length of service and other benefits shall not accrue during such leave. 

2. The employee may continue health insurance during the leave of absence by remitting the full premium 

amounts to the District.  The continuation of health insurance at the employee’s expense is contingent 

upon the health insurance carrier allowing such a benefit. If the premium is not received by the first of 

the month, the employee’s insurance coverage shall be terminated. 

3. During the unpaid leave, the employee shall retain accumulated paid leave, but shall not accrue any 

additional paid leave during the unpaid child rearing leave. 

C. Placement upon Return from Leave:  The employee shall notify the District Administrator or his/her designee 

of the employee’s intent to return to work at least forty-five (45) days prior to the expiration of the leave.  If 

the employee does not provide such notice he/she will be deemed to have resigned from his/her position with 

the District as of the expiration date of the leave.  Upon return from any leave of absence, the employee may 

be returned to his or her former position, if available. If the former position is not available as determined by 

the District, the employee shall be returned to a position equivalent in terms of percentage of contract unless 

the employee’s percentage of contract was reduced or increased due to nonrenewal or reduction in force 

layoff, whichever is applicable.  

 

SECTION 15. BENEFITS APPLICABLE TO ALL EMPLOYEES 

15.01 Cafeteria Plan/Flexible Spending Account 
The District will provide an Internal Revenue Service authorized cafeteria plan/flexible spending account [FSA] under 

applicable sections of the Internal Revenue Code (§ 105, § 106, § 125 and § 129) to permit employees to reduce their 

salary and contribute to an FSA to cover the following expenses: 

A. Payment of insurance premium amounts (IRC § 106); 

B. Permitted medical expenses not covered by the insurance plan (IRC § 105) to the maximum permitted per 

calendar year until August 31, 2012, and  

C. Dependent care costs (IRC § 129) subject to the limitations set forth in the Internal Revenue Service Code. 

Effective September 1, 2012: An employee may designate, under the flexible reimbursement plan/cafeteria plan, a 

maximum of two thousand five hundred dollars ($2,500) of eligible health and dental care expenses not covered by the 

insurance plan (IRS Code § 105, § 125) per plan year.  

 

Payments and the designation of amounts to be contributed to the employee's account will be subject to the procedures, 

rules and regulations of the plan's administrating agency. The provision of this plan shall be contingent upon the 

continuance of this benefit under the applicable Internal Revenue Code Sections (§ 105, § 106, § 125 and § 129).   



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 51 

15.02 Health/Dental Insurance 
The Board of education shall provide health insurance and may provide dental insurance to eligible employees.  The 

District shall establish an annual budget for health and dental insurance for employees.  The District’s Health Insurance 

Committee shall negotiate rates, premiums and plan specifics with vendors and annually present this information to the 

Board.  The Board will make the final decision and approval of the insurance plans.  Plan specifics are available in 

Appendix Part I – 15.02. 

A. Eligibility.    

1. Minimum Hours for Any Board Contribution:  An employee whose individual contract has an assignment 

of at least fifty percent of full-time equivalency [50%] is eligible to participate in the District’s insurance. 

For purposes of employees’ eligibility for health insurance, full-time equivalency is defined as 35 hours 

per week during the school year.  Hours worked beyond those set forth in the individual contract shall not 

be used to determine insurance eligibility or insurance contributions.  Such hours excluded may include, 

but not be limited by enumeration, the following:  extended contracts, summer classes, co-curricular 

assignments, substitute assignments, etc.  Employees whose assignments are less than fifty percent of a 

full-time equivalency [50%] are not eligible to participate in the District’s insurance and are not eligible 

for any District premium contribution.  

2. Pro-ration of District Contributions:  Am employee whose individual contract has an assignment of at 

least fifty percent [50%] of a full-time equivalency, but less than a full-time one hundred percent [100%] 

assignment, shall have the District’s contribution prorated, consistent with the employee's percentage of 

employment.   

3. Both Spouses Employed by the District:  If both spouses are employed by the District and are eligible for 

insurance, the employees shall be eligible for two single plans or one family plan.  The premium 

contributions for spouses shall be no different than the premium contribution for a similarly-situated 

employee whose spouse does not work for the District.  As such, the following options exist for such 

spouses: 

a. Coverage under one family plan; or 

b. Two single plans; or 

c. HEALTH ONLY - One cash-in-lieu benefit instead of a family plan [subject to the eligibility of the 

insurance carrier]; or 

d. HEALTH ONLY - One single plan and one cash-in-lieu benefit 

B. Commencement and Termination of Benefits.  Coverage will commence on the first day of the month 

following the employee’s first day of employment and continue for a full twelve (12) month period. The 

insurance benefits described in this Handbook and on the individual contract terminate according to the 

following schedule: 

1. If an employee resigns or is terminated during the term of his/her individual contract, District coverage 

shall cease at the end of the month the resignation or termination becomes effective. 

2. If an employee resigns or is terminated who has completed the term of his/her contract, District coverage 

shall cease at the end of the month the resignation or termination becomes effective.  If an employee 

resigns or is terminated who has completed the school year, his/her insurance benefits shall terminate as 

of August 31.  However, if an administrator completes the terms of his/her contract, and if the last day of 

the contract is June 30, his/her insurance benefits shall terminate June 30
th
. 

15.03 Alternate Benefit Plan [ABP] in Lieu of Health Insurance 
Employees who qualify for health insurance and who choose not to participate in the District provided health insurance 

shall receive a payment of $3,500 into a Tax Sheltered Annuity (TSA) account to be paid yearly, during the last pay 

period in June.  Each employee affected will select a TSA from the eligible TSA companies in the district.  Employees 

participating in this option must notify the District Office, in writing, on or before August 24
th
 of each school year.  

Employees hired after August 24
th
, have ten (10) days from the date of signing the contract to make the above choice. 

15.04 Liability Insurance 
The School Board shall carry liability insurance which provides coverage for the acts of employees performed in 

accordance with their duties and within their scope of employment.  Employees shall be covered for liability in 

accordance with the terms of the District's liability insurance policy.  Employees may inspect the District's liability 

file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/kseifert/Application%20Data/Microsoft/Word/Appendix/Part%20I/Part%20I%20-%2015.02%20&%2015.03%20Insurance.docx


 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 52 

insurance policy upon request. 

15.05 Long-Term Disability 
The Board shall provide long-term disability insurance to eligible employees.  The insurance carrier(s), program(s), and 

coverages will be selected and determined by the Board.   

A. Eligibility:   

1. Minimum Hours for Any Board Contribution:  An employee whose individual contract has an assignment 

of at least 17.5 hours per week is eligible to participate in the District’s long-term disability insurance.  

Hours worked beyond those set forth in the individual contract shall not be used to determine insurance 

eligibility or insurance contributions.  Such hours excluded may include, but not be limited by 

enumeration to, the following: extended contracts, summer classes, co-curricular assignments, substitute 

assignments, etc.  Employees whose assignments are less than 17.5 hours per week are not eligible to 

participate in the District’s insurance and are not eligible for any District premium contribution.  

B. Commencement and Termination of Benefits.  Coverage will commence on the employee’s first day of 

employment and continue for a full twelve (12) month period. The long-term disability insurance benefits 

described in this Handbook and on the individual contract terminate according to the following schedule: 

1.  If an employee resigns or is terminated during the term of his/her individual contract, District coverage 

shall cease at the end of the month the resignation or termination becomes effective. 

2.  If an employee resigns or is terminated who has completed the term of his/her contract, District coverage 

shall cease at the end of the month the resignation or termination becomes effective.  However, if an 

administrator completes the terms of his/her contract, and if the last day of the contract is June 30, his/her 

long-term disability insurance benefits shall terminate June 30
th
.  If an employee resigns or is terminated 

who has completed the school year, his/her long-term disability insurance benefits shall terminate June 

30
th
.     

C. Premium Contributions:  The District shall pay 100% for long-term disability insurance.  The benefits will be 

equal to 90% of the employee's monthly wages.  Coverage shall begin after 60 consecutive calendar day of 

disability and continue until the employee is eligible to work or for 24 months or until employee reaches age 

65.  

15.06 COBRA Law Continuation of District Health Plan Participation 
The District, pursuant to the Federal Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA) and state law, offers 

employees the opportunity to remain on the District’s health, dental and vision insurance plan at the group rate in certain 

instances where coverage under the plan would otherwise end. 

A. Qualifying Events:  An employee, employee’s spouse and an employee's dependent children (if any) 

covered by and participating in the District’s health insurance plan (medical, dental, and vision), may qualify 

for continuation coverage if District -sponsored coverage is lost due to the occurrence of any of the following 

qualifying events: 

1. Voluntary or involuntary termination of employment for any reason other than “gross misconduct.” (e.g., 

resignation or retirement); 

2. Death of the covered employee; 

3. Divorce or legal separation from the covered employee; 

4. Loss of “dependent child” status; 

5. Eligibility for Medicare entitlement; 

6. Reduction in work hours such that the employee no longer qualifies for coverage under the plan. 

B. Period of COBRA Continuation:  In the event of one of the above qualifying events, COBRA coverage is 

available for up to eighteen (18) months, but may be extended to a total of twenty-nine (29) months in certain 

cases of disability (see Disability Extension below) or up to thirty-six (36) months if a qualifying spouse or 

dependent suffers a second qualifying event. The employee, employee’s spouse and each covered dependent 

has an individual right to request COBRA coverage.  Additionally, any child born to or placed for adoption 

with a covered employee during a period of continuation coverage is automatically considered a qualified 

beneficiary. 

C. COBRA Extension [Second qualifying events]:  A spouse or dependent child may be eligible for COBRA 

extension coverage for a period of up to thirty-six (36) months if coverage is lost due to one of the following 



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part I Page 53 

second qualifying events: 

1. The employee's death; 

2. Divorce or legal separation; 

3. The covered employee becomes eligible for Medicare; 

4. A child loses his or her “dependent child” status. 

 *Note: The second event can be a second qualifying event only if it would have caused the   qualified 

beneficiary to lose coverage under the plan in the absence of the first qualifying event. 

D. Premium Cost & Payment:  The cost for this extended continuation coverage shall not exceed the group 

rate in effect for an active group member, including the District’s contribution (i.e., the total amount the 

employee and District have been paying for health insurance coverage). If the cost for COBRA coverage 

changes during an employee’s participation the employee will be notified of the new premium in writing 

prior to its due date. 

E. Termination of Coverage:  Employee continuation coverage may be terminated automatically if:  

1. The employee fails to make a monthly premium payment to the District on time; 

2. The employee obtains similar coverage through a different employer; 

3. The employee becomes eligible for Medicare and convert to an individual policy; 

4. The District terminates its health plan; 

5. The employee’s guaranteed continuation period expires. 

The employee or a qualified beneficiary have the responsibility to inform the District of a divorce, legal 

separation, or a child losing dependent status under the group health plan within sixty (60) days of the 

qualifying event. The District will then notify any other covered dependents that are affected by the event of 

their right to elect COBRA coverage. 

COBRA participants must also notify the District if they experience additional COBRA qualifying events 

during their COBRA term that might qualify them for additional months of extended coverage. 

F. Disability Extension - If an employee elects COBRA continuation coverage based on termination of 

employment or reduction of hours, and the employee or a qualified beneficiary from his or her family 

becomes disabled (as determined by Social Security) anytime within the first sixty (60) days of COBRA 

continuation coverage, the employee and his or her family’s qualified beneficiaries may elect a special 

additional eleven (11)-month extension, for a total of twenty-nine (29) months of COBRA continuation 

coverage. To elect the eleven (11)-month extension, the employee must notify the Plan Administrator within 

sixty (60) days of the date Social Security determines that the employee or a qualified beneficiary from his or 

her family is disabled and within the first eighteen (18) months of COBRA continuation coverage. (The cost 

of COBRA coverage will increase from 100% to 150% of total premium during this additional eleven (11)-

month extension period.). 

 

SECTION 16. WORK STOPPAGE 

Employees of the District shall not engage in, condone, assist or support any strike, slowdown, or sanction, or withhold in 

full or in part any services to the District. In the event of a violation of this Section, the District may take whatever 

disciplinary action it deems appropriate up to and including discharge. 

 

SECTION 17. CONFORMITY TO LAW 

If any provision of this Handbook, or addendum thereto, is held to be invalid by operation of law or by any tribunal of 

competent jurisdiction, or if compliance with or enforcement of any sections, or addendum thereto, should be restrained 

by such tribunal, the remainder of this agreement shall not be affected thereby. 



 

 

  

 

 
 

 

 

PART II – 
PROFESSIONAL/EXEMPT  

NON-SUPERVISORY SALARIED 
EMPLOYEES (TEACHERS) 



 

 Colby School District Employee Handbook Part II Page 55 

Professional/Exempt Non-Supervisory Employees (Salaried) 

Letter of Appointment 
School District of Colby 

Colby, WI 

 

It is hereby agreed, by and between the Board of Education of the School District of Colby, Wisconsin, hereinafter referred to as the 

“Board”, and “EMPLOYEE NAME”, a teacher legally qualified to practice in the State of Wisconsin, hereinafter referred to as the 

“Teacher”. 

1. That said Teacher shall teach in the School District of Colby for 188 contract days during the “2011-12” school year for the sum 

of “$$$$$”, subject to the deductions required by law, payable in bi-weekly installments beginning with the pay period ending 

“date”, providing that any pay will be withheld until all reports required by the Board, Superintendent of Schools, and other 

administrative personnel have been properly made and delivered when required.  

2. That said Teacher possesses proper certification to teach from the State Department of Public Instruction and said certificate or 

license shall be recorded in the office of the Superintendent of Schools. 

3. That said Teacher shall teach in such school building or buildings, and such classes, and at such times as the Board shall direct, 

beginning on or about “DATE OF START OF SCHOOL”. 

4. It is further agreed, that said Teacher, shall be entitled to benefits and leave as identified in the Employee Handbook. 

5. It is further agreed, that said Teacher, when first employed and thereafter according to Board Policy, is required to submit a report 

of medical examination on forms furnished by the Board.  This examination is to be paid for by the District and is to include those 

medical provisions as required by state law. 

6. That said Teacher enters this contract subject to the laws of the State of Wisconsin and the rules and regulations of the pertinent 

State agencies, and subject to all the rules and regulations of the Board now in force or such as may hereafter be adopted, 

including the directions of the Superintendent of Schools and Principal of the building in which the Teacher is rendering his or her 

service, and said Teacher agrees to abide by the same. 

7. That said Teacher enters into this contract with the full purpose and intent of teaching whatever classes may be assigned, including 

services as class advisor, hall duty, playground duty and any special duty in training or disciplining students which may be 

necessary for the welfare of the school, and said Teacher agrees to faithfully perform such duties. 

8. It is further agreed, that in the event of destruction by fire or other means beyond the control of the parties hereto, of the school 

building in which the Teacher shall be employed, or in the event of the permanent inability of the Teacher to perform the service 

herein specified, this contract shall be deemed terminated on that day, and the Teacher shall be paid and receive, in full settlement 

of all claims hereunder, the proportionate part of the contract salary earned, plus accrued sick pay if applicable, provided that 

nothing shall be construed to require payment to be made for temporary loss of time by the Teacher, except holidays, provided by 

the statutes, or by the rules or order of the Board of Education. 

9. It is further agreed, if this contract is breached during the term hereof, liquidated damages will be assessed to the offending party 

in the amount of $1,000.  If the contract is breached prior to the start of the school year the following amounts will be assessed:  

$500 if notice is effective on or after July 1; $750 if notice is effective on or after August 1 following the signing of the contract.  

Necessary attorney fees and court costs will also be borne by the offending party except that the Board may waive such forfeiture 

at its discretion. 

10. This contract is subject to amendment by a subsequent collective bargaining agreement or board approved handbook procedures. 

Please sign and return one copy of this contract by “RETURN DATE”. 

Dated this 
th

 day of “DATE”. By ___________________________________, Clerk 

 Board of Education, School District of Colby 

I, the undersigned Teacher, represent to the School Board that I am not now under a contract of employment with another school 

district for any period covered by this contract.  I hereby accept the provisions as set forth in this contract. 

_________________________________________   ________________________ 

“EMPLOYEE NAME”      Date 

_________________________________________ 

Address 

_________________________________________ 



 

 Colby School District Employee Handbook Part II Page 56 

 

Extended Hours / Summer School / Community Education 

Letter of Appointment 
School District of Colby 

Colby, WI 
 

It is hereby agreed between the Board of Education of the School District of Colby, party of the first part, 

and “EMPLOYEE NAME”, party of the second part that said party of the second part shall perform the 

duties of “POSITION”, for “NUMBER OF HOURS” for the Summer of “YEAR” as the Board shall 

direct the sum of “$$$” per hour, providing that any pay will be withheld until all duties required by the 

Board of Education, Superintendent of Schools, and other administrative personnel have been properly 

fulfilled as required. 

 

It is Further Agreed by the party of the second part, that this contract is made subject to all the rules and 

regulations of said Board of Education now in force and such as may hereafter be adopted, including the 

directions of the Superintendent of Schools and other administrative personnel. 

 

It is Further Agreed by the party of the second part, that wages shall begin at the time he or she reports for 

duty.  The wages or salary shall be paid bi-weekly on such calendar dates as set by the Board of Education. 

 

Please sign and return one copy of this contract by “RETURN DATE”. 

 

Dated this 
th

 day of “DATE”. By ___________________________________, Clerk 

 Board of Education, School District of Colby 

 

 

_________________________________________  ________________________ 

“EMPLOYEE NAME”      Date 

_________________________________________ 

Address 

_________________________________________ 

 

 



 

 Colby School District Employee Handbook Part II Page 57 

 

SECTION 1. DISCIPLINE, TERMINATION AND NONRENEWAL 

1.01 Standard for Nonrenewal for Teachers  
Teachers employed in the District are subject to nonrenewal on a statutory basis, as prescribed in Sec. 

118.22, Wis. Stats.  No teacher shall be non-renewed for arbitrary or capricious reasons. Such 

nonrenewal shall be exclusively subject to the provisions of section 118.22, Wis. Stats. and is not covered 

by the grievance procedure under this Handbook. 

1.02 Standard for Discipline and Termination 
A teacher may be disciplined or terminated for “cause”.  Such discipline or termination shall be subject to 

the grievance procedure provisions of this Handbook.  “Cause” is defined as the following: 

A. There is a factual basis for the discipline or termination: The factual basis must support a 

finding of employee conduct in which the District has a disciplinary or termination interest; 

and 

B. Reasonableness of the penalty: The particular discipline or termination imposed by the 

District must not be unreasonable. 

1.03 Representation 
In the event any employee is called to a meeting with representatives of the District for the purpose of 

issuing discipline or discharge, or for the purpose of investigating circumstances which may lead to 

discipline or discharge, the employee has the right to request representation.  the District shall advise the 

employee of his or her right to representation prior to the meeting.  In the event the employee chooses to 

have representation, the meeting may be delayed, at the discretion of the District, until appropriate 

representation may be obtained. Nothing in this provision shall prevent the District from removing an 

employee from the work place if immediate action is required. 

1.04 Disciplinary Materials 
Copies of any disciplinary material(s) shall be provided to the employee before such material is placed 

in an employee's personnel file. The employee shall have the opportunity to reply to such materials and 

affix his/her reply to said material. 

1.05 Termination of Employment 
The employment relationship between the District and any employee is terminated: 

A. If the employee is discharged pursuant to section 1.02, whichever is applicable. 

B. If the employee quits his/her employment. 

C. If the employee fails to return to work on the work day following the expiration of an 

authorized leave of absence unless unable to notify because of illness or other reasonable 

basis. 

D. If the employee retires. 

SECTION 2. PROFESSIONAL HOURS/WORKDAY 

2.01 Letter of Appointment 
Each employee shall be issued an annual letter of appointment that shall be consistent with, but 

subservient to, this Handbook and board policy, before the last student contact day of the school year.  

The letter of appointment shall identify the employee, the position(s) that the employee is employed for, 

the length of the work year, the length of the work day, and the pay rate for the position.  Specific 



 

 Colby School District Employee Handbook Part II Page 58 

assignments and hours cannot be guaranteed but an effort will be made to place the employee in a 

similar position (i.e., assignment, wages and hours) as the one currently held. 

A new letter of appointment shall be issued in cases of transfers, promotions, demotions, and partial or 

full layoff.  In the case of a change of assignment the employee shall be provided with at least10 

calendar days’ notice of the change of assignment, if practicable, as determined by the administration. 

2.02 Normal Hours of Work 
Teachers are professional employees as defined by the federal Fair Labor Standards Act and the 

Wisconsin Municipal Employee Relations Act, § 111.70(1)(L), Wis. Stats. 

Although professionals’ work is not limited to any specified number of hours or days per week, the 

“normal” hours of work for full-time employees in positions authorized as “40 hours per week”, 

including a duty-free thirty (30) minute lunch period.  The actual workday for each building shall be 

established by the Board.   

If a teacher accepts a voluntary assignment during his/her duty free lunch period, he/she will be 

compensated as defined in Appendix Part VI – 2.04 per lunch period. 

2.03 Administratively Called Meetings   
A. Staff Meetings:  Teachers are required to attend all mandatory administratively called staff 

meetings.  The administration shall attempt to provide reasonable notice of all such 

meetings. Teachers who are required to attend administratively called meetings will receive 

no additional remuneration, above their regularly paid salaries, for attending such meetings.  

B. Other Administratively Called Meetings:  The notification and duration provisions of the 

previous paragraphs section 2.03, subsection A above do not include nor shall they apply to 

meetings of individual educational plans teams, the preparation of individual education 

plans, parent-teacher conferences, department meetings or activities of similar nature, which 

are normally conducted at other times. Teachers are required to attend such events 

regardless of the date, time or duration of said meetings.  Teachers who are required to 

attend other administratively called meetings will receive no additional remuneration, above 

their regularly paid salaries, for attending such meetings.   

2.04 Attendance at School Events 
Teachers are required to attend all mandatory administratively required school events. These events, 

though not limited by enumeration, may be an open house, music program, art show and/or other 

District or building events that occur after the normal workday.  Whenever possible, teachers shall be 

given no less than thirty (30) calendar days notice of such events.  Teachers who have a co-curricular 

conflict or have pre-approved coursework to attend may be excused at the discretion of the District 

Administrator and/or his/her designee.  Such conflict should be communicated to the applicable 

administrator as soon as possible before the date of the school event open house. 

2.05 Consultation with Parents 
Each teacher shall consult with parents so that parents recognize the important role they play in shaping 

the attitudes of their children and assume greater responsibility for the performance of their children and 

for the excellence of our schools.  Such consultation may be in the form of phone contacts, home 

visitations, progress reports, in-person appointments, etc., in addition to the scheduled parent/teacher 

conferences. 

2.06 Flexible Scheduling during Workweek 
An employee may request a change in his/her weekly work schedule. The request for a change in the 

employee's weekly work schedule shall be made at least one (1) week in advance of the proposed 

change, unless circumstances allow for a shorter notice period. The request shall be filed with the 



 

 Colby School District Employee Handbook Part II Page 59 

employee's immediate supervisor. The immediate supervisor shall have the authority to grant or deny the 

employee's request in his/her sole discretion. The scheduling of hours of work under the flexible work 

schedule is at the sole discretion of the immediate supervisor.  The agreement to allow an employee to 

have a flexible work schedule shall not, in and of itself, result in the employee being eligible for 

overtime or flexible professional hours. 

2.07 Emergency School Closures 
In the event the District is closed or an individual building(s) is closed, full or partial day closures may 

be made up at the discretion of the District.  The District shall, at a minimum make up all days/hours 

necessary to guarantee the receipt of state aids and/or necessary to meet the minimum annual school 

year requirements (days and hours) of the State of Wisconsin.  Teachers shall not receive additional 

compensation in the event the District requires such day(s)/time to be made up with or without pupils. 

2.08 School Calendar 
The school calendar shall be determined by the Board.  The calendar shall consist of 188 days.  The 

determination of the structure of the days, e.g. instructional, in-service, workdays, etc., shall be at the 

discretion of the Board.   

 

SECTION 3. PROFESSIONAL GROWTH  

3.01 Requirement to Remain Current 
All teachers shall engage in independent and active efforts to maintain high standards of individual 

excellence.  Such efforts shall include keeping current in each specific and applicable area of 

instruction, Board established curriculum, as well as continuing study of the art of pedagogy.  In 

addition to maintaining high standards of excellence for the students and school, the teacher will make 

him/herself available during the contractual year and day to his/her colleagues for assistance, to the 

District for services beyond those specifically required as part of his/her individual contractual duties, 

and to the community as a valuable resource. 

 

3.02 Provisions for Graduate Study 
Teachers shall be compensated in accordance with the degrees and advanced preparation they have.  

Professional development shall be subject to the following conditions:  

 A. Courses must be considered of graduate difficulty unless taken to fill a definite need in the 

school curriculum as determined by the Board or its designee. 

 B. Credits for courses must be approved in advance by the Board or its designee and computed 

on the semester plan. 

 C. A grade of "B" or better must be achieved or a grade acceptable for credit at the institution 

at which the teacher is studying must be achieved. 

 D. Teachers completing six (6) graduate level credits approved by their building Principal and 

Superintendent shall be compensated $750.00 annually upon completion of the plan.  

 E. Teachers who complete a DPI approved Professional Development Plan AND have that 

plan approved by their building Principal and Superintendent shall be compensated $750.00 

annually upon completion of the plan. 

 F. Teachers shall submit to the District Office an official transcript of credit or completed 

Professional Development Growth Plan (that has been pre-approved by their immediate 

supervisor/principal and the superintendent) by September 15
th
 to request professional 

growth compensation. 

 



 

 Colby School District Employee Handbook Part II Page 60 

SECTION 4. TEACHER SUPERVISION AND EVALUATION 

4.01 General Provisions 
The Board and teachers view teacher evaluation as a continuing process for the purpose of improving 

instruction and assessing the individual performance of staff members.  Definitions under this section: 

A. “Day” and “Days”:  The words “day” and “days” in this article mean working school days, 

excluding holidays, weekends, etc. 

B. “Continuing Teacher”:  A continuing teacher is a teacher who has taught more than three 

years in the District under a full-time or part-time regular teaching contract. 

C. New to the System Teacher:  A new to the system teacher is a teacher who has taught less 

than three years in the District under a full-time or part-time regular teaching contract. 

4.02 Evaluators 
Every teacher in the District will be supervised and evaluated by an administrator and/or his/her 

designee.  The administrator will be certified by the DPI.  The administrator may be a District employee 

or a non- District employee who is a certified administrator.  Prior to the first student contact day, the 

District will provide the employees with their placement within the supervision and evaluation rotation 

cycle.  The District may modify this list at any time during the contract year.  The employees affected by 

the change will be notified in writing of any changes in the evaluation list. 

4.03 Evaluation Process – Conditions for All Employees   
A.  Basic Requirements 

1. A new employee shall be formally evaluated at least two time(s) during the first year of 

employment.  The first evaluation shall consist of a pre-conference, observation and post-

conference.  The first two evaluations must be completed prior to February 15.   

2. A continuing employee shall be formally evaluated every school year, every second school 

year, or every third school year at the discretion of the District. 

3. All required observations must be completed by May 31st. 

4. All formal observations will be followed by a conference with the administrator.  This 

conference will take place as soon as practical following the actual observation. 

5. Assistance, recommendations and directions may, at the discretion of the District, be 

provided to each teacher in an attempt to correct professional difficulties observed. 

B.  Acknowledgement of Receipt and Response:  The teacher will acknowledge receipt of all 

documents related to supervision and evaluation by signing and dating the document within 

ten (10) school days.  The teacher shall have the right to attach a report with any remarks 

concerning the document(s).  Acknowledging receipt does not imply agreement with all or 

part of the documents received.  Any employee wishing to comment on the evaluation or who 

feels the evaluation was incomplete, inaccurate, or unjust, may reduce those comments or 

objectives to writing and have them attached to the evaluation instrument to be placed in the 

personnel file. A teacher may attach a response to any document related to this process after 

the teacher’s receipt of the evaluation document(s) listed above.  The file copy of the 

evaluation and any comments or objectives shall be signed by both parties to indicate 

awareness of the content.  The following statement shall be part of the instrument: 

"The signatures do not indicate agreement or disagreement but merely certify that the 

observation and conference as noted were held and that the opportunity was available for 

attaching written clarification/objections at the time of signing." 

The response must be initialed by the supervisor. 

C.  Copy of Evaluation Procedures:  A copy of the evaluation forms are available in the 

Administrative Procedures Manual #538 or on the website at www.colby.k12.wi.us. 

D. Initial Educator Professional Development Plan:  The individual teacher who holds an 

Initial Educator License is responsible for developing a Professional Development Plan 

(PDP).  The PDP must demonstrate increased proficiency and professional development 

http://www.colby.k12.wi.us/human_resources.cfm


 

 Colby School District Employee Handbook Part II Page 61 

based on the Wisconsin Educator Standards.  The Initial Educator is also responsible for 

initiating an annual review of the PDP by the Initial Educator’s Review Team (IERT) that is 

convened by the Initial Educator. 

1.  Mentor for Initial Educator and a teacher new to the District (who holds a current 

Wisconsin teaching license) 

a. An initial educator will be provided a qualified mentor by the District.  Any 

continuing teacher interested in being considered for serving as a mentor must 

submit a letter indicating interest by April 1 of each year.  When mentors are 

selected by the District, volunteers will be considered first.  If the District deems 

that a suitable match cannot be made from the list of volunteers, the District may 

contract other continuing teachers who are qualified mentors.  The District reserves 

the right to use qualified persons who are not District employees or continuing 

teachers. 

b. If a continuing teacher is selected as a mentor, he/she shall be paid a stipend of 

$500 for the period served as a mentor (from August of the first year through 

October of the subsequent year) for an initial educator.   

c. A teacher new to the District, but not an initial educator, may also be provided a 

qualified mentor by the District.   

d. A continuing teacher serving as a mentor may request the District assign him/her to 

a different teacher new to the system teacher and/or be relieved completely from 

mentor responsibilities.  The request must be in writing to the District 

Administrator.  The District Administrator will respond to the request within ten 

(10) days of receipt.  The District Administrator will grant the request if the District 

Administrator, in his/her discretion, has a qualified replacement mentor. The 

present continuing teacher will serve as the mentor until such time as the suitable 

replacement is found.  In the event a mentor is replaced, compensation will be 

prorated for the period served as a mentor. 

e. The teacher receiving mentoring may request the District to provide a different 

mentor.  The request must be in writing to the District Administrator.  The District 

Administrator will respond to the request within ten (10) days from receipt. 

f. The District will make a good faith effort to assign an individual mentor for each 

teacher new to the District; however, a mentor may elect to work with more than 

one employee. 

 

SECTION 5. TEACHER ASSIGNMENTS, VACANCIES AND 

TRANSFERS 

5.01 Teacher Assignments, Vacancies and Transfers 
A. Determination of Assignment:  Teachers will be assigned or transferred by the District 

Administrator of the District and/or his/her designee. 

B. Assignment Preference Consideration:  Teachers may express in writing to the District 

Administrator and/or his/her designee their preference of a) school; b) grade level; or c) 

subject.  If a teacher wishes to be transferred to another position which may open during the 

summer, application for a transfer should be made in writing to the District Administrator 

and/or his/her designee, who shall give due consideration to such requests.  Insofar as 

possible, consideration shall be given these requests. 

C. Job Posting:  When a position becomes vacant or a new position is created, notice of such 

available position shall be posted on the District’s website for a minimum of 5 days.  The 

employer retains the right to temporarily fill vacant positions at its discretion during the 

posting and selection period. Vacancies will be posted on the District’s website.  The notice 

shall include the date of posting, the job requirements, classification, a description of the 

position available, the work hours of the position, the rate of pay for the position, the 



 

 Colby School District Employee Handbook Part II Page 62 

anticipated start date and the qualifications required for the position.   

D. Process for Filling Vacancies:  An employee who applies for a vacant position, prior to the 

end of the posting period, may be granted an interview for the position.  The District retains 

the right to select the most qualified applicant for any position based upon stated job 

descriptions (this restriction does not prohibit the District from considering qualifications 

that are related to the position and exceed those minimum qualifications listed in the job 

description).  The term applicant refers to both internal candidates and external candidates 

for the position.  The District retains the right to determine the job descriptions needed for 

any vacant position. 

E. Involuntary Transfers:  When the District determines that an involuntary transfer of an 

employee is necessary, due to the District's inability to fill a vacancy or a new position 

according to the procedures set forth above may, at its discretion, transfer an employee in 

the District qualified for the position.  No employee will be involuntarily transferred by the 

District without a conference followed by a written notice from the District Administrator 

and/or his/her designee which will include the reasons for the transfer.  An employee who is 

involuntarily transferred shall suffer no loss of wages, hours, or other fringe benefit as a 

result of such transfer.  An employee who is involuntarily transferred and suffers a loss of 

wages, hours or other fringe benefit as a result of such transfer may contest the transfer as 

discipline under Section 1.02. 

5.02 Employee Resignations 
A. The teacher’s individual contract, which is part thereof, shall be considered binding on both 

parties.  If for any reason a teacher asks for release from the contract, it is understood that 

the following conditions for release shall apply: 

1. The teacher must give the District notice that they intend on severing their contract with 

the District.  Whenever possible, the teacher must give such notice at least sixty (60) 

calendar days prior to the date the employee desires the severance to occur. 

2. It is agreed that liquidated damages are due to the District with the sixty (60) calendar 

day notice of resignation as follows: 

a. Five hundred dollars ($500.00) if the employee’s resignation is effective on or after 

July 1
st
, but before August 1

st
. 

b. Seven hundred and fifty dollars ($750.00) if the employee’s resignation is effective 

on or after August 1
st
, but before the start of the school year. 

c. One thousand dollars ($1,000.00) if the employee’s resignation is effective on or 

after the start of the school year. 

3. Liquidated damages and the sixty (60) calendar day notice requirement would not apply 

to teachers who do not return their contracts by April 15
th
, or whose resignation is 

tendered and effective after the end of the school year, but before July 1
st
. 

4. The employee may choose to have liquidated damages deducted from the employee’s 

last paycheck(s) or the employee shall submit a check for the liquidated damages 

amount at the time of resignation. 

B. The Board in its discretion may waive the liquidated damages for the following reasons: 

1.  Employment transfer of spouse; 

2.  Illness of employee; 

3.  Other reasons as determined by the School Board. 

In the event the District chooses to waive the liquidated damages, the District shall return 

any damages submitted with the resignation notice to the employee. 

C. Any employee involuntarily called into service by the United States government for military 

duty shall not be assessed liquidated damages under this Article. 

In the event said teacher breaches this contract by termination of services during the term hereof, the 

Board may, at its option, demand to recover from the teacher such amount of liquidated damages as set 

forth above; provided, however, that this expressed intent to liquidate the uncertain damages and harm 



 

 Colby School District Employee Handbook Part II Page 63 

to the District is not the exclusive remedy or right of the Board, but is, rather, an alternative right and 

remedy and shall not, unless the Board elects to rely on the same, preclude the Board from seeking and 

recovering the actual amount of damages resulting from such a breach by the said teacher.   

5.03 Teacher Absence and Substitutes 
When a regular teacher is to be absent from school and a substitute is needed, it is the responsibility of 

the teacher to call the designated substitute service.  If possible, such notification should be made the 

evening prior to the time of absence, or before 6:00 a.m.  This will help to provide time for obtaining a 

substitute teacher.   

5.04 Overload Assignments 
Teachers assigned a teaching load that provides no preparation time during the student day shall be 

compensated according to the pay schedule Appendix Part V – 1.06. 

5.05 Extended Contracts 
Additional contract days may be added to the contracted school calendar for each teacher at the 

discretion of the District.  Teachers shall be compensated for said days at their individual contracted per 

diem rates of pay for each of the extended contract days.  Days may be scheduled in full or partial day 

increments. 

5.06 Job Sharing  
A. Definition:  Job sharing is defined as a voluntary program to provide the opportunity for two 

or more employees to share a position which will be prorated on the basis of the percentage 

of the full-time equivalent position that the individual job-sharer works.  Job sharing may be 

allowed for reasons such as child rearing, health (member or member’s family), continuing 

education, semi-retirement, transition to other employment, or any other reason deemed 

appropriate. 

B. Approval:  Job sharing must be jointly approved by the District and the teachers who wish 

to participate.  

C. Eligibility:  In order to be eligible to participate in the job sharing program, applicants must: 

1. Agree to sign a one-year contract for the shared position. 

2. Agree to return to full-time status, or to be non-renewed, at the option of the District, in 

the event the shared position is eliminated or if one of the participants in the shared job 

is unable to continue in the shared assignment. 

3. Be certified to teach those subjects/grade levels involved in the shared job. 

D. Assignment:  Shared job holders shall be assigned specific job responsibilities at the time 

the job sharing contract is signed.  The list of job responsibilities shall be appended to the 

individual contract and shall minimally include, but not be limited to: 

1. A description of the job to be shared and the percent of full-time for which the contract 

is let, as well as the above provisions controlling salary, benefits, seniority,  

unemployment, etc. 

2. Allocation of preparation time and planning responsibilities between the job sharers. 

3. Grade reporting requirements (if different than normal). 

4. Faculty meeting and parent conference responsibilities. 

5. Extra-duty assignments and compensation. 

6. Any other unusual or unique working conditions which may be applicable. 

 

E. Insurance Benefits 

1. The District shall pay insurance premiums for each job sharer in an amount prorated in 

accordance to their full-time equivalency subject to the eligibility rules of the insurance 

carrier.  The total provided shall not exceed an amount equal to the benefits for one full-

time employee. 



 

 Colby School District Employee Handbook Part II Page 64 

2. Job sharers may retain full fringe benefits purchased by payroll deduction of the 

difference between the District’s prorated share of the premium and the full amount of 

the premium. 

 

SECTION 6. REDUCTION IN FORCE, POSITIONS & HOURS 

6.01 Reasons for Reduction in Force 
In the event the Board determines to reduce the number of positions (full nonrenewal) or the number of 

hours in any position (partial nonrenewal), the provisions set forth in this section shall apply. 

6.02 Notice of Reduction 
The District will provide notice of nonrenewal in accordance with the timelines set forth in § 118.22, 

Wis. Stats.  The nonrenewal notice shall specify the effective date of the nonrenewal and the right to a 

private conference under § 118.22, Wis. Stats.  and will refer the employee to the Reduction in Force 

provision in this Handbook.  

6.03 Selection for Reduction – Steps 
In the implementation of staff reductions under this section, individual employees shall be selected for 

full or partial reduction in force layoff in accordance with the following steps: 

A. Step One - Attrition:  Normal attrition resulting from employees retiring or resigning will be 

relied upon to the extent that it is administratively feasible in implementing a reduction in 

reducing staff.  

B. Step Two - Volunteers:  Volunteers will be non-renewed first.  The District will provide the 

volunteer(s) with a nonrenewal notice.  Requests for volunteers will be sent to employees 

within each grade level, departmental and certification area.  An employee who volunteers 

to be non-renewed under this section will put his/her request in writing.  Volunteers will 

only be accepted by the District if in the District's opinion the remaining employees in the 

department/certification area are qualified to perform the remaining work.  Volunteers will 

be treated as a District directed nonrenewal under this section of the Handbook.  

C. Step Three - Selection For Reduction/Layoff:  The District shall select the employee in the 

affected grade level, department/certification area for nonrenewal [full nonrenewal or a 

reduction in hours].   

1. Grade Levels/ Departments/certification area for the purpose of this section shall be 

defined as: 

 a. Elementary (K-5) - Teachers from all buildings will be considered, not just the 

building in which the nonrenewal is necessary. 

  b.  Middle and High School (6-12) - Teachers will be considered for nonrenewal 

from with the department (see definition c. below) in which the nonrenewal is 

deemed necessary.  All teachers who teach two or more periods within that 

department will be considered for nonrenewal. 

  c.  Departments:  The term "department" shall mean the subject area in which the 

teacher taught during the current school year.  Examples of departments are 

math, English, history, science, etc.  By enumeration no restriction is placed on 

the number or types of departments.  The number and type of departments is at 

the discretion of the Board. 

2. The District shall utilize the following criteria in order of application for determining 

the employee for nonrenewal: 

a. Educational Needs of the District:  Will be those needs as identified and determined 

by the Board through normal channels in accord with its constituted authority. 

b. Qualifications as Established by the Board:  Including, but not limited to specific 

skills, certification [if applicable], training, District evaluations, etc. 



 

 Colby School District Employee Handbook Part II Page 65 

c. Qualifications of the Remaining Employees in the Grade Level, Department or 

Certification Area:  Relevant qualifications will be those experiences and training that 

best relate to the position(s) to be maintained and District needs as determined by the 

Board.  These experiences may shall include but not be limited to current and past 

assignment and practical experience in the area of need. 

d. Performance of the Employees Considered for Nonrenewal:  Performance of the 

employees under consideration as previously and currently evaluated.  in the last 

two summative evaluations.  Greater weight may be given to more recent 

evaluations.  A cumulative score is given on the four major sections on the 

performance evaluation instrument. 

e.  Length of Service of the Employee.   

1). Length of Service:  Is defined as length of service with the District commencing 

on the most recent date of hire.  No distinction will be made between full-time 

and part-time employees in calculating length of service. 

2). Tie Breaker on Length of Service:  In the event two or more employees start on 

the same date, the employee who is senior shall be determined by the District.    

3). Length of Service List:  The District will annually produce a length of service 

list by September 30th.  Employees will raise any objections to the proposed 

length of service list by December 1
st
.   

6.04 Reduction in Hours Resulting in Nonrenewal 
Employees who are non-renewed and such nonrenewal results in a reduction in hours shall not lose any 

benefits they have accrued.  Benefits are defined as length of service and sick leave earned as an 

employee. Reduced in time employees shall be treated as part-time employees under this Handbook. 

6.05 Reemployment Process 
The reemployment process is solely available to employees non-renewed underneath this section.  It 

does not apply to employees non-renewed based upon performance as set forth in Part II, Section 1. 

A. Reemployment Period:  Employees non-renewed under this section shall retain the 

reemployment options set forth herein for a period of twenty-four (24) months after the 

employee's last day of work with the District.   

B. Reemployment Obligations – Employee:  All employees non-renewed under this section 

shall have their names placed on a reemployment list.  In the event a vacancy occurs or a 

new position is created while employees are on the reemployment list, the District shall first 

attempt to fill the position utilizing the vacancy and transfer language contained in this 

Handbook.  Employee failure to maintain current contact information at the District office 

voids this section.  Employees on the reemployment list may apply for the vacant position 

according to the terms of this Handbook.  The District will post vacancies in accordance 

with the terms of this Handbook. 

6.06 Termination of Reemployment Opportunities 
Reemployment opportunities shall end should an employee refuse reemployment to a position under 

Part II of this Handbook, except as provided below.  Casual or substitute work with the District during 

the reemployment period shall not extend the reemployment period.  Employees on the reemployment 

list may refuse reemployment to positions with a substantially different full-time equivalency (FTE), 

substitute or temporary positions without loss of the ability to apply to the next available position for 

which the employee is qualified.  Employees on reemployment list shall not lose the ability to apply for 

an equivalent FTE position(s) if they accept a position with a different FTE level, a substitute 

appointment or a temporary appointment, with the District. 

6.07 Insurance Benefits Following Nonrenewal 
Please see Part I, Section 15, COBRA, subsection 15.11 for a full explanation of insurance continuation 



 

 Colby School District Employee Handbook Part II Page 66 

options.   

6.08 Accrued Benefits during Reemployment Period 
Non-renewed employees shall suffer no loss of sick leave, or other accrued benefits if when rehired.  

Sick leave days shall not accrue for an employee during the reemployment period. 

6.09 Furloughs 
The District may furlough employees for budgetary reasons, and the following guidelines apply during 

furlough periods: 

A. Employees shall not receive their wages or salary but are permitted to apply accrued 

vacation or personal leave (thus receiving compensation).  

B. Employees are prohibited from working. 

C. Sick leave, personal leave, etc. shall continue to accrue as if the employees were working. 

D. The District shall provide health insurance, dental insurance, etc. at the same level it would 

if the employees were working. 

6.10 In-Service and Other Training 
The District may require teachers to attend in-service and other training, either of which may occur 

outside of employees’ regular hours of work.  Additional compensation (if any) for such training shall 

be determined by relevant law [FLSA], District policy, and pertinent employment contracts. 

 

SECTION 7. PROFESSIONAL COMPENSATION 

7.01 Curriculum Planning Projects and Other Projects within the Scope of 

Employment 
When the District assigns an employee to work on a curriculum project that is outside of the terms of the 

individual employee’s contract, the employee shall be paid according to the Extra-curricular Pay 

Schedule Appendix Part V – 1.06. The length of time and maximum number of hours for completion of 

the project shall be determined by the employee’s immediate supervisor, in his/her sole discretion.  In 

order to be compensated, teachers should submit on a bi-weekly basis the time they work on such 

projects.  The compensation above will be paid when the project has been completed and approved by 

the applicable administrator.  Other projects that are outside of the terms of the individual employee’s 

contract and that are approved by the District Administrator (or designee) shall be paid at the curriculum 

projects rate.  Other projects within the employee’s scope of employment that are approved by the 

District Administrator (or designee) shall be paid at the curriculum projects rate. 

7.02 National Board Certification 
An employee who earns certification from the National Board for Professional Teaching Standards, or a 

Master Teacher designation if the National Board for Professional Teaching Standards is not available 

in the employee’s certification area, shall have his/her salary increased by $1,500 (minus applicable 

taxes and other deductions). This shall be a one-time increase in the employee’s salary and shall 

immediately cease if the employee fails to retain such certification.  

7.03 Wisconsin Retirement System (WRS) Contributions 
The Board shall agrees to contribute the employer’s share.  The employee shall agrees to pay the 

employee’s required WRS contribution as required by state statute requirements.  Under no 

circumstances shall the Board pay the employee’s required WRS contribution.  

 



 

 Colby School District Employee Handbook Part II Page 67 

SECTION 8. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 

8.01 Voluntary Early Retirement Benefit Program 

A. Eligibility 

Teachers will be eligible for the early retirement benefit provided for in this Article if they declare, in 

writing, to the Board of Education, their retirement intentions prior to February 1 of the calendar year 

in which they intend to retire from an employer contributing to the Wisconsin Retirement System. 

B. Application and Limitation 

Application for participation in the early retirement benefit provided for in this Article must be made 

by the teacher in writing and submitted to the School Board on or before February 1st of the last 

school year prior to retirement from an employer contributing to the Wisconsin Retirement System.  

No more than three (3) teachers shall be eligible to begin participation in the early retirement benefits 

provided for in this Article in the same year unless the School Board, at its sole discretion, approves a 

higher number.  In the event there are more applicants than are eligible to participate, the most senior 

applicants, based on Colby School District experience, will be selected.  If seniority is equal, the 

selection will be based on the order of receipt of the application. 

C. Early Retirement Benefit Health Insurance 

Upon retirement, for an eligible teacher whose application has been approved, the District will credit 

up to three thousand dollars for each year of service ($3,000 x years of service at the Colby School 

District) to serve as a credit for the retiree for use in the payment of the premium for health insurance / 

medical expenses through the District until the teacher becomes entitled to Medicare.  

1) Effective with the 2011-12 school year, each qualifying teacher shall have $3,000, or such 

amount as proportional to the employment status of the teacher pursuant to his/her letter of 

appointment, designated in an HRA (Health Retirement Account) to be used for health 

insurance benefits upon retirement.  The HRA may be funded or unfunded as determined by 

the District unless otherwise required by law. 

2) The HRA benefit shall accrue to the teacher (subject to the terms of this provision) at the 

completion of the teacher’s sixth full year of service in the Colby School District.  Full year is 

defined as “full time” (1.0 FTE) and prorated based on FTE specified in the teacher’s letter of 

appointment with the District.  

3) In the event of death of the retiree, his or her spouse will be eligible to the above credits on 

the above basis as if the retiree was still living through the eligibility period reflected in this 

benefit offering had the employee survived.  

4) There is no cash equivalency benefit available under this provision for the retiree or any 

surviving spouse. 

D. Payment of Benefit 

1) Upon Board approval of the retirement date, a monthly benefit is determined by dividing the 

total benefit credit by the number of months until the employee becomes entitled to Medicare 

eligibility.  

2) Retired employees may use the HRA credit to receive reimbursement for qualifying health 

insurance through the District or to receive reimbursement of qualifying health insurance / 

medical expenses from a third party vendor selected by the district.  

3) Retired employees who return to work in any position which offers health insurance shall 

have their benefit suspended until they no longer work in a position that is eligible for health 

insurance, subject to the terms for participation eligibility.  Upon termination of any health 

insurance qualifying post retirement employment, monthly benefits with the Colby School 

District will be recalculated as described in Part II, Section 8, D(1).   

4) Any retiree who fails to provide notice to the District as provided in Part II, Section B within 

twelve (12) months of their retirement, shall forfeit this benefit. 

5) The District reserves the right to modify this benefit offering at any time or cease it in its 

entirety including for retirees in pay status.  Decisions made by the District in the interpretation 



 

 Colby School District Employee Handbook Part II Page 68 

and operation of this benefit offering shall be in its sole discretion and are final and binding.  In 

the event of any review of a decision by a court of law, the reviewing tribunal shall give 

deference to the District’s decision, confirming such decision, unless it is shown that the 

District acted in an arbitrary and capricious manner.  The decision of the District on all issues 

under this offering shall be final. 



 

 

  

 

 

 

PART III – NON-EXEMPT HOURLY 
EMPLOYEES (SUPPORT STAFF) 

 



 

 

  
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part III Page 70 

 

Non-Exempt Employees (Hourly) 

Letter of Appointment 
School District of Colby 

Colby, WI 

 

It is hereby agreed between the Board of Education of the School District of Colby, party of the first part, and 

“EMPLOYEE NAME”, party of the second part, shall perform the duties of “POSITION” for “HRS” hours 

per day for “DAYS” days during the “SCHOOL YEAR” school year in such buildings and at such times as 

the Board shall direct for the sum of “HRLY WAGE” per hour, payable in bi-weekly installments, providing 

that any month’s pay will be withheld until all duties required by the Board of Education, Superintendent of 

Schools, and other administrative personnel have been properly fulfilled as required. 

1. It is Further Agreed by the party of the second part, that wages or salary shall begin at the time he or she 

reports for duty.  The wages or salary shall be paid on such calendar dates as set by the Board of 

Education. 

2. It is Further Agreed by the party of the second part, that this contract is made subject to all the rules and 

regulations of said Board of Education now in force and such as may hereafter be adopted, including the 

directions of the Superintendent of Schools. 

3. It is Further Agreed by the party of the second part, when first employed and thereafter according to 

Board Policy, to submit a report of medical examination on forms furnished by the school board.  This 

examination is to be paid for by the school district and is to include only those medical provisions as 

required by state law. 

4. It is Further Agreed that the party of the second part shall be entitled to benefits and leave as identified 

in the employee handbook.  

5. The School District shall provide and make payment for long-term Income Protection Insurance in case 

of disability.  The Board of Education agrees to pay a portion of the employee’s current year’s salary 

into the Colby Public Schools, Trustee Account Pension Plan or Wisconsin Deferred Comp, Non-

instructional Employees, provided the employee qualifies for and belongs to the plan; as defined in the 

employee handbook. 

6. It is Further Agreed that either party may terminate this contract immediately following written notice.   

 

In witness thereof the parties have executed this instrument this “DATE” day of “MONTH/YEAR”. 

  

Board of Education, School District of Colby 

 

By ___________________________________, Clerk 

 

Please sign and return one copy of this contract to CDEC by “RETURN DATE”. 

 

_________________________________________  ________________________   

“EMPLOYEE NAME”     Date 

 

_________________________________________ 

Address 

_________________________________________ 



 

 

  
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part III Page 71 

SECTION 1. DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE 

1.01 Length of Probationary Period 
Length of Probationary Period:  All newly hired employees shall be on probation for a period of one 

calendar year.   

1.02 Standard for Discipline and Termination   
A. Probationary Employee:  Probationary employees may be disciplined or terminated from 

employment by the District in its sole discretion. Such discipline or termination shall be 

subject to the grievance procedure provisions of this Handbook Part I Section 5.04. 

B. Non-Probationary Employee:  A non-probationary employee may be disciplined or terminated 

for reasons that are not arbitrary or capricious.  Such discipline or termination shall be subject 

to the grievance procedure provisions of this Handbook Part I Section 5.04. 

1.03 Benefits during Probation 
Except as expressed herein, all provisions of this Agreement shall apply to an employee as of the first 

day of employment.  If an employee quits or is terminated during the probationary period, however, no 

accrued sick leave, vacation, or other benefits shall be due him or her.  Employees eligible to receive 

insurance benefits shall receive initial coverage in accordance with the waiting periods, if any, contained 

in paid coverages without regard for the probationary period. 

1.04 Representation 
In the event any employee is called to a meeting with representatives of the Employer for the purpose of 

issuing discipline or discharge, or for the purpose of investigating circumstances that may lead to 

discipline or discharge, the Employer shall advise the employee has the of his or her right to request 

representation prior to the meeting.  In the event the employee chooses to have representation, the 

meeting shall be delayed until appropriate representation may be obtained.  Nothing in this provision 

shall prevent an Employer from removing an employee from the work place if immediate action is 

required. 

1.05 Disciplinary Materials 
Copies of any disciplinary material(s) shall be provided to the employee before such material is placed in 

an employee's personnel file.  The employee shall have the opportunity to reply to such materials and 

affix his/her reply to said material. 

 

SECTION 2. HOURS OF WORK AND WORK SCHEDULE 

2.01 Letter of Appointment 
Each employee shall be issued an annual letter of appointment that shall be consistent with, but 

subservient to, this Handbook and board policy, before the last student contact day of the school year.  

The letter of appointment shall identify the employee, the position(s) that the employee is employed for, 

the length of the work year, the length of the work day, and the pay rate for the position.  Specific 

assignments and hours cannot be guaranteed but an effort will be made to place the employee in a similar 

position (i.e., assignment, wages and hours) as the one currently held. 

A new letter of appointment shall be issued in cases of transfers, promotions, demotions, and partial or 

full reduction in force layoff.  In the case of a change of assignment the employee shall be provided with 

at least10 calendar days’ notice of the change of assignment, if practicable, as determined by the 

administration. 



 

 

  
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part III Page 72 

2.02 Regular Workday and Starting and Ending Times 
A regular full-time workday is eight (8) hours, excluding lunch time.  Because of different schedule 

requirements, employee's starting, lunch, and finishing times may vary in different assignments and 

locations.  The employee's immediate supervisor will schedule working hours, break periods, and lunch 

periods. 

2.03 Regular Work Week 
A regular work week is forty (40) hours or less.  The regular work week is five (5) consecutive days 

unless the immediate supervisor assigns the employee to a different work schedule.   This section shall 

not be construed as a guarantee or limitation on the number of hours per day or hours in a work week 

which may be scheduled or required by the District. 

2.04 Part-time Employees 
A regular schedule of hours shall be prepared for part-time employees.  Such schedule shall be made 

known to the affected employees. 

2.05 Additional Hours and Overtime - Approval and Assignment 
A. Approval:  In order for an employee to work beyond his or her contract hours in any week, 

prior approval must be obtained from the immediate supervisor.  Exceptional cases requiring 

overtime may be approved after the overtime is worked when all 

administrators/principals/immediate supervisors are unavailable and such pre-approval may 

cause harm to students, staff, the community or District property.  

B. Assignment:  Non-emergency scheduled overtime assignments will be filled using volunteers 

first, with as much notice as possible, and if insufficient volunteers are found, the work will 

be assigned to a qualified employee(s) as determined by the District.  If no one volunteers to 

perform the overtime, the District may assign the work on a rotating basis within the 

applicable job classification.  Emergency overtime assignments shall be assigned at the 

discretion of the District. 

C. Pay Rate for Overtime:  Time worked over forty (40) hours per week is paid at one and one-

half (1.5) rate.  Time over forty (40) hours per week does not include sick, vacation, or 

personal leave time.  The reason for overtime must be indicated on the employee's time card. 

 For the sole purpose of determining the appropriate pay period for the receipt of overtime 

pay, a week is defined as a pay period starting at 12:00 a.m. on Sunday and ending at 11:59 

p.m. on Saturday. 

2.06 Lunch Period 
All employees who work six (6) hours or more per day will be entitled to an unpaid half-hour lunch 

period, which shall be duty free.   

2.07 Breaks 
Employees scheduled to work at least four (4) hours per work day shall receive one (1) fifteen (15) 

minute paid break.  Employees scheduled to work at least eight (8) hours per work day shall receive two 

(2) fifteen (15) minute paid breaks.  Breaks shall be scheduled by the immediate supervisor.   

 Hours Worked   Break(s) and Lunch Period Scheduling 

 0 to 3.99 hours   0 minutes 

 At least 4.0 to 5.99 hours 15 minutes 

 At least 6.0 to 7.99 hours 15 minutes and 30 minute duty-free lunch 

 At least 8.0 or more hours (2) 15 minutes and 30 minute duty-free lunch 



 

 

  
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part III Page 73 

2.08 Time Cards or other Form of Electronic Tracking of Hours Worked 
Time cards or an electronic time card system shall be used by all employees. Employees will punch in 

only at such time as they are fully prepared to begin work.  Employees are responsible for their own time 

cards and shall not punch in or out for another employee.  Employees caught punching in or out for 

another employee will be subject to discipline up to and including discharge.  If an employee leaves the 

premises for any personal reason, the time clock is to be used to punch out and punch in upon return. 

2.09 Emergency School Closings  
A. All custodians are expected to report to work when school is closed due to inclement weather 

or situations beyond the control of the District, if at all possible.   

B. All other employees shall not report to work on days when the school to which they are 

assigned is closed due to inclement weather or situations beyond the control of the District.  

Any employee not at work when school is closed for an emergency shall not be paid for that 

day. If the day is not rescheduled, the employee may elect one of the options listed in Section 

2.10.  Employees shall be required to make days up in the event that the District schedules 

make-up days.  

C. If employees report to work and a decision to close schools is made after that time, those 

employees will only be paid for the actual hours worked on such day.  

D. If employees report to work and a decision to close schools is made after that time, those 

employees will only be paid for the actual hours worked on such day those employees may 

elect one of the options in Section 2.11 for time lost due to the partial school closing. 

2.10 Emergency School Closing Employee Options if the Day/Time is Not Made Up 
The employee may select one of the following options if the District does not reschedule the day/time:  

 A. The employee may come in to work or work an additional day/time at the end of the school 

year.  The time set for makeup plus the regular assigned hours cannot exceed forty (40) hours 

per week.   

   or 

 B. The employee may elect to not be compensated for the day/time school was closed. 

   or 

 C. The employee may elect to use compensatory time off, vacation, or personal leave time if 

available.   

The employee should notify the District on the next school day after the day school is closed, begins late 

or is dismissed early, for an emergency as to which option the employee wishes to select. 

2.11 Flexible Schedule 
An employee may request a change in his/her weekly work schedule.  The request for a change in the 

employee's weekly work schedule shall be made at least one (1) week in advance of the proposed change, 

unless circumstances allow for a shorter notice period.  The request shall be filed with the employee's 

immediate supervisor.  The immediate supervisor shall have the authority to grant or deny the employee's 

request in his/her sole discretion.  The scheduling of hours of work under the flexible work schedule is at 

the sole discretion of the immediate supervisor.  All hours of work under a flexible work schedule 

agreement must be completed within one regular workweek as defined in section 2.03 above, and section 

6.04 of Part I of the Handbook.  The agreement to allow an employee to have a flexible work schedule 

shall not, in and of itself, result in the employee being eligible for overtime. 

2.12 Call-In Pay 
Employees called in to work hours outside of their regular work schedule that are not contiguous with 

their regular work schedule, except as noted below, shall be paid no less than two (2) hours pay.  The 

District may, at its discretion, require such employees to work the full two (2) hour period.  Employees 



 

 

  
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part III Page 74 

called in to open the building for a special event (e.g., use of school District facility by an outside agency 

or for co-curricular events) will be paid for the time that the employee is required to be at the District. 

2.13 Attendance at Meetings 
Employees required to attend meetings called or scheduled by the Employer shall be paid for all hours 

spent in attendance at such meetings., if such meetings are held when the employee would regularly be 

on duty. 

 

SECTION 3. REDUCTION IN FORCE, POSITIONS & HOURS 

3.01 Reasons for Reduction in Force Layoff 
In the event the Board determines to reduce the number of positions (full layoff) or the number of hours 

in any position (partial layoff), the provisions set forth in this Article shall apply.   

3.02 Layoff Notice of Reduction 
The District will give at least thirty (30) calendar days notice of any reduction in force layoff.  The notice 

of reduction in force layoff notice shall specify the effective date and of layoff, that it is the 

responsibility of the employee to keep the District informed in writing of any changes in the employee's 

address. , and that it will refer the employee to the Reduction in Force provision in this Handbook.  

3.03 Selection for Reduction – Steps 
In the implementation of staff reductions under this section, individual employees shall be selected for 

full or partial reduction in force layoff in accordance with the following steps: 

A. Step One - Attrition:  Normal attrition resulting from employees retiring or resigning will be 

relied upon to the extent that it is administratively feasible in implementing reductions layoffs.   

B. Step Two - Volunteers:  Volunteers will be reduced laid off first.  The District will provide the 

volunteer(s) with a notice in accordance with section 3.02 layoff notice.  Requests for volunteers 

will be sent to employees within each job category.  An employee who volunteers to be laid off 

will put his/her request in writing.  Volunteers will only be accepted by the District only if, in the 

District's opinion, the remaining employees in the job category are qualified to perform the 

remaining work.  Volunteers will be provided with all procedures under this section of the 

Handbook.  

C. Step Three - Selection For Reduction/Layoff:  The District shall follow the guidelines below to 

select the employee in the affected job category for full or partial reduction in hours: select the 

employee in the affected job category for layoff or reduction in hours.   

1. Job categories for the purpose of this section shall be defined as: 

a. Custodians  

b. Secretarys 

c. Kitchen Staff 

d. Instructional Aides (Regular and Special Education) 

e. Media Aides  

2. The District shall utilize the following criteria in order of application for determining the 

employee for full or partial layoff or reduction in hours: 

a. Educational Needs of the District:  Will be those needs as identified and determined 

by the Board through normal channels in accord with its constituted authority. 

b. Qualifications as established by the Board:  Including, but not limited to specific job 

skills, certification [if applicable], training, district evaluations, etc. 

c. Qualifications of the Remaining Employees in the affected job category:  Relevant 

qualifications will be those experiences and training that best relate to the position(s) to 

be maintained and District needs as determined by the Board.  These experiences shall 



 

 

  
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part III Page 75 

include but not be limited to:  current and past assignment and practical experience in 

the area of need; and 

d.  Length of Service of the Employee.   

1) Length of Service:  Is defined as length of service with the District commencing 

on the most recent date of hire.  No distinction will be made between full-time 

and part-time employees in calculating length of service.  

2) Tie Breaker on Length of Service:  In the event two or more employees start on 

the same date, the employee who is senior shall be determined by the District. 

3) Length of Service List:  The District will annually produce a length of service 

list and provide it by September 30th.  The employees  will raise any objections 

to the proposed length of service list by December 1
st
.   

3.04 Reduction in Hours 
Employees who are reduced in hours shall not lose any benefits they have accrued.  Benefits are defined 

as length of service, sick leave, and vacation earned as an employee. Reduced in time employees shall be 

treated as part-time employees under this Handbook. Any employee who is reduced in hours (partial 

layoff) may choose to be fully laid off. 

3.05 Reemployment Recall/Rehire Process Period 
Reduced-in-time Laid-off employees shall retain the reemployment options set forth herein option to be 

recalled for a period of twenty-four (24) months either after the employee's last day of work with the 

District or from the time the employee received the notification of reduction in force layoff, whichever is 

later.   

 

Laid-off employees shall retain the option to be recalled for a period of twenty-four (24) months either 

after the employee's last day of work with the District or from the time the employee received the 

notification of layoff, whichever is later. 

3.06 Reemployment Recall Procedure 
All reduced-in-time laid off employees shall have their names placed on a reemployment recall list.  In 

the event a vacancy occurs or a new position is created while employees are on the reemployment list 

layoff, the District shall first attempt to fill the position utilizing the vacancy and transfer language 

contained in this Handbook.  Employee failure to maintain current contact information at the District 

office voids this section.  Employees on the reemployment list recall may apply for the vacant position 

according to the terms of this Handbook.  The District will post vacancies in accordance with the terms 

of this Handbook. 

3.07 Termination of Reemployment Recall Options 
Reemployment Recall options shall end should an employee refuse reemployment in recall to a position 

in the job category, except as provided below.  Casual or substitute work with the District during the 

reemployment recall period shall not extend the reemployment recall period.  Employees on the 

reemployment list layoff status may refuse reemployment in recall to positions with a substantially 

different full-time equivalency (FTE), substitute or temporary positions without loss of options to the 

next available position for which the employee is qualified.  Employees on the reemployment list layoff 

status shall not lose reemployment recall options to an equivalent FTE position(s) if they accept a 

position with a different FTE level, a substitute appointment or a temporary appointment, with the 

District. 

3.08 Insurance Benefits during Layoff 
Please see Part I, Section 15, COBRA, subsection 15.06 for an explanation of insurance continuation 

options. 



 

 

  
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part III Page 76 

3.09 Accrued Benefits during Layoff 
Reduced-in-time Laid-off employees shall suffer no loss of sick leave, vacation or other accrued benefits 

when rehired.  Sick leave days, vacation, and length of service time shall not accrue while an employee is 

not working for the District.  on full layoff status. 

3.10 Other Employment during Layoff 
No employee on full or partial layoff shall be precluded from securing other employment while on layoff 

status. 

3.11 Furloughs 
The District may furlough employees for budgetary reasons, and the following guidelines apply during 

furlough periods: 

A. Employees shall not receive their wages or salary but are permitted to use accrued vacation, 

compensatory time (if allowed) or personal leave to receive compensation on furlough days.  

B. Employees are prohibited from working. 

C. Sick leave, personal leave, etc. shall continue to accrue as if the employees were working. 

D. The District shall provide health insurance, dental insurance, etc. at the same level it would 

have if the employees were working. 

 

SECTION 4. ASSIGNMENTS, VACANCIES AND TRANSFERS 

4.01 Determination of Assignment 
Employees will be assigned or transferred by the District Administrator of the District and/or his/her 

designee. 

4.02 Job Posting 
When a position becomes vacant or a new position is created, notice of such available position shall be 

posted internally and externally simultaneously for a minimum of 5 working days, unless exigent 

circumstances as determined by the District require a shorter posting period.  The District retains the 

right to temporarily fill vacant positions at its discretion during the posting and selection period.  

Vacancies will be posted on the District’s website.  The notice shall include the date of posting, the job 

requirements, classification, a description of the position available, the tentative work hours of the 

position, the rate of pay for the position, and the qualifications required for the position.   

4.03 Interviews 
An employee who applies for a vacant position, prior to the end of the posting period, may be granted an 

interview for the position, and, if qualified, may be awarded the position. 

4.04 Selection Process 
In the event two or more equally qualified District employees apply for a position, the most senior 

applicant will be selected. 

4.05 District Ability to Select the Most Qualified Applicant 
The District retains the right to select the most qualified applicant for any position based upon stated job 

descriptions (this restriction does not prohibit the District from considering qualifications that are related 

to the position and exceed those minimum qualifications listed in the job description).  The term 

applicant refers to both internal candidates and external candidates for the position. 

4.06 District Ability to Determine Job Description 
The District retains the right to determine the job descriptions needed for any vacant position. 

http://www.colby.k12.wi.us/human_resources.cfm


 

 

  
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part III Page 77 

4.07 Trial Period 
A District employee who is selected for a vacancy, pursuant to sections 4.03 through 4.06 above, will 

serve a trial period in the new position.  The trial period will be for 30 working days.  Prior to the 

expiration of the trial period, either the employee or employer may declare the trial period unsatisfactory 

and the employee shall return to his/her former position.  The decision to return the employee to his/her 

position is not subject to the grievance procedure. 

4.08 Involuntary Transfers 
When the District determines that an involuntary transfer of an employee is necessary, due to the 

District's inability to fill a vacancy or a new position according to the procedures set forth above in 

sections 4.02 through 4.06, the District reserves the right to transfer an employee in the District qualified 

for the position.  No employee will be involuntarily transferred by the District without a conference 

followed by a written notice from the District Administrator which will include the reasons for the 

transfer. 

 

SECTION 5. PAID VACATION 

5.01 Notice 
Each employee shall be notified of their total number of vacation days by July 15th of each year. 

5.02 Calendar Year (two hundred and sixty (260) scheduled work days) Full-Time 

and Part-Time Employees 
Paid vacation is a day off with pay for the number of hours the employee normally works.  Paid Vacation 

will be provided to Calendar Year Full-time and Calendar Year Part-time employees according to the 

following schedule: 

Number of Years Worked Vacation Days Earned 

After one (1) year of service 5 days 

After two (2) years of service 10 days 

After seven (7) years of service 14 days 

After twelve (12) years of service 18 days 

After fifteen (15) years of service 20 days 

Every Year in addition to fifteen (15)  ½ day per year up to 25 days 

“Years of Service” as set forth in this Article refers to years of service in the District in a position that is 

eligible for vacation under Part III.  Eligible employees in the District shall receive the preceding 

vacation depending on years of service as measured each July 1
st
.  For calculation purposes initial date of 

hire is considered year one.  For new employees, vacation is prorated based on date of hire.  For part-time 

employees, vacation pay shall be pro-rated based on the average number of hours worked per week 

during the previous year. 

5.03 Scheduling of Vacation 
Vacation time may be taken in full blocks, or in shorter blocks not less than one hour as arranged with 

the immediate supervisor.  Requests for vacation time shall normally be made and approved at least five 

(5) working days prior to taking such leave, however, vacation time requested with less than five (5) 

working days notice may be approved by the District Administrator and/or his/her designee.  No 

employee may be denied the ability to take all of his or her accrued vacation during a 12-month period, 

but the District Administrator and/or his/her designee shall have the right to schedule vacations on a first-

come, first-served basis, as necessary to accomplish work objectives.   



 

 

  
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part III Page 78 

5.04 Payment upon Termination/Transfer to a Position Not Eligible for Vacation 
Any employee who terminates his or her employment for any reason, other than discharge, or any 

employee who transfers to a position that is not eligible for vacation, shall be entitled to the vacation pay 

remaining in his or her accumulation, as well as a pro-rated amount of the vacation that the employee 

would have received upon his or her next anniversary.  Compensation for any unused vacation days will 

be equal to the daily wages per accumulated day at the time of the employee's termination and will be 

remitted on the final paycheck. 

5.05 Holidays during Vacation 
Should a paid holiday fall during an employee's vacation period the employee shall be allowed to take an 

additional day of vacation in lieu of such holiday. 

 

SECTION 6. HOLIDAYS 

6.01 Holidays Defined 
A paid holiday is a day off with pay for the number of hours the employee normally works.  Paid 

holidays will be provided to full-time and part-time employees according to the following schedule: 

 A. Employees working a full calendar year (260 work days) 

January 1 Thanksgiving Day 

Memorial Day  Day after Thanksgiving Day 

Good Friday  December 24 

July 4 December 25 

Labor Day December 31 

 

 B. Employees working at least 200 days per calendar year, but less than 260 days per calendar year 

January 1 Memorial Day 

Labor Day Thanksgiving Day 

December 24 (1/2 Day) December 25 

December 31 (1/2 Day)  

 

 C. School Year Employees working less than 200 days per calendar year:  

Labor Day Thanksgiving Day 

December 25 January 1 

Memorial Day  

6.02 Holidays Falling on Weekends 
If any of the holidays listed above, fall on a Saturday, the preceding workday shall be observed as the 

holiday.  If any of the above named holidays falls on a Sunday, the following workday shall be observed 

as the holiday.  If January 1st falls on a Sunday and school is scheduled to begin on the following 

Monday, the preceding Thursday shall be observed as the December 31st holiday and the preceding 

Friday shall be observed as the January 1st Holiday.  If December 24 and December 31 fall on a Sunday, 

the preceding Friday shall be declared the holiday unless the preceding Friday is a student contact day.  If 

the preceding Friday is a student contact day, section 6.03 will apply. 



 

 

  
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part III Page 79 

6.03 Holidays Falling on Student Contact Days 
If any of the holidays listed in section 6.01, above, fall on a student contact day, the employees shall 

work their regular hours that day, and shall instead receive a paid holiday on a date determined by the 

Administration. 

6.04 Holidays during Vacation 
If any of the above holidays fall within an employee's vacation period, the employee shall be allowed to 

take an additional day of vacation in lieu of such holiday. 

6.05 Eligibility for Holiday 
In order to be eligible for holiday pay, an employee must work the employee's scheduled workdays 

immediately preceding and following the holiday, unless the employee is on an excused absence with pay 

which has been approved by the District Administrator and/or his/her designee.  Employees on unpaid 

leave of absence shall not be eligible for holiday pay if the holiday falls during the absence period. 

 

SECTION 7. WAGE COMPENSATION AND EXPENSES 

7.01 Wage Schedule 
Part III - Appendix 7.01, Wage Schedule, shall be attached hereto. 

7.02 New Employee Wage Schedule Placement 
A. New employee placement – New employees shall be placed on the wage schedule at the 

discretion of the District. 

B. Novice pay is the starting hourly rate.  Novice pay rates are determined by the District in 

consultation with each supervisor and may be adjusted to reflect the employment market.  

After six months of employment and a performance evaluation by the immediate supervisor 

indicating knowledge of tasks, training opportunities, and performance satisfaction, a 

recommendation can be made for a raise to base pay, using the Staff Compensation Plan 

Adjustment Form (Appendix Part III-7.03A). 

7.03 Support Staff Wage Adjustments 
A. Eligibility Requirements - Performance Increment:  An employee may apply for the 

Performance Increment  or a supervisor may request the increment for an employee by 

completing the Support Staff Compensation Plan Adjustment Form (Appendix Part III-

7.03A) and submitting it along with a copy of the most recent employee evaluation.  All 

adjustments are determined for the ensuing year.  Adjustments in increment are in addition to 

annually negotiated increases in salary.  An employee may be eligible for a performance 

increment of $.25/ hour one time every four years. 

B. Eligibility Requirements - Service Increment:  An employee is eligible for the service 

increment when the anniversary year of the employee's date of hire will be divisible by 5.  

[For example, the eligible employee who was hired between January 1 - December 31 of 

2004 would earn the service increment for payment beginning July 1 2009, having recorded 

five years of service since the anniversary year of his hire indicates his cumulative service to 

the District is divisible by 5.] The District records dates of hire for all employees.  In the 

event of intervening employment, the last date of hire will be used to determine a service 

increment of $.25 / hour. 

C. Eligibility Requirements - Skill Increment:  Employees request approval for enrollment in 

training from their supervisor using form Appendix Part III – 7.03C.  Successful completion 

of 120-150 of additional approved training will qualify the employee for a pay increment for 

file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/kseifert/Application%20Data/Microsoft/Word/Appendix/Part%20III/Part%20III%20-%207.01%20Wage%20Schedule.docx
file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/kseifert/Application%20Data/Microsoft/Word/Appendix/Part%20III/Part%20III%20-%207.03A%20Support%20Staff%20Compensation%20Plan%20Adjustment%20Form.docx
file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/kseifert/Application%20Data/Microsoft/Word/Appendix/Part%20III/Part%20III%20-%207.03A%20Support%20Staff%20Compensation%20Plan%20Adjustment%20Form.docx
file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/kseifert/Application%20Data/Microsoft/Word/Appendix/Part%20III/Part%20III%20-%207.03A%20Support%20Staff%20Compensation%20Plan%20Adjustment%20Form.docx
file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/kseifert/Application%20Data/Microsoft/Word/Appendix/Part%20III/Part%20III%20-%207.03F%20Support%20Staff%20Additional%20Training%20Record.docx


 

 

  
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part III Page 80 

the ensuing year.  The remuneration will be an additional $.25/hour.  Documentation of 

additional training and/or skill development must be submitted to the immediate supervisor 

for any employee applying for compensation adjustment at the Skill Increment Level 

(Appendix Part III-7.03A).  The training must be useful in performing tasks within the 

current position of employment. Training acquired on the job can be certified by the 

supervisor as augmented performance to qualify for additional compensation.  Supervisors 

will pre-approve any additional training that will be applied for compensation adjustment.  

Once an employee has submitted a Compensation Adjustment Form, the employee will be 

informed of the status of the application within two weeks of the submittal date. 

D. Employees are only eligible for one of the above wage adjustments (7.03A, B, C) per school 

year. 

E. Appeals: An employee may appeal a decision of a supervisor/administrator regarding the 

application within two weeks of having been informed of the application not having been 

approved.  The employee then has two weeks to file a letter of appeal with the person at the 

next decision level (principal, district administrator, or personnel committee of the Board of 

Education) requesting a meeting for reconsideration of the decision, and a decision will be 

rendered and communicated within a two-week period; two week deadlines for 

communicating a decision and filing subsequent appeals at all levels will be the expected 

practice.  A hearing before the personnel committee of the Board of Education will constitute 

the final appeal remedy. 

F. An employee who has been denied a wage adjustment may re-apply for the ensuing fiscal 

year subsequent to a successful performance evaluation. 

7.04 Food Service Personnel – Extra Duty Pay 

Food Service personnel will receive an hourly rate of $20.00 per hour for cooking and/or food 

preparation above and beyond their regular scheduled hours when not district related. 

7.05 Out-of-Classification Pay 
Any employee working in a higher paid classification shall receive the pay of that classification.  Upon 

completion of the employee’s assignment under the higher pay scale, the employee shall revert to his or 

her former classification and rate. 

7.06 Rate of Pay upon Promotion 
Whenever an employee is promoted to a new higher paid classification, he or she will be placed at the 

wage that gives the employee the smallest wage increase.  An employee who is voluntarily or 

involuntarily transferred to a lower paid classification shall retain her/his current wage.  Upon voluntary 

transfer to a position in the same job classification, the employee shall retain her/his current wage.  

7.07 Retirement Contributions 
Employees who have worked over 1,000 hours in one fiscal year for the District are eligible to participate 

in the Colby School District Employee Pension Plan or Wisconsin Deferred Compensation Program to 

which the employee contributes 4% and the District contributes 8% of the employee’s annual salary. 

7.08 Uniforms, Protective Clothing and Tools 
A. Uniforms:   

1. All food service and custodial employees of the District may, at the discretion of the 

District, be required to wear a District approved uniform while on the job. The uniforms 

may consist of a combination of jackets, hats, gloves, work shirts, work pants, work 

shorts and sweatshirts.  The District shall furnish new uniforms on a schedule established 

by the District. 

2. All employees shall be required to clean and maintain their work shirts and work/pants. 

file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/kseifert/Application%20Data/Microsoft/Word/Appendix/Part%20III/Part%20III%20-%207.03A%20Support%20Staff%20Compensation%20Plan%20Adjustment%20Form.docx


 

 

  
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part III Page 81 

3. The Board shall determine a supplier of uniforms and all employees shall place their 

respective orders through this supplier. 

4. The style, color, and type of fabric of said uniforms shall be determined by the 

administration. 

B. Uniform for Food Service Staff:  Every two years Food Service staff may order new 

uniforms (three tops each).  With supervisor approval, if the employee feels that their tops 

are still in good condition, the employee may purchase shoes and the District will pay the 

costs of uniform tops towards the cost of one pair of shoes.   

C. Uniforms for Custodial Staff:  Custodians will be provided four (4) shirts annually upon 

request.  Requests should be made by October 1st to the Director of Buildings/Grounds.  

With supervisor approval, if the employee feels that shirts are still in good condition, the 

District will pay the costs of uniform shirts toward the cost of one pair of shoes.   

D. Personal Protective Equipment: The Board shall provide the protective clothing and 

equipment necessary for food service and custodial employees to perform their jobs. Such 

clothing and equipment shall be limited to the following items: nonprescription safety 

glasses, rain jacket, rain pants, boots, and overalls. The Board reserves the right to determine 

the style and the type of protective gear to be used. Any employee who receives protective 

gear shall be responsible for such items and shall sign for receipt of the item in acceptable 

condition. All items of protective clothing shall remain the property of the Board and shall 

only be worn while working on an assigned school job.   All issued items of protective 

clothing shall be inspected by the employee prior to each use.  All damaged protective items 

and clothing must not be used and reported to the immediate supervisor and/or his/her 

designee.  

E. Protective Safety Glasses: The Board shall provide prescription safety glasses, only to 

custodial employees that need prescription glasses. No more than one pair per year shall be 

purchased for any individual employee. Quality of the safety glasses shall be determined by 

the School District. 

F. Tools:  The District will furnish, without cost to the employees, tools considered necessary 

by the District for the employee to perform their normal duties.  Any replacement of hand 

tools deemed necessary by the District will be furnished by the District without cost to the 

employee, except where loss due to negligence or willful destruction is apparent in which 

case the employee will be billed for the School District's replacement cost. 

7.09 Expenses 
Employees required, or approved, by the District to attend conferences, seminars, and inservice training 

sessions shall not receive reimbursement for travel, lodging, and registration unless prior approval has 

been received.  

7.10 Substitutes for Teachers 
Instructional Assistants/Special Education Assistants, with teacher licensure, assigned to substitute for an 

absent teacher for one class period or more will be paid an additional one dollar and fifty cents ($1.50) 

per class period hour for time spent substituting for a teacher during the teacher's absence.  By definition, 

teaching assistants who do not hold teaching or substitute certificates are not qualified teachers and shall 

not be required, permitted nor authorized to take the place of a teacher for the purpose of instructing 

students during times that a qualified substitute for that teacher could reasonably be expected to be hired. 

 This provision does not preclude teaching assistants from being assigned to student(s) supervision 

responsibilities, for example, monitoring a study hall.  An instructional assistant/special education 

assistant receiving compensation under this section is ineligible for the per diem substitute teacher pay. 

 



 

 

  
Colby School District Employee Handbook Part III Page 82 

SECTION 8. JOB RELATED TRAINING AND LICENSURE 

8.01 In-Service Training 
The district within its discretion may provide appropriate paid in service training to each employee. 

8.02 License Renewal Reimbursement for Special Education Assistants 
Special education assistants who have been employed by the District as a special education assistant for 

at least five years and who are required by the District and by the Department of Public Instruction to 

possess a DPI Special Education Aide License #883 shall be reimbursed by the District for up to seventy-

five dollars ($75.00) for the cost of renewal of the #883 license.  The reimbursement shall occur at the 

time of the DPI’s approval of the special education assistant’s application for license renewal.  The 

reimbursement is not applicable if the special education assistant has worked less than five years with the 

District or if the seventy-five dollars ($75.00) is to be applied toward the cost of the special education 

assistant’s initial five year special education aide #883 license.  

 

SECTION 9. EMPLOYEE EVALUATIONS 

9.01 Evaluation 
The primary purpose of evaluation is to provide continuous improvement in the quality of service to the 

community/students/staff of the District. 

9.02 Procedures and Instruments 
The District will orient all new employees regarding evaluation procedures and instruments. If an 

instrument is changed, all affected employees will be reoriented.  A copy of the evaluation forms are 

available in the Administrative Procedures Manual #538 or on the website at www.colby.k12.wi.us. 

9.03 Frequency 
The frequency of evaluations shall be established at the discretion of the Administration. 

9.04 Receipt of Evaluation 
Each employee shall receive a copy of his or her evaluation.  The employee will be expected to sign his 

or her evaluation but only to acknowledge receipt of the same. 

9.05 Comments, Disputes 
The employee may respond in writing with his or her comments attached to the completed evaluation.  

9.06 Evaluators 
The Employer shall have the sole right to determine whether or not employees shall be evaluated and by which 

supervisory personnel. When a teacher works with an instructional assistant, the teacher may be requested to 

provide objective input for consideration. by the administrator who is evaluating the instructional assistant. 

 

SECTION 10. RESIGNATION FROM EMPLOYMENT 

10.01 Notice of Termination of Employment 
Employees will give written notice of termination of employment, as soon as possible, but at least ten (10) 

working days prior to the effective date of resignation. If an employee has overused the holiday, sick or 

vacation time earned, the employee will have an amount equal to the value of that overused leave withheld 

from his or her last paycheck. The District's obligation to pay its share of the employee's insurance benefits 

will terminate at the end of the month in which the employee works his/her last day.  Any employee who 

breaches this Article shall, at the District’s discretion, forfeit any accrued benefits. 

 

http://www.colby.k12.wi.us/human_resources.cfm


 

 

  

PART IV – EXEMPT EXECUTIVE 
SUPPORT, SPECIALISTS, 

SUPERVISORY AND 
ADMINISTRATIVE EMPLOYEES 



 

 

 

Colby School District Handbook Part IV Page 84 

Exempt Executive, Specialists, Supervisory Employees (Salaried) 

Letter of Appointment 
School District of Colby 

Colby, WI 
 

It is hereby agreed between the Board of Education of the School District of Colby, party of the first part, and 

“NAME”, party of the second part, that said party of the second part shall perform the duties of “POSITION” 

for “DAYS” days during the “SCHOOL YEAR” school year in such buildings and at such times beginning on 

or about “CONTRACT YEAR” as the Board shall direct the sum of “SALARY” per year, payable in bi-

weekly installments, providing that any month’s pay will be withheld until all duties required by the Board of 

Education, Superintendent of Schools, and other administrative personnel have been properly fulfilled as 

required. 

1. It is Further Agreed by the party of the second part, that wages or salary shall begin at the time he or she 

reports for duty.  The wages or salary shall be paid on such calendar dates as set by the Board of 

Education. 

2. It is Further Agreed by the party of the second part, that this contract is made subject to all the rules and 

regulations of said Board of Education now in force and such as may hereafter be adopted, including the 

directions of the Superintendent of Schools. 

3. It is Further Agreed by the party of the second part, when first employed and thereafter according to Board 

Policy, to submit a report of medical examination on forms furnished by the school board.  This 

examination is to be paid for by the school district and is to include only those medical provisions as 

required by state law. 

4. It is Further Agreed that the party of the second part shall be entitled to leave and vacation as identified in 

the employee handbook.   

5. It is Further Agreed that the School District will pay 100% of the premium cost per month, for coverage 

under the group health/dental insurance as identified in Part I 15.02. 

6. It is Further Agreed that the School District shall provide and make payment for long-term Income 

Protection Insurance in case of disability.   

7. It if Further Agreed that the Board of Education agrees to pay a portion of the employee’s current year’s 

salary into the Colby Public Schools, Trustee Account Pension Plan or Wisconsin Deferred Comp, Non-

instructional Employees, or WRS provided the employee qualifies for and belongs to the plan; as defined 

in the employee handbook. 

8. It is Further Agreed that either party may terminate this contract immediately following written notice.  

The employee is considered an “at will” employee of the School District. 
 

In witness thereof the parties have executed this instrument this “DATE” day of “MONTH/YEAR”. 

Board of Education, School District of Colby 

By ___________________________________, President 

By ___________________________________, Clerk 

Please sign and return one copy of this contract to CDEC by “RETURN DATE”. 

_________________________________________  ________________________   

“EMPLOYEE NAME”      Date 

_________________________________________ 

Address 

_________________________________________ 



 

 

 

Colby School District Handbook Part IV Page 85 

SECTION 1. DISCIPLINE, TERMINATION AND NONRENEWAL 

1.01 Standard for Discipline and Termination 
An executive staff may be disciplined or terminated for “cause.”  Such discipline or termination shall be 

subject to the grievance procedure provisions of this Handbook.  “Cause” is defined as the following: 

A. There is a factual basis for the discipline or termination: The factual basis must support a 

finding of employee conduct in which the District has a disciplinary or termination interest; 

and 

B. Reasonableness of the penalty: The particular discipline or termination imposed by the 

District must not be unreasonable. 

1.02 Disciplinary Materials 
Copies of any disciplinary material(s) shall be provided to the employee before such material is placed in 

an employee’s personnel file.  The employee shall have the opportunity to reply to such materials and 

affix his/her reply to said material. 

 

SECTION 2. JOB RESPONSIBILITIES 

2.01 Executive Staff License or Certificate 
Executive Staff shall maintain a valid license or certificate, properly registered and issued by the State of 

Wisconsin, sufficient to lawfully permit each employee to perform such duties as may be assigned. 

2.02 Job Description 
Written job descriptions of each employee’s services, duties and obligations will be provided. 

 

SECTION 3. WORK SCHEDULES 

3.01 Work Schedules for Executive Staff 
Executive staff work schedules are set by the district administrator with the professional duties of each 

employee taken into account in the setting of the work schedule.  

 

SECTION 4. PROFESSIONAL GROWTH  

4.01 Requirement to Remain Current 
All executive staff shall engage in independent and active efforts to maintain high standards of individual 

excellence.  Executive staff are encouraged to continue professional growth through participation in 

conventions, programs, professional meetings and other activities conducted by local, state and national 

administrator associations; seminars, workshops and courses offered by institutions of higher learning, 

and other formal and informal professional development activities. 

 

SECTION 5. EXECUTIVE STAFF EVALUATION 

5.01 General Provisions 
Executive staff shall receive written evaluations based on job descriptions, including job related 

activities, and shall include observation of the employee’s performance as part of the evaluation data. 

5.02 Evaluation Frequency 
Executive staff shall receive a written evaluation at the end of their first year of employment and at least 

every other year thereafter. 



 

 

 

Colby School District Handbook Part IV Page 86 

5.03 Evaluators 
The school district administrator is responsible for the evaluation of executive staff and shall either 

perform those evaluations him or herself or shall direct that those evaluations be performed by other 

persons who have the training, knowledge and skills necessary to evaluate executive school personnel.  

 

SECTION 6. PROFESSIONAL COMPENSATION 

6.01 Professional Compensation 
Each executive staff shall be compensated in accordance with the terms of his or her individual contract. 

SECTION 7. PAID VACATION 

7.01 Notice 
Each employee shall be notified of their total number of vacation days by July 15th of each year. 

7.02 Calendar Year (two hundred and sixty (260) scheduled work days) Full-Time 

and Part-Time Employees 
A paid vacation is a day off with pay for the number of hours the employee normally works.  Paid 

Vacation will be provided to Calendar Year Full-time and Calendar Year Part-time employees according 

to the following schedule: 

Number of Years Worked Vacation Days Earned 

After one (1) year of service 10 days 

After three (3) years of service 12 days 

After five (5) years of service 14 days 

After seven (7) years of service 16 days 

After nine (9) years of service 18 days 

After eleven (11) years of service 20 days 

Every Year in addition to eleven (11)  1 day per year up to 25 days 

“Years of Service” as set forth in this Article refers to years of service in the District in a position that is 

eligible for vacation under Part IV.  Eligible employees in the District shall receive the preceding 

vacation depending on years of service as measured each July 1
st
.  For calculation purposes initial date of 

hire is considered year one.  For new employees, vacation is prorated based on date of hire.    For part-

time employees, vacation pay shall be pro-rated based on the average number of hours worked per week 

during the previous year. 

7.03 Vacation Accumulation 
An employee may carry over a total of 10 vacation days from the prior year to the next year's vacation 

amount.  Vacation days, in excess of the days carried over above, not used by the end of the applicable 

twelve month period, i.e. June 30
th
, shall be paid out at the daily rate. 

7.04 Scheduling of Vacation 
Vacation time may be taken in full blocks, or in shorter blocks not less than one hour as arranged with 

the immediate supervisor.  Requests for vacation time shall normally be made and approved at least five 

(5) working days prior to taking such leave, however, vacation time requested with less than five (5) 

working days notice may be approved by the District Administrator and/or his/her designee.  No 

employee may be denied the ability to take all of his or her accrued vacation during a 12-month period, 

but the District Administrator and/or his/her designee shall have the right to schedule vacations on a first-

come, first-served basis, as necessary to accomplish work objectives.   



 

 

 

Colby School District Handbook Part IV Page 87 

7.05 Payment upon Termination/Transfer to a Position Not Eligible for Vacation 
Any employee who terminates his or her employment for any reason, other than discharge, or any 

employee who transfers to a position that is not eligible for vacation, shall be entitled to the vacation pay 

remaining in his or her accumulation, as well as a pro-rated amount of the vacation that the employee 

would have received upon his or her next anniversary.  Compensation for any unused vacation days will 

be equal to the daily wages per accumulated day at the time of the employee's termination and will be 

remitted on the final paycheck. 

7.06 Holidays during Vacation 
Should a paid holiday fall during an employee's vacation period the employee shall be allowed to take an 

additional day of vacation in lieu of such holiday. 

 

SECTION 8. HOLIDAYS 

8.01 Holidays Defined 
A paid holiday is a day off with pay for the number of hours the employee normally works.  Paid 

holidays will be provided to full-time and part-time employees according to the following schedule: 

 A. Employees working a full calendar year (260 work days) 

January 1 Thanksgiving Day 

Memorial Day Day after Thanksgiving Day 

Good Friday  December 24 

July 4 December 25 

Labor Day December 31 

8.02 Holidays Falling on Weekends 
If any of the holidays listed above, fall on a Saturday, the preceding workday shall be observed as the 

holiday.  If any of the above named holidays falls on a Sunday, the following workday shall be observed 

as the holiday.  If January 1st falls on a Sunday and school is scheduled to begin on the following 

Monday, the preceding Thursday shall be observed as the December 31st holiday and the preceding 

Friday shall be observed as the January 1st Holiday.  If December 24 and December 31 fall on a Sunday, 

the preceding Friday shall be declared the holiday. 

8.03 Retirement Contributions 
Exempt Executive and supervisory employees who have worked over 1,000 hours in one fiscal year for 

the District are eligible to participate in the Colby School District Employee Pension Plan or Wisconsin 

Deferred Compensation Program, non-instructional employees, to which the employee contributes 4% 

and the District contributes 8% of the employee’s annual salary.   

Specialists who work 440 hours in one fiscal year for the District are eligible to participate in the 

Wisconsin Retirement System (WRS); any specialists hired after July 1, 2011 must work 880 hours in 

one fiscal year.  The Board agrees to contribute the employer’s share.  The employee agrees to pay the 

employee’s required WRS contribution as required by state statute requirements.  Under no 

circumstances shall the Board pay the employee’s required WRS contribution.  

 

SECTION 9. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 

9.01 Voluntary Early Retirement Benefit Program 
A. Eligibility 

Employees will be eligible for the early retirement benefit provided for in this Article if they declare, in 

writing, to the Board of Education, their retirement intentions prior to February 1 of the calendar year 



 

 

 

Colby School District Handbook Part IV Page 88 

in which they intend to retire from an employer contributing to the Wisconsin Retirement System. 

B. Application and Limitation 

Application for participation in the early retirement benefit provided for in this Article must be made 

by the employee in writing and submitted to the School Board on or before February 1st of the last 

school year prior to retirement from an employer contributing to the Wisconsin Retirement System.  No 

more than three (3) employees shall be eligible to begin participation in the early retirement benefits 

provided for in this Article in the same year unless the School Board, at its sole discretion, approves a 

higher number.  In the event there are more applicants than are eligible to participate, the most senior 

applicants, based on Colby School District experience, will be selected.  If seniority is equal, the 

selection will be based on the order of receipt of the application. 

C. Early Retirement Benefit Health Insurance 

Upon retirement, for an eligible employee whose application has been approved, the District will credit 

up to three thousand dollars for each year of service ($3,000 x years of service at the Colby School 

District) to serve as a credit for the retiree for use in the payment of the premium for health insurance / 

medical expenses through the District until the employee becomes entitled to Medicare.  

1) Effective with the 2011-12 school year, each qualifying employee shall have $3,000, or such 

amount as proportional to the employment status of the employee pursuant to his/her letter of 

appointment, designated in an HRA (Health Retirement Account) to be used for health 

insurance benefits upon retirement.  The HRA may be funded or unfunded as determined by 

the District unless otherwise required by law. 

2) The HRA benefit shall accrue to the employee (subject to the terms of this provision) at the 

completion of the employee’s sixth full year of service in the Colby School District.  Full year 

is defined as “full time” (1.0 FTE) and prorated based on FTE specified in the employee’s 

letter of appointment with the District.  

3) In the event of death of the retiree, his or her spouse will be eligible to the above credits on the 

above basis as if the retiree was still living through the eligibility period reflected in this 

benefit offering had the employee survived.  

4) There is no cash equivalency benefit available under this provision for the retiree or any 

surviving spouse. 

D. Payment of Benefit 

1) Upon Board approval of the retirement date, a monthly benefit is determined by dividing the 

total benefit credit by the number of months until the employee becomes entitled to Medicare 

eligibility.  

2) Retired employees may use the HRA credit to receive reimbursement for qualifying health 

insurance through the District or to receive reimbursement of qualifying health insurance / 

medical expenses from a third party vendor selected by the district.  

3) Retired employees who return to work in any position which offers health insurance shall have 

their benefit suspended until they no longer work in a position that is eligible for health 

insurance, subject to the terms for participation eligibility.  Upon termination of any health 

insurance qualifying post retirement employment, monthly benefits with the Colby School 

District will be recalculated as described in Part II, Section 8, D(1).   

4) Any retiree who fails to provide notice to the District as provided in Part II, Section B within 

twelve (12) months of their retirement, shall forfeit this benefit. 

5) The District reserves the right to modify this benefit offering at any time or cease it in its 

entirety including for retirees in pay status.  Decisions made by the District in the interpretation 

and operation of this benefit offering shall be in its sole discretion and are final and binding.  In 

the event of any review of a decision by a court of law, the reviewing tribunal shall give 

deference to the District’s decision, confirming such decision, unless it is shown that the 

District acted in an arbitrary and capricious manner.  The decision of the District on all issues 

under this offering shall be final. 

 



 

 

  

  

PART V – CO-CURRICULAR 
EMPLOYEES 



 

 

  

Colby School District Handbook Part V Page 90 

Personnel Letter of Appointment 
School District of Colby 

Colby, WI 

 

It is hereby agreed between the Board of Education of the School District of Colby, party of the first part, 

and “EMPLOYEE NAME”, party of the second part that said party of the second part shall perform the 

duties of “POSITION”, during the “YEAR” school year as the Board shall direct the sum of “$$$”, 

providing that any pay will be withheld until all duties required by the Board of Education, Superintendent 

of Schools, and other administrative personnel have been properly fulfilled as required. 

 

It is Further Agreed by the party of the second part, that this contract is made subject to all the rules and 

regulations of said Board of Education now in force and such as may hereafter be adopted, including the 

directions of the Superintendent of Schools and other administrative personnel. 

 

It is Further Agreed by the party of the second part, when first employed and thereafter according to Board 

Policy, to submit a report of medical examination of forms furnished by the school board.  This examination 

is to be paid for by the school district and is to include only those medical provisions as required by state 

law. 

 

It is Further Agreed by the party of the second part, that wages shall begin at the time he or she reports for 

duty.  The wages or salary shall be paid bi-weekly on such calendar dates as set by the Board of Education. 

 

Please sign and return one copy of this contract by “RETURN DATE”. 

 

Dated this 
th

 day of “DATE”. By ___________________________________, Clerk 

 Board of Education, School District of Colby 

 

_________________________________________  ________________________ 

“EMPLOYEE NAME”      Date 

_________________________________________ 

Address 

_________________________________________ 

 

 



 

 

  

Colby School District Handbook Part V Page 91 

 

SECTION 1. ATHLETIC AND ACTIVITY ASSIGNMENTS 

1.01 Letter of Appointment 
Employees shall assume responsibility for the supervision of the extra-curricular activities that are 

included in their letters of appointment.  Such activities shall be governed according to the following 

guidelines: 

A. Activity assignments will be offered to the individual who, in the sole discretion of the 

District, is the most qualified applicant.  However, under no circumstances shall a Board 

member work as a coach, assistant coach, advisor, or assistant advisor to an extra-curricular 

activity (on either a paid or a volunteer basis). 

B. The stipend for extra-curricular activities shall be specified in the letter of assignment. 

C. The letter of appointment shall not be deemed a contract, and individuals holding extra-

curricular positions are at-will employees. 

1.02 Payments 
Payments for extra-curricular activities shall be made in accordance with District payroll 

procedures.  However, wages earned shall be paid at least monthly, with no longer than 31 days 

between pay periods. 

1.03 Work Schedule 
Extra-curricular assignments may occasionally occur during part of an employee’s regular 

workday in his/her other position(s) with the District (e.g., as a teacher).  In such cases, the 

employee shall consult with the supervisor of his/her regular assignment to determine the 

appropriate course of action.  In the supervisor’s sole discretion, the employee may be (1) 

required to work a flexible schedule to make up time lost during his/her regular workday; (2) 

relieved from the requirement to make up the time lost; (3) required to re-schedule the extra-

curricular activity; or (4) required to take any other action that the supervisor deems reasonable. 

1.04 Evaluation of Extra-Curricular Appointments 
Individuals holding extra-curricular appointments shall be evaluated in the manner and frequency 

that their supervisor deems appropriate.  When determining the manner and frequency of 

evaluations, the supervisor may take into account such factors as (1) the individual’s experience 

with the particular activity; (2) input received from participants, parents, and other stakeholders; 

(3) the extent to which an individual needs additional guidance or oversight; and (4) any other 

consideration that a supervisor, in his/or reasonable discretion, deems appropriate. 

1.05 Volunteers 
Upon approval from the head coach/advisor and the athletic director or principal, an individual 

may serve as a volunteer coach/advisor for an extra-curricular activity.  The following guidelines 

apply to volunteers and can be found in the Volunteer Handbook – Administrative Procedure 

#549.2 and at www.colby.k12.wi.us: 

A. They will not be eligible for salary/wages, stipend, or benefits;  

B. They will be covered by the District’s general liability insurance policy while acting as a 

volunteer coach for the District. However, there is no coverage under the District’s liability 

insurance policy for claims made against volunteers by other volunteers or District 

employees; 

C. They will be responsible for their own personal injuries(i.e., ineligible for worker’s 

compensation);  

D. They must consent to a background check and agree to have a tuberculin skin (TB) test; 

E. They must follow all District activity and athletic policies and procedures and other District 

http://www.colby.k12.wi.us/


 

 

  

Colby School District Handbook Part V Page 92 

policies as applicable;  

F. They accept direct and indirect supervision of the head coach; and,  

G. They may be dismissed at any time without cause. 

1.06 Extra-Curricular Pay Schedule 
Extra-curricular employees shall be paid in accordance with the Extra Curricular Pay Schedule 

[Appendix Part V – 1.06]. 

 

 

file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/kseifert/Application%20Data/Microsoft/Word/Appendix/Part%20V/Part%20V%20-%201.06%20Extra-curricular%20Pay%20Schedule.docx


 

 

  

PART VI – SUBSTITUTE 
EMPLOYEES 



 

 
Colby School District Handbook Part VI Page 94 

 

SECTION 1. ALL SUBSTITUTE EMPLOYEES 

1.01 Pre-Employment Requirements 
All new substitute staff hires will have to meet all new staff requirements, including but not limited to a 

criminal background check as deemed necessary by administration. 

 

SECTION 2. SUBSTITUTE TEACHERS 

2.01 Licensure and/or Permit 
All substitute teachers shall have the necessary license and/or permit required by state law to serve in the 

substitute teaching assignment.  

2.02 Training and Evaluation 
Suitable programs of training, orienting and evaluating the work of substitute teachers may be provided 

by the instructional staff and/or the District as appropriate. 

2.03 Assignment and Professional Responsibilities 
A. Assignments:  Substitutes shall be assigned at the discretion of the District.   

B. A copy of the appropriate school policies, an outline of the absence and tardiness 

procedures, recess schedule (if applicable), teacher’s daily schedule, general class schedule 

(bell schedule when applicable), name of any individual designated in charge of discipline, 

seating charts, class schedule and lesson plans for all classes to be taught shall be made 

available to the substitute.  School Board policies will be available to the substitute on the 

District website. 

C. Notifying/Declining Daily Substitute Call/Mistaken Acceptance of Assignment 

1. A substitute teacher may refuse an automated or personal daily call.   The District may, 

in its sole discretion, unilaterally remove individuals from the substitute teacher list if 

the substitute demonstrates a pattern or practice of declining assignments.    

2. A substitute who accepts a job by mistake will contact the district as soon as possible 

to rectify the error.  A substitute who wishes to cancel an assignment on the current 

date must inform the building secretary by phone.  Any substitute teacher who abuses 

the cancellation privilege, in the District’s discretion, may have their name removed 

from the substitute list. 

D. Professional Responsibilities: 

The professional responsibilities and duties of substitutes shall be consistent with the 

regular teacher's responsibilities and duties for whom they are substituting.  When a 

substitute is employed as a long-term substitute teacher, or is employed at the end of the 

semester, and is expected to close out school records, do report cards, and inventories, 

he/she may be given up to one day to complete these tasks if deemed necessary by the 

principal.  The substitute will be compensated at the applicable substitute rate. 

E. Long-Term Substitute Assignment 

1. When a substitute is assigned for more than ten (10) consecutive days in the same 

position, then the long-term rates apply, unless the long-term nature of the assignment 

such long-term is known in advance, in which case payment will begin on the first day. 

 The substitute’s hourly rate shall be computed based on the number of periods per day 

in a building (e.g. at elementary level – eight (8) hours). 

2. Responsibilities of the long-term substitute teacher shall be the same as the regular 

classroom teacher. 

F. Substitute Teaching Day:  substitute’s teaching day shall be eight (8) hours, excluding the 

duty free lunch, when subbing for a full-time teacher who is absent for a whole day.  If a 



 

 
Colby School District Handbook Part VI Page 95 

teacher does not have a full schedule of classes the time will be prorated.  A substitute’s 

teaching day may be less than eight (8) hours if the substitute is replacing a teacher on a 

partial absence. 

2.04 Compensation  
A. Daily Rate:   Substitute teachers shall receive compensation for services rendered.  

Substitute teachers shall be employed at the rate established by the District.  Substitute 

teachers shall be paid in accordance with the Substitute Teacher Pay Schedule [Appendix 

Part VI – 2.04].  Part-time substitute teachers shall be paid on a prorated basis based off of 

the full daily rates set forth above.  The substitutes’ hourly rate shall be computed based on 

the number of periods per day in a building.  (At the elementary level - 8 hours.) 

B. Homebound or Alternative Site Instruction 

1. Substitute teachers who are contracted to provide homebound or alternative site 

instruction to a student of this school district, shall be compensated in accordance with 

the Substitute Teacher Pay Schedule [Appendix Part VI – 2.04]. 

2. Substitute teachers will be paid mileage from the student’s school to the student’s 

location and back pursuant to the terms of the Handbook.  If a substitute teacher is 

required to report to the District and subsequently travel to a different location (either 

within or outside of the District), the District will reimburse him/her an amount equal to 

the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) business travel rate per mile for travel to that second 

location (and back to the first location, if required by the District). 

2.05 Dismissal/Removal from Substitute List 
Substitute teachers are casual employees and therefore have no expectation of continued employment.  

As such substitute teachers may be disciplined or discharged for any reason without recourse to the 

grievance procedure.  Substitute teachers may also be removed from the substitute call list at the 

discretion of the District Administrator. 

2.06 Miscellaneous Provisions 
A. In-Service:  Each per diem substitute may be required to participate in new teacher 

orientation or teacher in-service day programs in the schools.  Per diem substitutes shall be 

paid at their applicable rate for in-service participation if the employer requires them to 

attend.  Long-term substitutes will be required to attend in-service days and will receive their 

long-term rate.  The principal may, in his/her discretion, determine and notify the long-term 

substitute that he/she is not required to attend an in-service day(s) and will not be paid for 

that day.  Substitute teachers may participate in after school/summer in-services at no cost, 

provided teachers members and/or administrators are able to attend without cost.  Substitute 

teachers may participate in after school/summer in-services at the same cost as teachers 

provided the vendor offers such a discount to substitute teachers.  The substitute teacher may 

participate at the cost established by the vendor if the vendor does not offer such a discount 

to substitute teachers.  Substitute teachers availability to participate in all of the above 

school/summer in-services will be on a space available basis as determined by the District.   

B. Duty Free Lunch:  All substitutes shall be provided with a daily duty-free lunch period of at 

least thirty (30) continuous minutes.   

C. In-service/Orientation:  The District may provide an orientation at the beginning of each 

school year.  Attendance at the in-service will be voluntary and the in-service shall last no 

more than two (2) hours.  Substitute teachers attending the in-service will not be 

compensated for their attendance. 

D. Online Services:  Long-term substitutes will be provided district email accounts and network 

access. 

 

file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/kseifert/Application%20Data/Microsoft/Word/Appendix/Part%20VI/Part%20VI%20-%202.07%20Substitute%20Teacher%20Pay%20Schedule.docx
file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/kseifert/Application%20Data/Microsoft/Word/Appendix/Part%20VI/Part%20VI%20-%202.07%20Substitute%20Teacher%20Pay%20Schedule.docx
file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/kseifert/Application%20Data/Microsoft/Word/Appendix/Part%20VI/Part%20VI%20-%202.07%20Substitute%20Teacher%20Pay%20Schedule.docx


 

 
Colby School District Handbook Part VI Page 96 

SECTION 3. SUPPORT STAFF SUBSTITUTES 

3.01 Licensure and/or Permit 
All substitute support staff shall have the necessary license and/or permit required by state 

law to serve in the substitute assignment.  

3.02 Training and Evaluation 
Suitable programs of training, orienting and evaluating the work of substitute support staff 

may be provided by other district staff and/or the District as appropriate. 

3.03 Assignment and Professional Responsibilities 
A. Assignments:  Substitutes shall be assigned at the discretion of the District.   

B. Board Policies:  A copy of the appropriate school policies shall be made available to the 

substitute upon request. 

C. Notifying/Declining Daily Substitute Call/Mistaken Acceptance of Assignment 

1. A substitute may refuse an automated or personal daily call.   The District may, in its 

sole discretion, unilaterally remove individuals from the substitute list if the substitute 

demonstrates a pattern or practice of declining assignments.    

2. A substitute who accepts a job by mistake will contact the district as soon as possible to 

rectify the error. A substitute may also cancel an assignment using the automated system 

in advance of the current day without providing notification to the Secretary, District 

Substitutes.  A substitute who wishes to cancel an assignment on the current date must 

inform the Secretary, District Substitutes by phone. Any substitute who abuses the 

cancellation privilege, in the District’s discretion, will have their cancellation rights 

revoked. 

D. Responsibilities:  The responsibilities and duties of substitutes shall be consistent with the 

regular employee's responsibilities and duties for whom they are substituting.   

E. Substitute Day:  The substitute’s length of service will be determined by the District. 

3.04 Compensation  
Hourly Rate:   Substitute employees shall receive compensation for services rendered as determined by 

the District.  Substitutes shall be employed at the rate established by the District.  Substitute employees 

shall be paid in accordance with the Substitute Pay Schedule [Appendix Part VI – 3.04]. 

3.05 Dismissal/Removal from Substitute List 
Substitute employees are casual employees and therefore have no expectation of continued employment.  

As such substitute employees may be disciplined or discharged for any reason without recourse to the 

grievance procedure.  Substitute employees may also be removed the substitute call list at the discretion 

of the district. 

3.06 Miscellaneous Provisions 
A. In-Service:  Each per diem substitute may be required to participate in new employee 

orientation or in-service day programs in the schools.  Substitutes shall be paid at their 

applicable hourly rate for in-service participation if the employer requires them to attend.  

B. Duty Free Lunch:  All substitutes shall be provided breaks and lunch periods consistent with 

the support staff person that the substitute is replacing.   

C. In-service/Orientation:  The District may provide an orientation at the beginning of each 

school year.  Attendance at the in-service will be voluntary and the in-service shall last no 

more than two (2) hours.  Substitutes attending the in-service will not be compensated for 

their attendance. 

file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/kseifert/Application%20Data/Microsoft/Word/Appendix/Part%20VI/Part%20VI%20-%202.07%20Substitute%20Teacher%20Pay%20Schedule.docx


 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Appendix Part I - 1.02E(3) Page 97 

 

APPENDIX 

COLBY SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Seasonal Employee Wage Schedule 

 
 First Season of 

Employment 

Third Season of 

Employment 

Fifth Season of 

Employment 

Seventh Season 

of Employment 

Custodial $8.95/Hour $9.20/Hour $9.45/Hour $9.70/Hour 

Lifeguard* $9.50/Hour $10.00/Hour $10.50/Hour $11.00/Hour 

Summer Recreation 

Community Ed.** 

 Licensed Teacher 

 Non-Licensed 

 

 

$24/Hour 

$14-20/Hour 

 

 

$25/Hour 

$15-21/Hour 

 

 

$26/Hour 

$16-22/Hour 

 

 

$27/Hour 

$17-23/Hour 

 

 

 

* Lifeguards must hold proper certification and be eligible for a work permit. 

** Wage Based on required Education/Licensure in content instructing.  Wage 

may be adjusted to align with class enrollment. 



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Appendix Part I – 2.04A Page 98 

Agreement to Accept Compensatory Time Off  
in Lieu of Overtime Pay 

I agree to accept compensatory time off, in accordance with section 2.04 of the District’s employee Handbook and 

in lieu of overtime pay, at a rate of one and one-half hours of compensatory time off for each hour worked over 40 

in a single workweek.  I understand that compensatory time off is available to me only for overtime hours I worked 

after the date in this agreement is signed.  By signing this agreement, I understand that the District may substitute 

cash compensation for compensatory time off at any time.  I also understand that the District may deny my request 

to use compensatory time off if the District determines that my absence would cause an undue disruption to the 

District’s operations on the day in which I requested to use compensatory time off.  Requests for compensatory 

time off must be made in writing, specify the date and time in which you would be absent and be delivered to your 

immediate supervisor or building principal for consideration and approval at least 24 hours in advance of the 

requested time off. 

The District office shall maintain the following record to document overtime hours worked/compensatory time 

earned and compensatory time used.  The employee will be given a copy of this agreement, and the employee may 

inspect this record at any time upon giving at least 24 hours’ notice. 

Workweek 

Start/End 

Dates 

Total 

Hours 

Worked 

Comp. 

Hours 

Earned 

Comp. 

Hours 

Used 

 

Comp. 

Hours Paid 

in Cash 

 

Date of 

Cash 

Payment 

Total Comp. 

Hours 

Remaining 

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

 (add additional sheets as necessary) 

 

____________________________     ____________________ 

Employee’s Signature       Date 

 

____________________________     ____________________ 

Administrator’s Signature      Date 



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Appendix Part I - 2.04B Page 99 

Employment Posters and Related Information 
POSTERS 
Notice to Wisconsin Workers with Disabilities Paid at Special Minimum Wage 

English http://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/erd/pdf/erd_9116_p.pdf 

 
Employee Protections Against Use of Honesty Testing Devices - Wisconsin 

English http://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/erd/pdf/erd_10861_p.pdf 

 
Equal Employment Opportunity is the Law 

English http://www1.eeoc.gov/employers/upload/eeoc_self_print_poster.pdf 

Spanish http://www.eeoc.gov/employers/upload/eeoc_self_print_poster_spanish.pdf 

“EEO is the Law” Poster Supplement  

English http://www1.eeoc.gov/employers/upload/eeoc_gina_supplement.pdf 

Spanish http://www.eeoc.gov/employers/upload/eeoc_gina_supplement_spanish.pdf 

 
Fair Employment Law - Wisconsin 

English http://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/erd/pdf/erd_4531_p.pdf 

Spanish http://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/erd/pdf/erd_4531_s_p.pdf 

 
Fair Labor Standards Act - Federal 

http://www.dol.gov/whd/regs/compliance/posters/wh1385State.pdf 

 
Family and Medical Leave Act - Wisconsin 

English http://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/erd/pdf/erd_7983_p.pdf   
Spanish http://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/erd/pdf/erd_7983_s_p.pdf 

 

Family and Medical Leave Act – Employee Rights and Responsibilities - Federal 

English http://www.dol.gov/whd/regs/compliance/posters/fmlaen.pdf 

*Information about the federal Family and Medical Leave Act also must be in your employee handbook. 

 
Hazardous Chemicals in the Workplace? 

English http://dsps.wi.gov/sb/docs/sb-PubSectSafHazardousPoster6894.pdf 
 
Public Employee Safety and Health 

English http://dsps.wi.gov/sb/docs/SB-PubSectSafEmployeePoster9301.pdf 

 
Hours and Times of Day Minors May Work in Wisconsin 

English http://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/erd/pdf/erd_9212_p.pdf 

Spanish https://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/erd/pdf/erd_9212_s_p.pdf 

Chinese http://www.dwd.state.wi.us/dwd/publications/erd/doc/ERD-9212-Chinese-P.doc 

Lao http://www.dwd.state.wi.us/dwd/publications/erd/doc/ERD-9212-Lao-P.doc 

 
Job Loss? Important Information Workers Need to Know to Protect their Health Coverage and 

Retirement Benefits  

http://www.dol.gov/ebsa/pdf/joblossposter2.pdf 
 
Notice to Employees About Applying for Wisconsin Unemployment Benefits 

English http://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/ui/ucb7e.pdf 

Spanish http://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/ui/ucb7s.pdf 

http://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/erd/pdf/erd_9116_p.pdf
http://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/erd/pdf/erd_10861_p.pdf
http://www1.eeoc.gov/employers/upload/eeoc_self_print_poster.pdf
http://www.eeoc.gov/employers/upload/eeoc_self_print_poster_spanish.pdf
http://www1.eeoc.gov/employers/upload/eeoc_gina_supplement.pdf
http://www.eeoc.gov/employers/upload/eeoc_gina_supplement_spanish.pdf
http://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/erd/pdf/erd_4531_p.pdf
http://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/erd/pdf/erd_4531_s_p.pdf
http://www.dol.gov/whd/regs/compliance/posters/wh1385State.pdf
http://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/erd/pdf/erd_7983_p.pdf
http://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/erd/pdf/erd_7983_s_p.pdf
http://www.dol.gov/whd/regs/compliance/posters/fmlaen.pdf
http://dsps.wi.gov/sb/docs/sb-PubSectSafHazardousPoster6894.pdf
http://dsps.wi.gov/sb/docs/SB-PubSectSafEmployeePoster9301.pdf
http://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/erd/pdf/erd_9212_p.pdf
https://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/erd/pdf/erd_9212_s_p.pdf
http://www.dwd.state.wi.us/dwd/publications/erd/doc/ERD-9212-Chinese-P.doc
http://www.dwd.state.wi.us/dwd/publications/erd/doc/ERD-9212-Lao-P.doc
http://www.dol.gov/ebsa/pdf/joblossposter2.pdf
http://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/ui/ucb7e.pdf
http://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/ui/ucb7s.pdf


 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Appendix Part I - 2.04B Page 100 

Hmong http://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/ui/ucb7h.pdf 
 
Notification Required When Employers Decide to Cease Providing a Health Care Benefit Plan 

English http://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/erd/pdf/erd_11054_p.pdf 

 
Minimum Wage Rates - Wisconsin 

English http://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/erd/pdf/erd_9247_p.pdf 

Spanish http://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/erd/pdf/erd_9247_s_p.pdf 

 
Your Rights Under USERRA: The Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act 

(complete information from Dept. of Labor) 

English http://www.dol.gov/vets/programs/userra/USERRA_Private.pdf#Non-Federal 

 
 

 

RELATED INFORMATION 
Age Discrimination in Employment Act (ADEA) 

http://www.eeoc.gov/laws/statutes/adea.cfm 

 

Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) 

 http://www1.eeoc.gov/eeoc/publications/fs-ada.cfm 

 

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF LABOR WORKPLACE POSTER REQUIREMENTS FOR SMALL 

BUSINESSES AND OTHER EMPLOYERS 

http://www.dol.gov/oasam/programs/osdbu/sbrefa/poster/matrix.htm 
 
If your district is a federal government contractor or subcontractor, please be aware that there 

may be other posting requirements for you. 

 

 

http://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/ui/ucb7h.pdf
http://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/erd/pdf/erd_11054_p.pdf
http://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/erd/pdf/erd_9247_p.pdf
http://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/erd/pdf/erd_9247_s_p.pdf
http://www.dol.gov/vets/programs/userra/
http://www.dol.gov/vets/programs/userra/USERRA_Private.pdf#Non-Federal
http://www.eeoc.gov/laws/statutes/adea.cfm
http://www1.eeoc.gov/eeoc/publications/fs-ada.cfm
http://www.dol.gov/oasam/programs/osdbu/sbrefa/poster/matrix.htm


 

 Colby School District Employee Handbook Appendix Part I – 15.02 Page 101 

Employee Rights and Responsibilities 



 

 Colby School District Employee Handbook Appendix Part I – 15.02 Page 102 

 

2012-13 2011-12 Insurance Contributions & 
Deductions 

 
The Board of education shall provide health and dental insurance to eligible employees.  The District 

shall establish an annual budget for health and dental insurance for employees.  The District’s Health 

Insurance Committee shall negotiate rates, premiums and plan specifics with vendors and annually 

present this information to the Board.  The Board will make the final decision and approval of the 

insurance plans. 

 

SINGLE PLAN 

 WEA DENTAL SECURITY HEALTH PLAN 

District Yearly Contribution 
$322.92 $291.65 $8,557.92 $7,716.82 

Employee Yearly Contribution 
$80.76 $72.91 $950.88 $857.42 

Salaried (Teacher) & Calendar 

Year Hourly Employee Cost per 

Check  

TEA-$3.36 

12 MO-$3.11 

$3.04 

TEA-$39.62 

12 MO-$36.57 

$35.73 

Hourly Employees Cost Per Check $4.25 $3.84 $50.05 $45.13 

 

 

FAMILY PLAN 

 WEA DENTAL SECURITY HEALTH PLAN 

District Yearly Contribution 
$936.16 $847.49 $18,827.64 $16,977.17 

Employee Yearly Contribution 
$234.48 $211.87 $2,091.96 $1,886.35 

Salaried (Teacher) & Calendar 

Year Hourly Employee Cost per 

Check 

TEA-$9.77 

12 MO-$9.02 

$8.83 

TEA-$87.17 

12 MO-$80.46 

$78.60 

Hourly Employees Cost per Check $12.34 $11.15 $110.10 $99.28 

 



 

 Colby School District Employee Handbook Appendix Part I – 15.02 Page 103 

WEA Dental Insurance Summary of Benefits



 

 Colby School District Employee Handbook Appendix Part I – 15.02 Page 104 



 

 Colby School District Employee Handbook Appendix Part I – 15.02 Page 105 

Security Health Plan Health Insurance Summary of Benefits



 

 Colby School District Employee Handbook Appendix Part I – 15.02 Page 106 



 

 Colby School District Employee Handbook Appendix Part I – 15.02 Page 107 



 

 Colby School District Employee Handbook Appendix Part I – 15.02 Page 108 



 

 Colby School District Employee Handbook Appendix Part I – 15.02 Page 109 



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Appendix Part III – 7.01  Page 110 

 

Wage Schedule 
 

NON-EXEMPT(HOURLY) STAFF 

NOVICE PAY/ BASE PAY 

 

Novice pay is the starting hourly rate.  After six months of employment and a performance evaluation by 

the immediate supervisor indicating knowledge of tasks, training opportunities, and performance 

satisfaction, a recommendation can be made for a raise to base pay. 

 

Employee Group Novice Pay Base Pay 

Custodians $9.95 $10.20 

Food Service – Cooks $9.10 $9.35 

Food Service – Computer/Server $8.25 $8.60 

Instructional Aides $9.10 $9.35 

Media Aides $9.20 $9.45 

Secretaries $9.20 $9.45 

 

 



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Appendix Part III – 7.03A  Page 111 

Colby School District 

Support Staff Compensation Plan Adjustment 

 

Date: ________________________________ 

Employee:  ___________________________  Date of Application:__________________ 

Position: _____________________________ Date of Hire:   

 

Current Compensation Scale Placement:  

 

$______Novice Pay Rate: $_______/Hr. to Base Pay Rate $_________ 

$______Current Pay Rate + $_____Performance Increment = $              /Hr. + _____Skill Increment = $_______/Hr. 

 

 EMPLOYEE APPLICATION FOR CONSIDERATION FOR ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION 

 

 SUPERVISOR’S RECOMMENDATION FOR CONSIDERATION FOR COMPENSATION PLAN 

ADJUSTMENT 

 ___Base Level – Evaluation Attached 

   ___ Performance Level – Evaluation Attached 

   ___Skill Increment (Additional Training Documentation Attached) 

   ___Service Increment - Automatically Adjusted by District Payroll Office 

   ___Other (Change in Job Classification to: __________________) 

   ___Other (Change in Hours to: ___________________________) 

   ___Other (Please Specify: _______________________________) 

SIGNED: _____________________________________________________ 

 

RATIONALE: 

_______________________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________________

_____________________ 

 Approved    Not Approved 

 

SIGNED: ____________________________________________ 

  Supervisor 

DATE: ______________________________________________ 

 



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Appendix Part III – 7.03A  Page 112 

 

 

 

[  ]  Approved – Building Administrator _______________________________ 

[  ]  Not Approved *    Signature 

Date________________________ 

 

 

[  ]  Approved – District Administrator ________________________________ 

[  ]  Not Approved *    Signature 

      Date________________________ 

 

RATIONALE: 

____________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

* Applications or Recommendations that are not approved may be appealed to the next decision-level, District 

Administrator or Board of Education Personnel Committee. 

 



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Appendix Part III – 7.03C  Page 113 

Colby School District 

Support Personnel – Additional Training Record 
 

Employee         Date Submitted         

TRAINING REQUESTED: Workshop/Activity Description  

        

  

  

Offered By:         

Dates of Attendance/Study:         to         

Number of Hours          [Attach Documentation of Hours Devoted to Activity/Study] 

Payment: $        by Colby School District 

 $        by Participant* 

 

APPROVAL FOR TRAINING: 

 Enrollment for Training is Authorized 

 Training Qualifies for Salary Enhancement Upon Completion* 

(See “Certification – Completion of Training” Below) 

 

    

Supervisor Date 

 

CERTIFICATION - COMPLETION OF TRAINING 

I hereby certify that I have completed the approved training program authorized above and have presented 

completion certification to my supervisor.  Documentation of workshop/training activity is attached. 

 

    

Signature of Employee Date 

Training qualifies for salary schedule enhancement. 

 

    

Supervisor’s Signature Date 

 

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY - [To Be Recorded Upon Completion of Approved Training]: 

 

Number of Hours Eligible for Salary Schedule Enhancement:   

Date Recorded:   



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Appendix Part III – 7.03C  Page 114 

 

 

[  ]  Approved – Building Administrator _______________________________ 

[  ]  Not Approved *    Signature 

Date________________________ 

 

[  ]  Approved – District Administrator ________________________________ 

[  ]  Not Approved *    Signature 

      Date________________________ 

 

RATIONALE: 

____________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

* Applications or Recommendations that are not approved may be appealed to the next decision-level, District 

Administrator or Board of Education Personnel Committee. 

 



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Appendix Part V -1.06 Page 115 

Colby School District 

Extra-curricular Pay Schedule 

(Extra pay computed on percentage of maximum amount on experience level) 

   

Base Base Base 

   

0 to 3 Years 4 to 7 Years Over 7 Years 

   

$1,931.00  $2,040.00  $2,217.00  

FOOTBALL 

     Varsity Head Coach 

 

100% $1,931.00  $2,040.00  $2,217.00  

Varsity Assistant Coach 

 

83% $1,602.73  $1,693.20  $1,840.11  

Ninth Grade Coach 

 

74% $1,428.94  $1,509.60  $1,640.58  

Middle School Head Coach 

 

64% $1,235.84  $1,305.60  $1,418.88  

Middle School Assistant Coach 

 

46% $888.26  $938.40  $1,019.82  

Pre-School FB - Coaching Per Day (WIAA Regs) 

  

$20.00  $20.00  $20.00  

      CROSS COUNTRY 

     Head Coach 

 

96% $1,853.76  $1,958.40  $2,128.32  

Assistant Coach 

 

83% $1,602.73  $1,693.20  $1,840.11  

Middle School Head Coach 

 

64% $1,235.84  $1,305.60  $1,418.88  

Pre-School CC - Coaching Per Day (WIAA Regs) 

  

$20.00  $20.00  $20.00  

      VOLLEYBALL 

     Varsity Head Coach 

 

96% $1,853.76  $1,958.40  $2,128.32  

Varsity Assistant Coach 

 

83% $1,602.73  $1,693.20  $1,840.11  

Ninth Grade Coach 

 

74% $1,428.94  $1,509.60  $1,640.58  

Middle School Head Coach 

 

64% $1,235.84  $1,305.60  $1,418.88  

Middle School Assistant Coach 

 

46% $888.26  $938.40  $1,019.82  

Pre-School VB - Coaching Per Day (WIAA Regs) 

  

$20.00  $20.00  $20.00  

      SWIMMING 

     Varsity Head Coach - Boys or Girls 

 

96% $1,853.76  $1,958.40  $2,128.32  

Varsity Assistant Coach - Boys or Girls 

 

83% $1,602.73  $1,693.20  $1,840.11  

Middle School Coach 

 

64% $1,235.84  $1,305.60  $1,418.88  

Pre-School Swim - Coaching Per Day (WIAA Regs) 

 

$20.00  $20.00  $20.00  

      BASKETBALL - BOYS 

     Varsity Head Coach 

 

114% $2,201.34  $2,325.60  $2,527.38  

Varsity Assistant Coach 

 

89% $1,718.59  $1,815.60  $1,973.13  

Ninth Grade Coach 

 

80% $1,544.80  $1,632.00  $1,773.60  

Middle School Head Coach 

 

64% $1,235.84  $1,305.60  $1,418.88  

Middle School Assistant Coach 

 

46% $888.26  $938.40  $1,019.82  

Vacation BB - Coaching Per Day (WIAA Regs) 

  

$20.00  $20.00  $20.00  

(maximum of four (4) days per season) 

     
      BASKETBALL - GIRLS 

     Varsity Head Coach 

 

114% $2,201.34  $2,325.60  $2,527.38  

Varsity Assistant Coach 

 

89% $1,718.59  $1,815.60  $1,973.13  

Ninth Grade Coach 

 

80% $1,544.80  $1,632.00  $1,773.60  

Middle School Head Coach 

 

64% $1,235.84  $1,305.60  $1,418.88  

Middle School Assistant Coach 

 

46% $888.26  $938.40  $1,019.82  

Vacation BB - Coaching Per Day (WIAA Regs) 

  

$20.00  $20.00  $20.00  

(maximum of four (4) days per season) 

     
      



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Appendix Part V -1.06 Page 116 

WRESTLING 

     Varsity Head Coach 

 

108% $2,085.48  $2,203.20  $2,394.36  

Varsity Assistant Coach 

 

83% $1,602.73  $1,693.20  $1,840.11  

Assistant Coach 

 

74% $1,428.94  $1,509.60  $1,640.58  

Middle School Head Coach 

 

64% $1,235.84  $1,305.60  $1,418.88  

Middle School Assistant Coach 

 

46% $888.26  $938.40  $1,019.82  

Vacation WR - Coaching Per Day (WIAA Regs) 

  

$20.00  $20.00  $20.00  

(maximum of four (4) days per season) 

     
      TRACK - BOYS & GIRLS 

  

0-3 Years 4-7 Years Over 7 Years 

Varsity Head Coach 

 

94% $1,815.14  $1,917.60  $2,083.98  

Varsity Assistant Coach 

 

82% $1,583.42  $1,672.80  $1,817.94  

Middle School Head Coach 

 

64% $1,235.84  $1,305.60  $1,418.88  

Middle School Assistant Coach 

 

46% $888.26  $938.40  $1,019.82  

Post School Track - Coaching Per Day (WIAA Regs) 

 

$20.00  $20.00  $20.00  

      BASEBALL 

     Varsity Head Coach 

 

94% $1,815.14  $1,917.60  $2,083.98  

Varsity Assistant Coach 

 

79% $1,525.49  $1,611.60  $1,751.43  

Post School BB - Coaching Per Day (WIAA Regs) 

  

$20.00  $20.00  $20.00  

      GOLF 

     Varsity Head Coach 

 

94% $1,815.14  $1,917.60  $2,083.98  

      SOFTBALL 

     Varsity Head Coach 

 

94% $1,815.14  $1,917.60  $2,083.98  

Varsity Assistant Coach 

 

79% $1,525.49  $1,611.60  $1,751.43  

Post School SB - Coaching Per Day (WIAA Regs) 

  

$20.00  $20.00  $20.00  

      
      Annual Advisor 

 

60% $1,158.60  $1,224.00  $1,330.20  

Annual Assistant Advisor 

 

30% $579.30  $612.00  $665.10  

Athletic Director 

 

100% $1,931.00  $2,040.00  $2,217.00  

Band Instructor 

 

46% $888.26  $938.40  $1,019.82  

Cheerleading/Pom Pon Advisor - per season 

 

22% $424.82  $448.80  $487.74  

Chemical Hygiene Coordinator 

 

32% $617.92 $652.80 $709.44 

Chess Team Advisor * 

 

24% $463.44  $489.60  $532.08  

Drama Advisor 

 

65% $1,255.15  $1,326.00  $1,441.05  

Assistant Drama Advisor 

 

46% $888.26  $938.40  $1,019.82  

Fall Play Instrumental Director 

 

24% $463.44  $489.60  $532.08  

Fall Play Music Director 

 

24% $463.44  $489.60  $532.08  

FBLA Head Advisor 

 

38% $733.78  $775.20  $842.46  

FBLA Assistant Advisor 

 

28% $540.68  $571.20  $620.76  

FFA Advisor 

 

38% $733.78  $775.20  $842.46  

Assistant FFA Advisor 

 

28% $540.68  $571.20  $620.76  

FCCLA Advisor 

 

32% $617.92  $652.80  $709.44  

Foreign Language Advisor 

 

32% $617.92 $652.80 $709.44 

Forensics Advisor 

 

55% $1,062.05  $1,122.00  $1,219.35  

Forensics Assistant Advisor 

 

24% $463.44  $489.60  $532.08  

Madrigal Director 

 

25% $482.75  $510.00  $554.25  

Math Team Advisor * 

 

24% $463.44  $489.60  $532.08  

Newspaper Advisor 

 

90% $1,737.90  $1,836.00  $1,995.30  

NHS Advisor - HS 

 

24% $463.44  $489.60  $532.08  

NHS Advisor - MS 

 

12% $231.72  $244.80  $266.04  



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Appendix Part V -1.06 Page 117 

Prom Head 

  

$250.00  $250.00  $250.00  

Skills USA Advisor 

 

32% $617.92  $652.80  $709.44  

Skills USA Ass't 

 

28% $540.68  $571.20  $620.76  

Special Olympics - Head Coach (3 seasons) 

 

30% $579.30  $612.00  $665.10  

Special Olympics - Ass't Coach (3 seasons) 

 

20% $386.20  $408.00  $443.40  

Steering Committee - Elementary, MS, HS 

 

24% $463.44  $489.60  $532.08  

Student Advisor - Academic Competition * 

 

24% $463.44  $489.60  $532.08  

Student Senate Advisor - HS 

 

40% $772.40  $816.00  $886.80  

Student Senate Advisor - MS 

 

12% $231.72  $244.80  $266.04  

Swing Choir Advisor 

 

24% $463.44  $489.60  $532.08  

Synchronized Swim Head 

 

45% $868.95  $918.00  $997.65  

Synchronized Swim Assistant 

 

20% $386.20  $408.00  $443.40  

Teacher Mentors 

 

25% $482.75  $510.00  $554.25  

Wellness Coordinator 

 

32% $617.92  $652.80  $709.44  

* Interscholastic Competition 

     

      Teacher Overload Assignment 

  

$1,000/semester 

  Curriculum Study 

  

$ 12.50 per hour 

  Homebound Instruction 

  

$ 12.50 per hour 

  Summer School 

  

$ 24.00 per hour 

  Teacher Substituting in a Class 

  

$   7.50 for 1 - 30 minutes 

 

   

$ 15.00 for 31 - 60 minutes 

 Volunteer Assignment During Lunch Period 

  

$ 15.00 per hour 

  

      Event Superviser (Crowd Control) 

  

$   9.00 per hour 

  Ticket Takers, Ticket Sellers, Timers 

  

$   9.00 per hour 

  Scorekeepers, Yard Keepers, Down Keepers 

     (per athletic event) 

     

       

Chaperones 

  

$ 20.00 per trip for 0 – 60 miles 

 (for any approved bus trip at a time other than during 

 

$ 25.00 per trip for over 60 miles 

  regular school hours) 

  

$50.00 for any overnight trip** 

      ** Does not apply to advisors/coaches already compensated through extra-curricular Letters of 

Appointment.



 

 
Colby School District Employee Handbook Appendix Part VI - 2.04 Page 118 

Colby School District 

 

Teacher Substitute Pay Schedule 
 

 

CATEGORY WAGE 

Short-Term Per Diem Substitute $90/Day 

Long-Term Per Diem Substitute 

(If employee works more than ten (10) days in 

the same position, then the long-term rate 

applies beginning with the first day, unless the 

nature of the assignment such long-term is 

known in advance, in which such case 

payment will begin on first day.) 

$156.30/Day 

 

 

 

Homebound or Alternative Site Instruction $12.50/Hour 

Voluntary Assignment During Lunch Period $15/Hour 

 



 

 Colby School District Employee Handbook Appendix Part VI -3.04 Page 119 

 

Colby School District 

 

Support Staff Substitute Pay Schedule 
 

 

CATEGORY HOURLY RATE 

Custodian $8.95 

Food Service – Computer/Server $7.25 

Food Service – Cook $8.10 

Instructional Aides $8.10 

Media Aides $8.20 

Secretaries $8.20 

 

 



SCHOOL DISTRICT OF COLBY POLICY#:  110 

 SECTION:  BOARD OF EDUCATION 

REVISED:  01/21/02 

Page 1 of 2 

 

EDUCATIONAL PHILOSOPHY 
 

The Board of Education of the School District of Colby recognizes the importance of accepting the individual 

into the system as he/she is, and providing him/her with a stimulating environment and learning experience 

designed to promote the purposes set forth in the following philosophy. 

 

MISSION STATEMENT 

The mission of the School District of Colby is LEARNING for ALL. L*E*A*R*N*I*N*G so that 

students: 
 

      Develop Literacy and communication skills for lifelong personal growth. 

 Express care for the community as productive local, state, national and world citizens. 

 Actively collaborate with others toward common goals. 

 Realize the joy and power of creative expression. 

 Nurture tolerance and appreciation of diversity in being fair-minded toward other 

persons and cultures. 

        Exhibit Integrity in all personal and interpersonal decisions. 

  Synthesize New knowledge and data and utilize technologies for effective problem-solving. 

 Generate personal commitment for service to ideals and other people. 
 

PHILOSOPHY OF SCHOOL DISTRICT OF COLBY 

The purposes of education in the Colby Public Schools are four-fold.  They are best defined as self-realization, 

human relationship, economic efficiency and civic responsibility. 

 

For self-realization, the school must provide the student with opportunities and learning experiences 

compatible with his respective abilities.  The educational program should be broad and general for all youth, 

but still maintain a diversity of quality and balance that lends to individual differences.   Effort should be made 

to develop the student, not only in the so-called formal instructional fields, but also in the areas of aesthetic 

values such as literature, music, and art.  In addition, the student should be provided with opportunity to 

ascertain his own strengths and weaknesses, capacities and limitations in terms of his own environment and 

should be exposed to the joys of achieving goals that he and society find desirable. 

 

Social growth and human relationship in the student must be fostered and guided.  The student must identify 

his position in the home, church, and society in general.  It is desirable that he know the satisfaction of joining 

in a variety of interests and activities with others and recognize that his own development and welfare is, in 

part, the product of the influence of others. 

 

It is the purpose of the school to educate the student as a wise consumer of goods and services.  Economic 

efficiency as a potential producer should also be stressed.  The wise selection of a chosen field of work is to be 

encouraged. Emphasis should be placed on securing a desirable balance between the individual's needs and his 

wants. 

 

Instruction in civic responsibility is to be offered.  The individual must recognize and observe laws as 

necessary for personal and group relations.  Citizenship and the responsibilities of a citizen to his government 

should be incorporated into the curriculum as well as educational experiences that encourage the individual's 

desire to become a useful member of society. 

 

It is recognized that the function of education is not restricted to the school.  Cooperation from the home, 

church, and society is necessary for a sound foundation for useful and happy living in a society.  The school 



SCHOOL DISTRICT OF COLBY POLICY#:  110 

 SECTION:  BOARD OF EDUCATION 

REVISED:  01/21/02 

Page 2 of 2 

should be responsive to the demands of the citizens of the community.  The educational program should be 

elastic enough to be sensitive to the will of the people. 

 

The school recognizes the needs of youth as defined by the Education Policies Commission of the National 

Education Association.  These needs are met to the best of the school's ability and are listed as follows: 

 

IMPERATIVE NEEDS OF YOUTH 

All youth need to develop salable skills and those understandings and attitudes that make the worker an 

intelligent and productive participant in economic life.  To this end, most youth need supervised work 

experience as well as education in the skills and knowledge of their occupations. 

 

All youth need to understand the rights and duties of the citizen of a democratic society, and to be diligent and 

competent in the performance of their obligations as members of the community and citizens of the state and 

nation. 

 

All youth need to understand the significance of the family for the individual and society and the conditions 

conducive to successful family life. 

 

All youth need to understand the methods of science, the influence of science on human life, and the main 

scientific facts concerning the nature of the world and of man. 

 

All youth need opportunities to develop their capacities to appreciate beauty in literature, art, music, and 

nature. 

 

All youth need to be able to use their leisure time well and to budget it wisely, balancing activities that yield 

satisfactions to the individual with those that are socially useful. 

 

All youth need to develop respect for other persons, to grow in their insight into ethical values and principles, 

and to be able to live and work cooperatively with others. 

 

All youth need to grow in ability to think rationally, to express their thoughts clearly, and to read and listen 

with understanding. 

 

 

 

LEGAL REFERENCE:  Wisconsin Stats. 118.01, 118.13, 118.30(1g), 121.02(1) 

 


























	Agenda September 17, 2012 Financial Affairs Committee Meeting
	Agenda September 17, 2012 Board Meeting
	5.01 National School Lunch Week
	6.03 WIAA Officials Commendation
	7.01 Minutes from August 20, 2012
	7.05-1 Elissa Trautlein
	7.06-1 Barb Soback
	7.06-2 Lilia Hernandez
	8.02 Financial Report
	9.02 Preliminary Budget
	9.04 ACT Scores
	9.05 Annual Meeting - Agenda Revisions
	10.01 Sale of Neillsville Property
	10.02 Employee Handbook Revisions
	10.03 First Reading Policy #110 - Educational Philosophy
	10.04 Neillsville Carpet
	10.05 RTTT Memo of Understanding



